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GLOSSARY OF TERMS 

 

The following is a glossary of certain general terms used in this Filing Statement, including the Summary hereof. 

A glossary of geological, technical and mineral terms immediately follows this glossary. Terms and abbreviations 

used in the financial statements included in, or appended to, this Filing Statement are defined separately and the 

terms and abbreviations defined below are not used therein, except where otherwise indicated. Words importing 

the singular, where the context requires, include the plural and vice versa and words importing any gender include 

all genders. 

 

ñAffiliateò means a Company that is affiliated with another Company as described below. A Company is an 

ñAffiliateò of another Company if: 

 

(a) one of them is the subsidiary of the other, or each of them is controlled by the same Person. 

 

A Company is ñcontrolledò by a Person if: 

 

(a) voting securities of the Company are held, other than by way of security only, by or for the benefit of that 

Person, and 

(b) the voting securities, if voted, entitle the Person to elect a majority of the directors of the Company. 

 

A Person beneficially owns securities that are beneficially owned by: 

 

(a) a Company controlled by that Person, or 

(b) an Affiliate of that Person or an Affiliate of any Company controlled by that Person; 

 

ñAgency Agreementò means the agency agreement dated November 28, 2011 entered into between the Agent 

and AMN with respect to the Private Placement; 

 

ñAgentò means Macquarie Private Wealth Inc.;  

 

ñAgentôs Optionsò means the 150,000 options granted to the Agent by AMN, exercisable to purchase an 

aggregate of 150,000 AMN Shares at an exercise price of $0.20 per share on or before June 29, 2013; 

 

ñAltan Rioò means Altan Rio Minerals Limited, a corporation incorporated pursuant to the BCBCA; 

 

ñAltan Rio Sharesò means common shares in the capital of Altan Rio; 

 

ñAltan Rio Shareholdersò mean the holders of Altan Rio Shares; 

 

ñAltan Rio Mongoliaò means Altan Rio Mongolia LLC, a limited liability company governed under the laws of 

Mongolia and an indirectly wholly owned subsidiary of Altan Rio; 

 

ñAltan Rio C Note Warrantsò means the 10,237,518 common share purchase convertible note warrants of Altan 

Rio outstanding, each whole convertible note warrant exercisable to acquire one Altan Rio Share at a price of 

$0.29 per share on or before January 6, 2013. 

 

ñAltan Rio Warrantsò means the 21,309,485 share purchase warrants of Altan Rio outstanding, each whole 

warrant exercisable to acquire one Altan Rio Share at a price of $0.29 per share on or before January 6, 2013. 

 

ñAmalcoò means the corporation formed by the Three Cornered Amalgamation of Altan Rio and CPC Subco 

pursuant to the BCBCA under the proposed name ñAltan Rio Canada Limitedò; 
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ñAmalco Sharesò means the common shares in the capital of Amalco; 

 

 ñAMNò means AMN Capital Corp., a company incorporated under the BCBCA; 

 

ñAMN Escrow Agreementò means the escrow agreement dated April 20, 2011 between AMN, the Escrow Agent 

and certain shareholders of AMN; 

 

ñAMN Meetingò means the annual general and special meeting of AMN Shareholders held on September 13, 

2011; 

 

ñAMN Optionsò means outstanding options of AMN under the AMN Stock Option Plan; 

 

ñAMN Sharesò means common shares in the capital of AMN as constituted prior to the Consolidation; 

 

ñAMN Stock Option Planò means the amended and restated stock option plan of AMN; 

 

ñAssociateò has the meaning ascribed thereto in Appendix 1 of TSX Venture Exchange Form 3B2 - Information 

Required in a Filing Statement for a Qualifying Transaction, except as otherwise provided herein; 

 

ñAvailable Fundsò means the funds that will be available to the Resulting Issuer upon Completion of the 

Proposed Qualifying Transaction and the Private Placement and as set out in ñPart III ï Information Concerning 

the Resulting Issuer ï Estimated Available Funds to the Resulting Issuer and Principal Purposesò; 

 

ñBCBCAò means the Business Corporations Act (British Columbia); 

 

ñChandman-Yol Projectò means the exploration project consisting of nine (9) exploration licences covering a 

total area of 1,401.7 km², located approximately 100 km southeast of the town of Khovd, Mongolia, which are the 

subject of the Chandman-Yol Technical Report; 

Chandman-Yol Technical Reportò means the independent technical report dated February 11, 2011, effective 

February 10, 2011 entitled ñNI 43-101 Technical Report Chandman-Yol Copper-Gold Exploration Project Khovd 

Aimag, Mongoliaò by John L. Stockley, F.A.I.M.M., C.P. (Geo), Exploration Geologist of Lyndhurst Enterprises 

Pty Ltd., prepared for AMN; 

 

ñClosingò means the closing of the Proposed Qualifying Transaction and the Private Placement; 

 

ñCompanyò, unless specifically indicated otherwise, means a corporation, incorporated association or 

organization, body corporate, partnership, trust, association or other entity other than an individual; 

 

ñCompletion of the Proposed Qualifying Transactionò means the date the Final Exchange Bulletin is issued by 

the Exchange; 

 

ñConsolidationò means the consolidation of the issued and outstanding AMN Shares on a one and two-thirds 

(1.66665) pre-consolidated for one post-consolidated basis to be conducted prior to or concurrently with the 

Closing; 

 

ñControl Personò means any person or company that holds or is one of a combination of persons or companies 

that holds a sufficient number of any of the securities of an issuer so as to affect materially the control of that 

issuer, or that holds more than 20% of the outstanding voting securities of an issuer except where there is 

evidence showing that the holder of those securities does not materially affect the control of the issuer; 
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ñCPCò means a corporation: 

 

(a) that has been incorporated or organized in a jurisdiction in Canada; 

(b) that has filed and obtained a receipt for a preliminary CPC prospectus from one or more of the securities 

regulatory authorities in compliance with the Exchangeôs CPC Policy; and 

(c) in regard to which the completion of a Qualifying Transaction that has not yet occurred; 

 

ñCPC Escrow Sharesò means the AMN Shares held in escrow pursuant to Section 11.1 of the CPC 

Policy, as more particularly described under ñPart III - Information Concerning the Resulting Issuer -   

Escrowed Securitiesò; 

 

ñCPC Policyò means Exchange Policy 2.4 ï Capital Pool Companies; 

 

ñCPC Subcoò means 0916963 B.C. Ltd., a corporation incorporated pursuant to the BCBCA; 

 

ñCPC Subco Sharesò means the common shares in the capital of CPC Subco; 

 

ñDefinitive Agreementò means the agreement dated August 31, 2011 between AMN, 

CPC Subco and Altan Rio, providing for, among other things, the Proposed Qualifying Transaction; 

 

ñEffective Dateò means the effective date of this Filing Statement, being November 28, 2011; 

 

 ñEscrow Agentò means Equity Financial Trust Company; 

 

 ñExchangeò or ñTSXVò means the TSX Venture Exchange Inc.; 

 

ñExchange Policy 5.4ò means Exchange Policy 5.4 ï Escrow, Vendor Consideration and Resale 

Restrictions; 

 

ñFiling Statementò means this filing statement of AMN including the Schedules attached hereto; 

 

ñFinal Exchange Bulletinò means the Exchange Bulletin evidencing final Exchange acceptance of the Proposed 

Qualifying Transaction which is to be issued following the Closing and completion of the required 

documentation; 

 

ñFinderò means Mongolia International Capital Corporation; 

 

ñGAAPò means generally accepted accounting principles approved by the Canadian Institute of 

Chartered Accountants, or its successor; 

 

Information Circularò means AMNôs management information circular dated August 18, 2011 prepared by 

AMN for the AMN Meeting; 

 

ñInsiderò, if used in relation to an issuer, means: (a) a director or senior officer of the issuer; (b) a director or 

senior officer of a Company that is an Insider or subsidiary of the issuer; (c) a person that beneficially owns or 

controls, directly or indirectly, voting shares carrying more than ten percent (10%) of the voting rights attached to 

all outstanding voting shares of the issuer; or (d) the issuer itself if it holds any of its own securities; 

 

ñLetter Agreementò means the letter agreement dated June 6, 2011 between AMN and Altan Rio providing for, 

among other things, the Proposed Qualifying Transaction;  

 

ñNI 43-101ò means National Instrument 43-101 ï Standards of Disclosure for Mineral Projects of the Canadian 

Securities Administrators; 
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ñNon-Armôs Length Qualifying Transactionò means a proposed Qualifying Transaction where the same party 

or parties or their respective Associates or Affiliates are Control Persons in both the CPC and in relation to the 

Significant Assets which are to be the subject of the proposed Qualifying Transaction; 

 

ñPersonò means an individual, as well as a corporation, incorporated association or organization, body 

corporate, partnership, trust, association or other entity other than an individual; 

 

ñPP Warrantsò means common share purchase warrants issuable to the subscribers to the Private Placement, 

each whole warrant being exercisable into one Resulting Issuer Share for a period of two years from Closing at an 

exercise price of $0.65 per share; 

 

ñPrivate Placementò means the brokered and non-brokered private placement of up to 2,000,000 Units at a price 

of $0.50 per Unit to raise gross proceeds of up to $1,000,000, as more particularly described under ñPart II ï 

Information Concerning Altan Rio ï Private Placementò; 

 

ñProposed Qualifying Transactionò means the Three-Cornered Amalgamation pursuant to which the Resulting 

Issuer will acquire all of the issued and outstanding Altan Rio Shares all under the terms and conditions of the 

Definitive Agreement and as more particularly described in this Filing Statement;  

 

ñResulting Issuerò means AMN as it exists upon completion of the Consolidation, Completion of the Proposed 

Qualifying Transaction and consummation of the Definitive Agreement, to be renamed ñAltan Rio Minerals 

Limitedò; 

 

ñResulting Issuer Agentsô Optionsò mean the 90,000 options replacing the Agentôs Options, exerciseable to 

purchase an aggregate of 90,000 Resulting Issuer Shares, at an exercise price of $0.33 per share on or before June 

29, 2013; 

 

ñResulting Issuer Broker Optionsò mean the 105,000 options to be granted to the Agent by the Resulting Issuer 

in connection with the Private Placement, each option being exercisable to purchase one Resulting Issuer Share at 

the exercise price of $0.65 per share for a period of two years from Closing; 

 

ñResulting Issuer Finder Warrantsò mean the 30,000 warrants to be granted to the Finder by the Resulting 

Issuer in connection with the Private Placement, each warrant being exercisable to purchase one Resulting Issuer 

Share at the exercise price of $0.65 for a period of two years from Closing; 

 

ñResulting Issuer Sharesò means common shares in the capital of the Resulting Issuer; 

 

ñResulting Issuer Warrantsò means common share purchase warrants issuable to the holders of Altan Rio 

Warrants and Altan Rio C Note Warrants, each warrant being exercisable into one Resulting Issuer Share on or 

before January 6, 2013, at an exercise price of $0.69 per share and having the other terms and conditions referred 

to under ñPart III ï Information Concerning the Resulting Issuer ï Description of Securitiesò; 

 

ñSignificant Assetsò means one or more assets or businesses which, when purchased, optioned or otherwise 

acquired by a CPC, together with any other concurrent transactions, would result in the CPC meeting the 

minimum listing requirements of the Exchange; 

 

ñSurplus Escrow Sharesò means the Resulting Issuer Shares to be held in escrow pursuant to Section 4 of 

Exchange Policy 5.3, as more particularly described under ñPart III ï Information Concerning the Resulting Issuer 

ï Escrowed Securitiesò. 
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ñSurplus Security Escrow Agreementò means the Exchange Form 5D Tier 2 Surplus Security Escrow 

Agreement to be entered into in connection with Closing between the Resulting Issuer, the Escrow Agent and 

certain current Altan Nevada Shareholders, as more particularly described in this Filing Statement; 

 

ñThree Cornered Amalgamationò means the amalgamation of Altan Rio and CPC Subco to form Amalco, as 

contemplated in the Definitive Agreement; and 

 

ñUnitò means a unit of AMN issuable pursuant to the Private Placement, each unit consisting of one Resulting 

Issuer Share and one-half of one PP Warrant. 

GLOSSARY OF GEOLOGICAL, TECHNICAL AND MINERAL TERMS 

 

The following is a glossary of certain geological, technical and mining terms used in this Filing Statement, 

including a summary hereof. 

 

ñassayò means to analyze the proportions of metal in a rock or overburden sample and to test an ore or Mineral 

for composition, purity, weight or other properties of commercial interest; 

 

ñclaimò means that  portion of public lands available for mineral exploitation that a party has staked, marked out 

or otherwise laid claim to in accordance with applicable federal, state or provincial  mining laws to acquire the 

right to explore for and exploit the underlying minerals; 

 

ñcore drillingò means drilling using diamond core bits to recover a cylinder of solid rock from the ground; 

 

ñdeformationò means a general term for the process of folding, faulting, shearing, compression or extension of 

rocks as a result of various earth forces; 

 

ñdepositò means a Mineralized body which has been physically delineated by sufficient drilling, trenching and/or 

underground work, and found to contain a sufficient average grade of metal or metals to warrant further 

exploration and/or development expenditures; however, a deposit does not qualify as a commercially mineable 

ore body or as containing reserves of ore, until final legal, technical and economic factors have been resolved; 

 

ñdiamond drillò means a rotary type of rock drill that cuts a core of rock that is recovered in long cylindrical 

sections, two centimetres or more in diameter; 

 

ñDipò means the maximum angle that a structural surface makes with the horizontal, measured perpendicular to 

the strike of the structure and in the vertical plane; 

 

ñexplorationò means prospecting, sampling, mapping, diamond drilling and other work involved in searching for 

Ore; 

 

ñfaultò means a discrete surface or zone of discrete surfaces separating two rock masses across which one mass 

has slid past the other; 

 

ñfire assayò means the assaying of metallic ores, usually gold and silver, by methods requiring melting of the 

rock to separate its various metallic constituents; 

 

ñfoldò means a bend in strata or any planar structure; 

 

 ñfractureò means brittle deformation due to a momentary loss of cohesion or loss of resistance to differential 

stress and a release of stored elastic energy; 
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 ñGangueò means non-valuable components of the ore; 

 

ñgradeò means the measure of concentration of gold within mineralized rock;   

 

ñgravity surveyò means geophysical technique to measure changes in the earth gravity as it related to geological 

features; 

 

ñhostò means a rock or Mineral that is older than rocks or Minerals introduced into it; 

 

ñICPò means Inductively-Coupled Plasma: a common analytical technique used in mineral exploration for multi-

element geochemical analyses; 

 

ñIndicated Mineral Resourceò means that part of a Mineral Resource for which quantity, grade or quality, 

densities, shape and physical characteristics, can be estimated with a level of confidence sufficient to allow the 

appropriate application of technical and economic parameters, to support mine planning and evaluation of the 

economic viability of the deposit. The estimate is based on detailed and reliable exploration and testing 

information gathered through appropriate techniques from locations such as outcrops, trenches, pits, workings and 

drill holes that are spaced closely enough for geological and grade continuity to be reasonably assumed; 

 

ñlithologicalò means geological description pertaining to different rock types; 

 

ñMeasured Mineral Resourceò means that part of a Mineral Resource for which quantity, grade or quality, 

densities, shape, and physical characteristics are so well established that they can be estimated with confidence 

sufficient to allow the appropriate application of technical and economic parameters, to support production 

planning and evaluation of the economic viability of the deposit. The estimate is based on detailed and reliable 

exploration, sampling and testing information gathered through appropriate techniques from locations such as 

outcrops, trenches, pits, workings and drill holes that are spaced closely enough to confirm both geological and 

grade continuity; 

 

ñmagneticò means geophysical technique to measure the variations in the earths magnetic field as it relates to 

geology; 

 

ñmillingò means the process in which the ore is crushed and ground and subjected to physical or chemical 

treatment to extract the valuable metals to a concentrate or finished product; 

 

ñMineralò means a naturally occurring chemical compound or limited mixture of chemical compounds. 

Minerals generally form crystals and have specific physical and chemical properties which can be used to identify 

them; 

 

ñmineralizationò means the process or processes by which a Mineral or Minerals are introduced into a rock 

resulting in concentration of metals and their chemical compounds within a body of rock; 

 

ñmineral reserveò means the economically mineable part of a Measured, or Indicated Mineral Resource 

demonstrated by at least a Preliminary Feasibility Study. This Study must include adequate information on 

mining, processing, metallurgical, economic and other relevant factors that demonstrate, at the time of reporting, 

that economic extraction can be justified. A mineral reserve includes diluting materials and allowances for losses 

that may occur when the material is mined; 

 

ñmineral resourceò means a concentration or occurrence of diamonds, natural solid inorganic material, or natural 

solid fossilized organic material including base and precious metals, coal, and industrial minerals in or on the 

Earthôs crust in such form and quantity and of such a grade or quality that it has reasonable prospects for 

economic extraction. The location, quanitity, grade, geological characteristics and continuity of a mineral resource 

are unkown, estimated or interpreted from specific geological evidence and knowledge; 
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ñoreò means a mixture of ore Minerals and Gangue from which at least one can be extracted at a profit; 

 

ñRC drillingò means reverse circulation drilling method that produces chips rather that core, with minimal wall 

rock contamination seen in conventional rotary drilling; 

 

ñsampleò means a small portion of rock or a Mineral deposit taken so that the metal content can be determined by 

assaying; 

 

ñsamplingò means selecting a fractional but representative part of a Mineral deposit for analysis; 

 

ñstrikeò means the course or bearing of the outcrop of an inclined bed, vein, or fault plane on a level surface; the 

direction of a horizontal line perpendicular to the direction of the Dip;  

 

ñsulfideò means a sulfur bearing mineral; 

 

ñtailingsò means finely ground waste rock from which valuable minerals or metals have been extracted; 

 

ñtotal expenditureò means all expenditures including those of an operating and capital nature; and 

 

ñveinò means a thin sheet-like intrusion into a fissure or crack, commonly bearing quartz. 
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ABBREVIATIONS 

All currency is in Canadian dollars, unless otherwise stated.   The following abbreviations are used in this Filing 

Statement. 

Abbreviation  Unit or Term 

Ag silver 

Au gold 

Cu copper 

ft foot (feet) 

Ma million years (milli-annum) 

% percent 

ppb parts per billion 

ppm parts per million 

QA/QC Quality Assurance/Quality Control 

RC reverse circulation drilling 
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SPECIAL NOTE REGARDING FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS 

 

This Filing Statement contains forward-looking statements. All statements other than statements of historical fact 

contained in this Filing Statement are forward-looking statements, including, without limitation, statements 

regarding the future financial position, business strategy, proposed acquisitions, budgets, litigation, projected 

costs and plans and objectives of or involving AMN, Altan Rio, Altan Rio Mongolia, CPC Subco and the 

Resulting Issuer. Readers of this Filing Statement can identify many of these statements by looking for words 

such as ñbelieveò, ñexpectsò, ñwillò, ñintendsò, ñprojectsò, ñanticipatesò, ñestimatesò, ñcontinuesò or similar 

words or the negative thereof. There can be no assurance that the plans, intentions or expectations upon which 

these forward-looking statements are based will occur. Forward-looking statements are subject to risks, 

uncertainties and assumptions, including those discussed elsewhere in this Filing Statement. Although AMN and 

Altan Rio believe that the expectations represented in such forward-looking statements are reasonable, there can 

be no assurance that such expectations will prove to be correct. Some of the risks which could affect future results 

and could cause results to differ materially from those expressed in the forward-looking statements contained 

herein include: the impact of general economic conditions, changes in prices for metals in international 

commodities markets, exchange rate fluctuations, governmental regulation, competition from other industry 

participants, labour unrest or unavailability, new materials and other technological developments that reduce the 

demand for desired metals, the lack of availability of qualified management personnel, stock market volatility and 

ability to access sufficient capital from internal and external sources and the risk that actual results will vary from 

the results forecasted and that such variations may be material. 

 

The information contained in this Filing Statement identifies additional factors that could affect the operating 

results and performance of AMN, Altan Rio and the Resulting Issuer. We urge you to carefully consider those 

factors. 

 

The forward-looking statements contained in this Filing Statement are expressly qualified in their entirety by this 

cautionary statement and by the risk factors described in this Filing Statement under the heading ñPart III ï 

Information Concerning the Resulting Issuer ï Risk Factors.ò The forward-looking statements included in this 

Filing Statement are made as of the date of this Filing Statement and AMN, Altan Rio and the Resulting Issuer 

undertake no obligation to publicly update such forward-looking statements to reflect new information, 

subsequent events or otherwise. 
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SUMMARY OF FILING STATEMENT 

 

The following is a summary of information relating to AMN, Altan Rio, Altan Rio Mongolia and the Resulting 

Issuer (assuming Completion of the Proposed Qualifying Transaction) and should be read together with the more 

detailed information and financial data and statements contained elsewhere in this Filing Statement. 

 

Reference is made to the Glossary of Terms and the Glossary of Geological, Technical and Mineral Terms for the 

definitions of certain abbreviations and terms used in this Filing Statement.  

 

All Information contained in this Filing Statement with respect to AMN was supplied by AMN for inclusion 

herein.  

 

All Information contained in this Filing Statement with respect to Altan Rio and Altan Rio Mongolia was supplied 

by Altan Rio and Altan Rio Mongolia, respectively, for inclusion herein. 

 

The Companies 

 

AMN Capital Corp. 

 

AMN is a ñcapital pool companyò in accordance with the CPC Policy, and at present does not own any material 

assets other than cash. To date, AMN has not conducted any active business operations. Since its incorporation, 

the principal activities of AMN have consisted of financing through AMNôs initial public offering, the initial 

listing of the AMN Shares on the Exchange, the identification of potential acquisitions, the negotiation of the 

Definitive Agreement and efforts to implement the Proposed Qualifying Transaction. See ñPart I ï Information 

Concerning AMN ï General Development of the Business of AMNò. 

 

Altan Rio Minerals Limited and Altan Rio Mongolia LLC. 

 

Altan Rio is a private company incorporated under the BCBCA which indirectly owns 100% of Altan Rio 

Mongolia, a private Mongolian incorporated company focused on the business of mining, mineral and resource 

exploration and development in Mongolia which in turn holds, among other properties, an interest in the 

Chandman-Yol Project in Mongolia. Upon completion of the Proposed Qualifying Transaction, the Resulting 

Issuer will own 100% of Altan Rio and its subsidiary companies including Altan Rio Mongolia. See ñPart II ï 

Information Concerning Altan Rio ï General Development of the Business of Altan Rioò. 

 

Altan Rio and Altan Rio Mongolia are private companies and none of their securities have traded on any stock 

exchange. See ñPart II ï Information Concerning Altan Rio ï Prior Sales of Altan Rioò. 

 

The Proposed Qualifying Transaction and Summary of the Definitive Agreement 

 

AMN and CPC Subco entered into the Definitive Agreement with Altan Rio, the consummation of which is 

intended to result in the completion of the Proposed Qualifying Transaction. Pursuant to the terms of the 

Definitive Agreement, AMN will acquire all of the issued and outstanding Altan Rio Shares by way of the Three 

Cornered Amalgamation, resulting in the formation of Amalco. As a result of the Three Cornered Amalgamation, 

all of the Altan Rio Shares will be exchanged for Resulting Issuer Shares issued to the former Altan Rio 

Shareholders, and Resulting Issuer Warrants will be exchanged for all outstanding Altan Rio Warrants and Altan 

Rio C Note Warrants. Amalco will issue to the Resulting Issuer one Amalco Share for each Resulting Issuer Share 

issued to the Altan Rio Shareholders. The Resulting Issuer will also receive one Amalco Share in exchange for 

each issued and outstanding CPC Subco Share held by the Resulting Issuer. As a result of the foregoing, Amalco 

will become a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Resulting Issuer. 

 



17 

 

Approval for the Three Cornered Amalgamation will be obtained from AMN as the sole shareholder of CPC 

Subco by way of a written resolution, and the approval of the Altan Rio Shareholders will be obtained by way of a 

special meeting of the Altan Rio Shareholders prior to Closing. 

 

Although the Proposed Qualifying Transaction will result in Altan Rio becoming a wholly-owned subsidiary of 

the Resulting Issuer, the Proposed Qualifying Transaction will constitute a reverse take-over of AMN inasmuch 

as the former shareholders of Altan Rio, together with the subscribers to the Private Placement, will own a 

majority of the outstanding shares of Resulting Issuer. See ñPart III ï Information Concerning the Resulting 

Issuerò. 

 

In accordance with the Definitive Agreement, the name of AMN will be changed on or just prior to Closing to 

ñAltan Rio Minerals Limitedò and the issued and outstanding AMN Shares will be consolidated on the basis of 

1.66665 pre-consolidated shares for 1 post-consolidated share. Each fractional share remaining after consolidation 

that is less than 1/2 of a share will be cancelled and each fractional share that is at least 1/2 of a share will be 

changed to one whole share. The Consolidation has been approved by the AMN shareholders at the AMN 

Meeting and the name change will be implemented by the directors. Both changes will take effect by the filing of 

articles of amendment on the date of or just prior to Closing, pending completion of all the conditions set forth in 

the Definitive Agreement. 

 

Upon effecting the Consolidation, the Resulting Issuer will have approximately 1,680,016 Resulting Issuer Shares 

outstanding and will issue an additional 41,803,506 (approximate) Resulting Issuer Shares and 13,237,121 

Resulting Issuer Warrants in connection with the Definitive Agreement. In total, upon Closing and prior to the 

completion of the Private Placement, the Resulting Issuer will have 43,483,522 Resulting Issuer Shares issued and 

outstanding and 13,237,121 Resulting Issuer Warrants issued and outstanding. Upon completion of the Private 

Placement, there will be 45,503,522 Resulting Issuer Shares issued and outstanding and 1,000,000 PP Warrants 

issued and outstanding. See ñPart III ï Information Concerning the Resulting Issuer ï Proposed Fully Diluted 

Share Capital of the Resulting Issuerò. 

 

Private Placement 

In conjunction with the Proposed Qualifying Transaction, AMN will complete a brokered and non-brokered 

Private Placement to raise gross proceeds of up to $1,000,000.  Under the terms of the Private Placement, AMN 

would issue up to 2,000,000 Units at a price of $0.50 per Unit. Each Unit will consist of one Resulting Issuer 

Share and one-half of one PP Warrant. Each whole PP Warrant will entitle the holder to acquire one Resulting 

Issuer Share at the exercise price of $0.65 for a period of two years from Closing. The PP Warrants will be subject 

to an accelerated expiry provision whereby should the Resulting Issuer Shares trade at a weighted average price 

exceeding $1.10 for 30 consecutive trading days, the PP Warrants will expire 30 days after notice of such event is 

given to the warrantholders.   

AMN has entered into an Agency Agreement with the Agent to undertake the brokered portion of the Private 

Placement to raise gross proceeds of up to $750,000. As compensation for completion of the brokered portion of 

the Private Placement, the Agent will be paid a commission of 7% of the gross proceeds of the brokered portion. 

In addition, the Agent will receive the Resulting Issuer Broker Options entitling the Agent to acquire a number of 

Resulting Issuer Shares as is equal to 7% of the number of Units sold by it under the Private Placement at a price 

of $0.65 per share for a period of two years from Closing, and a corporate finance fee of $45,000 plus HST, of 

which $35,000 plus HST is to be paid in cash and the remainder is to be paid by the issuance of 20,000 Resulting 

Issuer Shares and cash of $1,200 upon completion of the Offering. 

AMN has entered into an engagement letter dated September 22, 2011 with the Finder to undertake the non-

brokered portion of the Private Placement to raise gross proceeds of up to $250,000 outside of Canada. As 

compensation for completion of the non-brokered portion of the Private Placement, the Finder will be paid a 

commission of 6% of the gross proceeds of the non-brokered portion. In addition, the Finder will receive the 

Resulting Issuer Finder Warrants entitling the Finder to acquire a number of Resulting Issuer Shares as is equal to 
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6% of the number of Units sold by it under the non-brokered portion of the Private Placement, at a price of $0.65 

per share for a period of two years from Closing. 

Armôs Length Qualifying Transaction 

 

The acquisition by AMN of all of the issued and outstanding Altan Rio Shares is not a Related Party Transaction 

for the purposes of Exchange policies and Multilateral Instrument 61-101 ï Protection of Minority Security 

Holders in Special Transactions and is not a Non Armôs Length Qualifying Transaction pursuant to the policies of 

the Exchange. As a result, no meeting of AMNôs shareholders is required as a condition of Exchange approval to 

the Proposed Qualifying Transaction. However, the Consolidation requires shareholder approval and AMN 

obtained such approval at the AMN Meeting. 

 

Interests of Insiders 

 

Except as disclosed herein, no Insider, promoter or Control Person of AMN and no Associate or Affiliate of the 

same, has any interest in the Proposed Qualifying Transaction other than that which arises from their holding of 

AMN Shares. 

 

Upon Completion of the Proposed Qualifying Transaction, each of Evan Jones (a current director and the 

President and Chief Executive Officer of Altan Rio, a director and Chief Executive Officer of Altan Rio Mongolia  

and a proposed director and proposed President and Chief Executive Officer of the Resulting Issuer),  Kelly Cluer 

(a current Exploration Director and director of Altan Rio and proposed Exploration Director and director of the 

Resulting Issuer) and Robert Scott (the President, CEO, CFO, Secretary and a current director of AMN) will enter 

into management consulting agreements with the Resulting Issuer pursuant to which each of Messrs. Jones, Cluer 

and Scott will provide their respective services to the Resulting Issuer. The terms and conditions of all such 

management consulting agreements will be subject to the prior approval of the Resulting Issuerôs board of 

directors. 

Robert Scott owns 33,333 Altan Rio Shares or 0.03% of the issued and outstanding Altan Rio Shares, and Murray 

Seitz, a current director of AMN, owns 67,000 Altan Rio Shares or 0.07% of the issued and outstanding Altan Rio 

Shares. 

 

Estimated Funds of The Resulting Issuer 

 

AMN and Altan Rio estimate that immediately following the Closing, the Resulting Issuer will have Available 

Funds of approximately $4,969,735 (assuming consolidated working capital 4,223,593 plus $1,000,000 from the 

Private Placement, less $253,858 for the corporate finance fee, Finderôs commission, accounting, legal and other 

transaction expenses). Such funds will be used primarily for continued development and exploration activity and 

for general working capital purposes. See ñPart III ï Information Concerning the Resulting Issuer ï Estimated 

Available Funds to the Resulting Issuer and Principal Purposesò. 

 

Board of Directors 

 

The board of directors of Resulting Issuer, upon the Completion of the Proposed Qualifying Transaction, will 

consist of five directors and will be comprised of the following persons: Messrs. Evan Jones, John L.C. Jones, 

Kelly Cluer, Murray Seitz and Paul OôBrien.  See ñPart III ï Information Concerning the Resulting Issuer ï 

Proposed Directors and Officers of the Resulting Issuerò. 
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Selected Pro Forma Consolidated Financial Information of the Resulting Issuer 

 

The following table contains certain financial information regarding the Resulting Issuer. This table should be 

read in conjunction with the unaudited pro forma balance sheet of the Resulting Issuer included in this Filing 

Statement as Appendix ñDò. 

 

 

Pro Forma Balance Sheet as at June 30, 2011 

 

  

As At June 30, 2011  

(Unaudited)  

Total assets  $ 9,724,740  

Total long and short term liabilities  $ 171,012  

Shareholders Equity  $ 9,553,728  

    

 

Exchange Listing 

 

The AMN Shares were listed on the Exchange on June 29, 2011 under the trading symbol ñAMO.Pò and will 

continue to be listed on the Exchange subsequent to the Completion of the Proposed Qualifying Transaction. No 

public market exists for the Altan Rio Shares. 

 
 

Market Price of AMN Shares 

 

No AMN Shares were traded between the date the AMN Shares were listed on the Exchange and July 12, 2011, 

the last trading day prior to the announcement of the Proposed Qualifying Transaction. 

 

Risk Factors 

 

An investment in the Resulting Issuer is speculative due to the proposed nature of the Resulting Issuer's business 

and the very early stage of Altan Rio's business development. An investment in the Resulting Issuer will be 

subject to certain material risks and investors should not invest in securities of the Resulting Issuer unless they 

can afford to lose their entire investment. The following summary of risk factors is qualified in its entirety by the 

full statement of risk factors set forth in the body of this Filing Statement.  

Risks Related to the Business 

 
Global Financial and Economic Conditions - Current global financial and economic conditions, while improving, 

remain extremely volatile and could negatively impact the Resulting Issuerôs ability to obtain financing in the 

future and may cause a long term decrease in asset values. 

 

Exploration and Development Risks - Resource exploration and mineral development is a highly speculative and 

volatile business. The Resulting Issuerôs exploration and initial development activities involve significant risks 

that cannot be eliminated or adequately mitigated. The exploration and development of resource properties 

requires substantial expenditures and few properties which are explored are ultimately developed into producing 

mines. There can be no assurance that commercial operations will ever be established on the Resulting Issuerôs 

properties. 
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Operational Risks - Substantial risks are associated with mining and milling operations, including unusual and 

unexpected geologic formations, inclement weather conditions, seismic activity, rock bursts, cave-ins, flooding 

and other conditions involved in the drilling and removal of material, any of which could result in damage to, or 

destruction of, mines and other producing facilities, catastrophic damage to property or loss of life, labour 

disruptions, equipment failure or failure of retaining dams around tailings disposal areas which may result in 

environmental pollution and legal liability. 

 

No Proven Mineral Reserves ï The Resulting Issuerôs properties contain no known body of mineral reserves, and 

even if established in the future, there can be no assurance that any such mineral reserves can be profitably 

exploited. 

  
Reliance on Historical Data ï There can be no assurance that historical data relied upon in connection with the 

preparation of the technical reports on the Resulting Issuerôs properties is free from material errors or 

inaccuracies. 

 
Title to Properties - There is no guarantee that title to the Resulting Issuerôs properties will not be challenged or 

impugned, or found to be otherwise defective. 

  
Significant Governmental Regulations - The Resulting Issuerôs planned mining activities are subject to extensive 

governmental regulation that can curtail operations and require substantial cost for compliance. The breach of any 

such regulations could result in criminal or civil liability for environmental damage, damage to property, personal 

injury and other causes. The Resulting Issuerôs material property will be located in Mongolia and is therefore 

subject to Mongolian law and regulation. While current attitudes towards foreign investment and the mining 

industry appear favourable, this could change, with attendant negative affects on the Resulting Issuerôs business 

and prospects. 

 
Obtaining and Renewing of Government Permits ï Under Mongolian law, exploration licences are limited as to 

their tenure and must be renewed. Also, agreements must be reached with private landowners in order to conduct 

exploration activities. There can be no assurance that required licence renewals or surface rights agreements can 

be obtained on reasonable terms in the future, or at all. The Resulting Issuer will be required to obtain various 

governmental permits in connection with intended operations on its properties. Obtaining these permits can be 

time-consuming and costly, and the inability to obtain a required permit could delay or even prevent continued 

operations. 

  
Conducting Business through a Foreign Subsidiary - Any limitation on the transfer of cash or other assets 

between the Resulting Issuer and subsidiary companies may have an adverse impact on the Resulting Issuerôs 

valuation and the price of its shares. 

 
Political Risk - The Resulting Issuerôs primary property will be located in Mongolia and will be subject to 

changes in political conditions and regulations in that country. Changes, if any, in mining or investment policies 

or shifts in political attitude in Mongolia could adversely affect the Resulting Issuerôs operations or profitability. 

Operations may be affected in varying degrees by government regulations with respect to, but not limited to, 

restrictions on production, price controls, export controls, currency remittance, income taxes, expropriation of 

property, foreign investment, maintenance of claims, environmental legislation, land use, land claims of local 

people, water use and mine safety. 

 

Enforcement of Civil Liabilities - Certain of the directors of the Resulting Issuer and certain of the experts named 

herein reside outside of Canada and, similarly, a majority of the assets of the Resulting Issuer will be located 

outside of Canada. It may not be possible for investors to effect service of process within Canada upon the 

directors and experts not residing in Canada. It may also not be possible to enforce against the Resulting Issuer 

and certain of its directors and experts named herein judgments obtained in Canadian courts predicated upon the 

civil liability provisions of applicable Canadian laws. 
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Employee Recruitment - Recruiting and retaining qualified personnel is critical to the success of the Resulting 

Issuer and there can be no assurance that the Resulting Issuer will be able to attract and retain the personnel it 

requires. 

 
Currency Risk - Altan Mongolia uses the US dollar as its functional currency and fluctuations in the value of the 

US dollar relative to the Canadian dollar could have a material impact on the Resulting Issuerôs consolidated 

financial statements by creating gains or losses. No currency hedge polices are in place or are presently 

contemplated. 

 

Insurance and Uninsured Risks ï The Resulting Issuerôs intended operations are subject to a number of risks that 

could result in significant financial losses. Insurance obtained by the Resulting Issuer may not cover all the 

potential risks associated with its operations, and insurance may not be available at economically feasible rates. 

Insurance against political risk and risks such as environmental pollution or other hazards as a result of 

exploration and production is not generally available to the Resulting Issuer or to other companies in the mining 

industry on acceptable terms. Losses from uninsured or inadequately insured risks could have a material adverse 

effect upon the Resulting Issuerôs financial performance and results of operations. 

 

Negative Cash Flow and Absence of Profits - The Resulting Issuer has not realized any profits to date and there is 

no assurance that it will earn any profits in the future, or that profitability, if achieved, will be sustained. 

 
Management of Growth - The Resulting Issuer may be subject to growth-related risks including pressure on its 

internal systems and controls. The Resulting Issuerôs ability to manage its growth effectively will require it to 

continue to implement and improve its operational and financial systems and to expand, train and manage its 

employee base. The inability of the Resulting Issuer to deal with growth could have a material adverse impact on 

its business, operations and prospects. 

 

Key Personnel - The Resulting Issuer is dependent on the services of its senior management to manage the risk 

associated with its business and operations. As a result, the loss of one or more key employees could have a 

material adverse effect on the Resulting Issuerôs operations and business prospects. 

 

Limited Operating History - The Resulting Issuer has no history of operations and is subject to a number of risks, 

including undercapitalization, cash shortages, limitations with respect to personnel, financial and other resources 

and the lack of revenues. There is no assurance that the Resulting Issuer will be successful in achieving a return 

on shareholdersô investment and the likelihood of success must be considered in light of its early stage of 

operations. 

  

Conflicts of Interest - There are potential conflicts of interest to which the proposed directors, officers, insiders 

and promoters of the Resulting Issuer will be subject in connection with the operations of the Resulting Issuer. 

Some of the Resulting Issuerôs directors, officers, insiders and promoters have been and will continue to be 

engaged in the identification and evaluation, with a view to potential acquisition, of interests in businesses on 

their own behalf and on behalf of other companies, and situations may arise where some or all of these individuals 

will be in direct competition with the Resulting Issuer. 

 

Risks Related to Capital Structure and Market  

 
Risks Associated with Market Fluctuations - The market price for gold is extremely volatile and is influenced by a 

number of factors, all of which are beyond the control of the Resulting Issuer. These factors are impossible to 

predict with accuracy, and as such, the Resulting Issuer can provide no assurances that they can be effectively 

managed. 

 

Price Volatility of Publicly Traded Securities - In recent years, the securities markets in the United States and 

Canada have experienced a high level of price and volume volatility, and the market prices of securities of many 
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junior companies have experienced wide fluctuations in price which have not necessarily been related to the 

operating performance, underlying asset values or prospects of such companies. There can be no assurance that 

continual fluctuations in price will not occur or increase in scope, and that such fluctuations will not negatively 

impact the Resulting Issuer. 

 

No Anticipated Dividends - The Resulting Issuer does not expect to pay dividends on its issued and outstanding 

shares upon completion of the Proposed Qualifying Transaction or in the foreseeable future.  

 

Significant Future Capital Requirements, Future Financing Risk and Dilution - The Resulting Issuer will have no 

revenue from operations and no mineral reserves. The Resulting Issuer believes it will have sufficient funds to 

complete its proposed exploration programs, however if such programs are successful, additional funds will be 

required in order to complete the development of its properties. There can be no assurance that the Resulting 

Issuer will be able to obtain the funding it requires to continue operations. Financing obtained by the Resulting 

Issuer from the sale of its shares may lead to dilution of a shareholders investment and/or a reduced book value or 

market price for the Resulting Issuerôs shares, and will result in a reduction in a shareholderôs proportionate 

ownership and voting power in the Resulting Issuer. 

  
Market Perception - Market perception of gold exploration companies such as the Resulting Issuer may shift such 

that these companies are viewed less favorably. This factor could impact the value of investorsô holdings and the 

ability of the Resulting Issuer to raise further funds, which could have a material adverse effect on the Resulting 

Issuerôs business, financial condition and prospects. 
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PART I ï INFORMATION CONCERNING AMN 

 

AMN Capital Corp. 

 

AMN was incorporated under the BCBCA by articles of incorporation dated December 10, 2010. On Closing, 

AMN intends to amend its articles to consolidate the AMN Shares on the basis of one post-Consolidation AMN 

Share for each one and two-thirds (1.66665) issued and outstanding pre-Consolidation AMN Shares and to 

change the name of AMN to ñAltan Rio Minerals Limitedò. The registered and head office of AMN is located at 

1110 ï 1111 West Georgia Street, Vancouver, B.C., V6E 4M3, telephone: (604) 689-9111, fax: (604) 685-7084. 

 

0916963 B.C. Ltd. 

 

CPC Subco, a wholly-owned subsidiary of AMN, was incorporated under the BCBCA by articles of incorporation 

dated August 2, 2011, solely for the purposes of completing the Proposed Qualifying Transaction. The registered 

and head office of CPC Subco is located at Suite 1110, 1111 West Georgia Street, Vancouver, B.C., V6E 4M3, 

telephone: (778) 327-5799, fax: (778) 327-6675. 

 

General Development of the Business of AMN 

 

AMN is a CPC as such term is defined in the CPC Policy. In February 2011, AMN completed a private placement 

of 1,050,000 AMN Shares at a price of $0.10 per AMN Share. In March 2011, AMN completed a further private 

placement of 250,000 AMN Shares at a price of $0.20 per AMN Share.  On June 23, 2011, AMN completed its 

initial public offering, raising gross proceeds of $300,000 through the issuance of 1,500,000 AMN Shares at a 

price of $0.20 per AMN Share. The net proceeds of the initial public offering together with cash raised through 

the prior sales of AMN Shares were to be used to identify and evaluate companies, assets or businesses with a 

view to completing a Qualifying Transaction. 

 

The AMN Shares began trading on the Exchange on June 29, 2011 under the symbol ñAMO.Pò.  

 

On July 12, 2011, AMN announced that it had entered into a Letter Agreement with Altan Rio, which 

contemplated the Proposed Qualifying Transaction, intended to be the qualifying transaction of AMN pursuant to 

Policy 2.4 of the TSXV. AMN, in support of the Proposed Qualifying Transaction, entered into a letter agreement 

with the Agent dated August 16, 2011, whereby the Agent agreed to act as agent in connection with the Private 

Placement.  On November 28, 2011, the Agent and AMN entered into the Agency Agreement.  On August 31, 

2011, AMN, CPC Subco and Altan Rio entered into the Definitive Agreement. 
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Selected Consolidated Financial Information and Managementôs Discussion and Analysis of AMN 

 

The following is selected financial data derived from the audited financial statements of AMN for the year ended 

December 31, 2010 and the unaudited financial statements for the six month period ended June 30, 2011. 

 

Expenses Six Months Ended  

June 30, 2011  

(Unaudited)  

Period From 

Incorporation on 

December 20, 2010 to 

December 31, 2010 

(Audited) 

Filing fees $ 1,218  $ - 

General and administrative fees $ 3,752  $ 389 

Professional fees $ 11,762  $ - 

Rent $ 3,300  $ - 

Loss for the period $ 20,032  $ 389 

Deficit, beginning of period $ 389  $ - 

Deficit, end of period $ 20,421  $ 389 

Basic and diluted loss per common share $ 0.14  $ - 

Weighted average number of common shares 

outstanding  145,000   - 

 

AMNôs Managementôs Discussion and Analysis for the financial periods ended June 30, 2011 and December 31, 

2010 provides an analysis of AMNôs financial results for the periods ended June 30, 2011 and December 31, 

2010. The AMN MD&A is included in this Filing Statement in Appendix ñBò. The AMN MD&A should be read 

in conjunction with the unaudited financial statements of AMN for the period ended June 30, 2011 and the 

audited financial statements of AMN for the year ended December 31, 2010 (and the notes thereto), which are 

included in this Filing Statement in Appendix "A". 

 

Certain information included in the AMN MD&A is forward-looking and based upon assumptions and anticipated 

results that are subject to uncertainties. Should one or more of these uncertainties materialize or should the 

underlying assumptions prove incorrect, actual results may vary significantly from those expected. See "Special 

Note Regarding Forward-Looking Statements" for further detail. 

 

Description of Securities of AMN 

 

Common Shares 

 

AMN is authorized to issue an unlimited number of AMN Shares without par value of which 2,800,001 AMN 

Shares are issued and outstanding as of the date of this Filing Statement. Holders of AMN Shares are entitled, 

subject to the rights, privileges, restrictions and conditions attaching to any other class or series of shares of 

AMN, to receive, on a pro rata basis, any dividends declared by AMN on the AMN Shares. Holders of AMN 

Shares are also entitled to receive notice of, attend and vote at all meetings of the shareholders of AMN and, upon 

a ballot, shall be entitled to one vote for each AMN Share held. Holders of AMN Shares do not have cumulative 

voting rights with respect to the election of directors and, accordingly, holders of a majority of the AMN Shares 

entitled to vote in any election of directors may elect all directors standing for election. In the event of the 

liquidation, dissolution or winding-up of AMN or any other distribution of the assets of AMN among its 

shareholders for the purpose of winding-up its affairs, holders of AMN Shares have the right, subject to the rights, 

privileges, restrictions and conditions attaching to any other class or series of shares of AMN, to share rateably in 

all such distributions in proportion to the number of AMN Shares held by them. The AMN Shares do not carry 

any pre-emptive, subscription, redemption or conversion rights, nor do the provisions relating thereto contain any 

sinking or purchase fund provisions. 
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Preference Shares 

 

AMN is authorized to issue an unlimited number of preference shares (the ñPreference Sharesò), none of which 

are issued as of the date of this Filing Statement. The Preference Shares of AMN are issuable in one or more 

series. In accordance with the articles of incorporation of AMN, the directors are authorized, without the approval 

of the AMN Shareholders, but subject to the provisions of the BCBCA, to fix, before issuance, the number of 

shares which is to comprise each series and the designation, rights, privileges, restrictions and conditions 

attaching to the shares of each series of Preference Shares. The Preference Shares of each series rank equally with 

the preference shares of every other series and in priority to the AMN Shares and any other shares ranking junior 

to the Preference Shares with respect to the payment of dividends and the distribution of assets or return of capital 

upon the liquidation, dissolution or winding up of AMN. AMN has no present intention to create or issue any 

series of Preference Shares. Except with respect to matters as to which holders of a series of Preference Shares are 

entitled by law to vote as a class and unless the directors otherwise determine in the articles of AMN designating 

a series, the holders of a series of Preference Shares will not be entitled to receive notice of or to vote at any 

meeting of shareholders. 

 

Stock Option Plan of AMN 

 

AMN presently has in place a ñrollingò stock option plan, first implemented February 22, 2011 (the ñAMN Stock 

Option Planò). 

 

Options to purchase up to 10% of the total number of AMN Shares issued and outstanding at the date of any grant 

are issuable pursuant to the AMN Stock Option Plan. The AMN Stock Option Plan is a ñrollingò plan as the 

number of options which may be granted pursuant to the AMN Stock Option Plan will increase as the number of 

AMN Shares which are issued and outstanding increases. If an option expires or is otherwise terminated for any 

reason, the number of AMN Shares in respect of that expired or terminated option shall again be available for the 

purposes of the AMN Stock Option Plan. Pursuant to the policies of the Exchange, the shareholders of AMN are 

required to approve on a yearly basis stock option plans which have a ñrollingò plan ceiling. 

 

The purpose of the AMN Stock Option Plan is to attract, retain and motivate directors, officers, employees and 

other service providers by providing them with the opportunity, through stock options, to acquire a proprietary 

interest in AMN and benefit from the growth of AMN. Options issued under the AMN Stock Option Plan are 

non-assignable and non-transferable and may be granted for a term not exceeding ten years. 

 

The AMN Stock Option Plan is administered by AMNôs board of directors or a committee established by the 

board of directors for that purpose (the ñCommitteeò). The AMN Stock Option Plan may be amended, subject to 

regulatory approval, or terminated by the board of directors or the Committee at any time, but such amendment or 

termination will not alter the terms or conditions of any option awarded prior to the date of such amendment or 

termination. Any option outstanding when the AMN Stock Option Plan is amended or terminated will remain in 

effect until it is exercised or expires or is otherwise terminated in accordance with the provisions of the AMN 

Stock Option Plan. 

 

The AMN Stock Option Plan provides that other terms and conditions, including vesting provisions, may be 

attached to a particular stock option at the discretion of the board of directors or the Committee. All option grants 

are to be evidenced by the execution of an option agreement between AMN and the optionee which shall give 

effect to the provisions of the AMN Stock Option Plan. 

 

Options may be granted under the AMN Stock Option Plan only to directors, officers, employees and other 

service providers of AMN subject to the rules and regulations of applicable regulatory authorities and the 

Exchange. 

 

The aggregate number of AMN Shares which may be reserved for issuance under the AMN Stock Option Plan 

within a 12 month period: 
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(a) to any individual shall not exceed 5% of the number of AMN Shares issued and outstanding on the date 

of the grant (on a non-diluted basis); and 

(b) to any consultant to AMN shall not exceed 2% of the number of AMN Shares issued and outstanding on 

the date of the grant (on a non-diluted basis); 

 

Options issued to employees or consultants who provide investor relations activities must vest in stages over not 

less than 12 months with no more than one-quarter of the options vesting in any three-month period. 

 

Options granted under the AMN Stock Option Plan will be for a term not to exceed ten years from the date of 

their grant. In the event an optionee ceases to be a service provider of AMN (other than by reason of death), the 

stock option will expire on the expiry date stated in the option agreement. In the event of death of an optionee, the 

option will be exercisable by the personal representatives of the optionee for a period of one year following the 

optioneeôs death. 

 

The price at which an optionee may purchase AMN Shares upon the exercise of an option will be as set forth in 

the option agreement executed in respect of such option, but not be less than the market price of the AMN Shares 

as of the date of the grant of the stock option (the ñGrant Dateò) less any discounts from the market price 

allowed by the Exchange, subject to a minimum exercise price of $0.10. The market price of the AMN Shares 

means the closing price on the last trading day immediately preceding the Grant Date or as otherwise determined 

in accordance with the terms of the AMN Stock Option Plan. As of the date of this Filing Statement no options 

have been issued under the AMN Stock Option Plan. 

 

Prior Sales of AMN 

 

Since December 20, 2010, the date of incorporation of AMN, AMN has issued the following AMN Shares on the 

following terms: 

 

Date 

Number of 

Common Shares 

Price per 

Common Share 

($) 

Aggregate 

Issue Price ($) 

Nature of 

Consideration 

December 20, 2010 1
(1) 

 $ 0.10  $ 0.01  Cash 

February 21, 2011 1,050,000
(2) 

  0.10   105,000  Cash 

March 18, 2011 250,000
(3) 

  0.20   50,000  Cash 

June 23, 2011 1,500,000
(4)

   0.20   300,000  Cash 

 
Note: (1) Initial incorporatorôs share, which was subsequently transferred to Robert Scott, a director of the Corporation and 

is escrowed. See ñEscrowed Sharesò. 

 (2) All of these shares were issued to Insiders at a price below $0.20 per common share and are escrowed. See 

ñEscrowed Sharesò. 

 (3) 100,000 of these shares were issued to Pro Group members and are escrowed. See ñEscrowed Sharesò. 

 (4) Shares issued in the initial public offering of AMN. 

 

Agentôs Options 

 

In consideration of the services provided by the Agent in connection with AMNôs initial public offering 

completed on June 23, 2011, AMN granted 150,000 Agent's Options exercisable to purchase an aggregate of 

150,000 AMN Shares at an exercise price of $0.20 per share on or before June 29, 2013. None of the Agent's 

Options have been exercised. 
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Stock Exchange Price  

 

The AMN Shares are listed on the Exchange under the trading symbol "AMO.P". The AMN Shares began trading 

on June 29, 2011. The Exchange halted the trading of the AMN Shares on July 12, 2011, in connection with the 

announcement of the Proposed Qualifying Transaction. No AMN Shares were traded between the date the AMN 

Shares were listed on the Exchange and the date trading was halted. 

 

Armôs Length Party Qualifying Transaction of AMN 
 

The acquisition by AMN of all of the issued and outstanding Altan Rio Shares is not a Related Party Transaction 

for the purposes of Exchange policies and Multilateral Instrument 61-101 ïProtection of Minority Security 

Holders in Special Transactions and is not a Non-Armôs Length Qualifying Transaction pursuant to the policies 

of the Exchange. As a result, no meeting of AMNôs shareholders is required as a condition of Exchange approval 

of the Proposed Qualifying Transaction. However, the Consolidation requires shareholder approval and AMN 

obtained such approval at the AMN Meeting. 

 

Legal Proceedings of AMN 
 

There are no legal proceedings material to AMN to which AMN is a party or of which any of its property is the 

subject matter, and there are no such proceedings known to AMN to be contemplated. 
 

Relationship between AMN and the Agent 
 

AMN is not a related or connected party (as such terms are defined in National Instrument 33-105 Underwriting 

Conflicts) to the Agent. 
 

Relationship between AMN and Professional Persons 
 

No beneficial interest, direct or indirect, in any securities or properties of AMN or of an Associate or Affiliate of 

AMN, is held by a professional person, a responsible solicitor or any partner of a responsible solicitorôs firm. 

 

No professional person, responsible solicitor or any partner of the responsible solicitorôs firm is, or is expected to 

be, elected, appointed or employed as a director, senior officer or employee of AMN or of an Associate or 

Affiliate of AMN, or a promoter of AMN or of an Associate or Affiliate of AMN. 

 

In this section, ñprofessional personò means a person whose profession gives authority to a statement made by the 

person in the personôs professional capacity and includes a barrister and solicitor, a public accountant, an 

appraiser, an auditor, an engineer and a geologist. 
 

Auditor, Transfer Agent and Registrar 

 

Auditor 

 

AMNôs auditor is Davidson & Company LLP, Chartered Accountants, 1200 ï 609 Granville Street, Vancouver, 

BC, V7Y 1G6. 

 

Transfer Agent and Registrar 

 

AMNôs registrar and transfer agent is Equity Financial Trust Company, 1620 - 1185 West Georgia Street, 

Vancouver, BC V6E 4E6. 
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Interest of Management and Others in Material Transactions 

 

Other than as previously disclosed in this Filing Statement or as set out below, none of the AMN directors, senior 

officers or principal shareholders or any of their Associates or Affiliates has a material interest, direct or indirect, 

in any transaction with AMN since incorporation, or will have any material interest in the Proposed Qualifying 

Transaction, which has materially affected or will materially affect AMN. 

 

Since incorporation to the date hereof, AMN has paid to Corex Management Inc., a corporation controlled by 

Murray Seitz and Rob Scott, a total of $3,300 for rent and $2,700 for office expenses pursuant to the Rental & 

Office Expenses Reimbursement Agreement (see ñMaterial Contractsò). Under the Rental & Office Expenses 

Reimbursement Agreement AMN pays Corex Management Inc. the sum of $1,000 per month for rent and 

reimbursement of all office expenses. 

 

Material Contracts of AMN 

 

AMN has not entered into any material contracts that are still in effect and will not enter into any material 

contracts prior to the Closing, other than the following: 

 

1. Definitive Agreement; 

2. Registrar and Transfer Agent Agreement between AMN and Equity Financial Trust Company dated 

January 31, 2011. 

3. Agency Agreement dated November 28, 2011 between AMN and the Agent. See ñPart II ï Information 

Concerning Altan Rio - Private Placementò. 

4. AMN Stock Option Plan dated February 22, 2011. See ñPart I ï Information Concerning AMN ï Stock 

Option Plan of AMNò. 

5. Escrow Agreement dated April 20, 2011 among AMN, Equity Financial Trust Company and Robert 

Scott, Murray Seitz, Paul OôBrien, Julie Catling, Philip Francis, Julie Prutton, and Andrew Statham. See 

ñPart III ï Information Concerning The Resulting Issuer - Escrowed Securitiesò.  

6. Rental & Office Expenses Reimbursement Agreement between AMN and Corex Management Inc. dated 

January 1, 2011. 

 

Copies of the foregoing agreements will be available for inspection, upon the giving of reasonable notice, at the 

registered office of AMN located at 1110 ï 1111 West Georgia Street, Vancouver, British Columbia, V6E 4M3 

during ordinary business hours until Closing and for a period of thirty days thereafter. 
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PART II ï INFORMATION CONCERNING ALTAN RIO 

 

Corporate Structure of Altan Rio 
 

Altan Rio Minerals Limited 

 

Altan Rio was incorporated pursuant to articles of incorporation dated November 30, 2007, under the laws of the 

Province of British Columbia. Altan Rioôs head office is located at Suite 1110 - 1111 West Georgia Street, 

Vancouver, BC V6E 4M3. 

 

The authorized share capital of Altan Rio consists of an unlimited number of Altan Rio Shares. As of the date 

hereof, 99,627,050 Altan Rio Shares are issued and outstanding. 

 

As of the date hereof, Altan Rio has 21,309,485 Altan Rio Warrants and 10,237,518 Altan Rio C Note Warrants 

issued and outstanding.  Each Altan Rio Warrant and Altan Rio C Note Warrant is exercisable to acquire one 

Altan Rio Share at a price of $0.29 per share, until January 6, 2013. The Altan Rio Warrants are subject an 

accelerated expiry provision that will result in the Resulting Issuer Warrants issued in exchange therefor having 

the accelerated expiry provision referred under ñPart III ï Information Concerning the Resulting Issuer ï 

Description of Securitiesò. Altan Rio has no other options, warrants, notes or other securities which may be 

convertible into Altan Rio Shares. 

Intercorporate Relationships 

 

Altan Rio holds its interests in Mongolia indirectly through its subsidiary corporations. Altan Rio Limited is a 

wholly owned subsidiary of Altan Rio Holdings Limited which is wholly owned by Altan Rio. Altan Rio 

Holdings Limited and Altan Rio Limited are both incorporated under the laws of the British Virgin Islands.  Altan 

Rio Mongolia LLC is incorporated pursuant to the laws of Mongolia and is a wholly owned subsidiary of Altan 

Rio Limited.  

 

Altan Rioôs corporate structure is as follows: 

 

 Altan Rio Minerals Limited 

(BC) 

 

        100%  

 Altan Rio Holdings Limited 

(BVI) 

 

   100%  

 Altan Rio Limited 

(BVI) 

 

   100%  

 
Altan Rio Mongolia LLC 

(Mongolia) 

 

 

Altan Rio Mongolia is the operating entity of Altan Rio. References below to Altan Rio include references to its 

100% owned subsidiaries as applicable. 

 

General Development of the Business of Altan Rio 

Altan Rio was formed in 2007 to engage in the acquisition and exploration of mineral properties located in 

Mongolia and the United States.  
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Altan Rio also has a wholly-owned subsidiary, Altan Rio Holdings Limited, which was incorporated under the 

laws of the British Virgin Islands on February 18, 2008. Altan Rio Holdings Limited has a wholly-owned 

subsidiary, Altan Rio Limited, which was incorporated under the law of the British Virgin Islands on December 5, 

2006. Altan Rio Limited has a wholly-owned subsidiary, Altan Rio Mongolia LLC, which was incorporated under 

the laws of Mongolia on March 5, 2007.  Altan Rio Mongolia holds Altan Rioôs Mongolian interests. 

Altan Rio was originally incorporated as a subsidiary of Altan Rio Limited. Effective June 30, 2008 Altan Rio 

reorganized its corporate structure such that Altan Rio Holdings Limited became Altan Rioôs wholly owned 

subsidiary, which owned Altan Rio Limited, which owns Altan Rio Mongolia LLC. Altan Rio (US) Inc. was 

incorporated as a subsidiary of Altan Rio Limited and became a subsidiary of Altan Rio as part of the corporate 

reorganization.  Altan Rio (US) Inc. held Altan Rioôs US interests in Nevada. 

 

The shareholders of Altan Rio at a meeting held on May 23, 2011 approved a statutory plan of arrangement 

involving Altan Rio, its security holders and Altan Nevada Minerals Limited, a newly formed BC company (the 

ñArrangementò). The final order approving the Arrangement was granted by the Supreme Court of British 

Columbia on May 23, 2011, and was filed with the Registrar of Companies effective May 31, 2011 (the ñSpin-

Out Effective Dateò). 

 

The Arrangement involved a reorganization of Altan Rioôs business and capital through the transfer of certain 

assets to Altan Nevada Minerals Limited, the distribution of Altan Nevada Minerals Limitedôs common shares 

(ñAltan Nevada Sharesò) to Altan Rioôs shareholders by way of a reduction of Altan Rioôs capital and an 

exchange of the common shares of Altan Rio (ñOld Altan Rio Minerals Limited Sharesò) for new common 

shares of Altan Rio (ñNew Altan Rio Minerals Limited Sharesò) such that, on the Spin-Out Effective Date, each 

Altan Rio shareholder held one New Altan Rio Minerals Limited Share and one-half Altan Nevada Share for each 

Old Altan Rio Minerals Limited Share held immediately prior to the Spin-Out Effective Date (fractions were 

eliminated). 

 

Under the Arrangement, among other things, Altan Rio transferred to Altan Nevada Minerals Limited all of the 

shares of Altan Rio (US) Inc., which controls certain mineral exploration properties in Nevada. 

 

Altan Rioôs main business is now its mineral exploration projects in Mongolia.  The main project is the Chandon-

Yol Project.  Altan Rio had approximately CAD$ 1.05 million in working capital as of May 31, 2011. 

 

Definitive Agreement  

 

AMN and CPC Subco entered into the Definitive Agreement with Altan Rio on August 31, 2011, the 

consummation of which is intended to result in the completion of the Proposed Qualifying Transaction. Pursuant 

to the terms of the Definitive Agreement, AMN will acquire all of the issued and outstanding Altan Rio Shares by 

way of the Three Cornered Amalgamation, resulting in the formation of Amalco. As a result of the Three 

Cornered Amalgamation, all of the Altan Rio Shares will be exchanged into 41,803,506 Resulting Issuer Shares 

(the ñTransaction Sharesò) and all of the outstanding Altan Rio Warrants will be exchanged for 8,941,459 

Resulting Issuer Warrants and all the outstanding Altan Rio C Note Warrants will be exchanged for 4,295,662 

Resulting Issuer Warrants (a conversion ratio of 0.4196). In consideration of the issue by the Resulting Issuer of 

the Resulting Issuer Shares to the former Altan Rio Shareholders, Amalco will issue to the Resulting Issuer one 

Amalco Share for each Resulting Issuer Share issued to the Altan Rio Shareholders. The Resulting Issuer will also 

receive one Amalco Share in exchange for each issued and outstanding CPC Subco Share held by the Resulting 

Issuer. As a result of the foregoing, Amalco will become a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Resulting Issuer. 

 

In addition to the Transaction Shares: (1) 2,000,000 shares of the Resulting Issuer will be issued on close of the 

Private Placement; (2) 20,000 Resulting Issuer Shares will be issued to the Agent on close of the Private 

Placement; (3) 14,237,121 Resulting Issuer Shares will be reserved for issuance upon exercise of Resulting Issuer 

Warrants and PP Warrants; (4) 90,000 Resulting Issuer Shares will be reserved for issuance upon exercise of the 

Resulting Issuer Agentsô Options; (5) 105,000 Resulting Issuer Shares will be reserved for issuance upon exercise 



31 

 

of the Resulting Issuer Broker Options; and (6) 15,000 Resulting Issuer Shares will be reserved for issuance upon 

exercise of the Resulting Issuer Finder Warrants. 

 

The completion of the Three Cornered Amalgamation as contemplated by the Definitive Agreement is subject 

to the approval of the Exchange and all other necessary approvals. The completion of the Three Cornered 

Amalgamation is also subject to certain other additional conditions precedent, including, but not limited to:  

 

(a) approval of the Three Cornered Amalgamation and related matters having been obtained by each partiesô 

shareholders as may be required; 

(b) the articles of amalgamation having been filed the BC Registrar of Companies; 

(c) the amalgamation shall have become effective on or prior to November 30, 2011; 

(d) there shall not be in force any order or decree restraining or enjoining the consummation of the 

transactions contemplated by the Definitive Agreement and the Three Cornered Amalgamation; 

(e) the exchange of Altan Rio Shares for Resulting Issuer Shares and the exchange of Altan Rio Warrants 

and Altan Rio C Note Warrants for Resulting Issuer Warrants; 

(f) the Definitive Agreement not having been otherwise terminated by the parties; 

(g) corporate statute dissent rights shall not have been exercised with respect to the Three Cornered 

Amalgamation by Altan Rio Shareholders which will in the aggregate represent 5% or more of the Altan 

Rio Shares outstanding on the relevant record date; 

(h) there shall be no action taken under any existing Applicable Law, that: 

(i) makes illegal or otherwise directly or indirectly restrains, enjoins or prohibits the Three Cornered 

Amalgamation or any other transactions contemplated in the Definitive Agreement; or 

(ii) results in a judgment or assessment of material damages directly or indirectly relating to the 

transactions contemplated in the Definitive Agreement. 

(i) there shall not have occurred any material adverse change of Altan Rio, AMN or CPC Subco. 

(j) Altan Rio shall have no employees and all officers and directors of Altan Rio shall have resigned, 

effective as of the Closing date; 

(k) each of the acts and undertakings of Altan Rio and AMN to be performed on or before the Closing date 

pursuant to the terms of the Definitive Agreement shall have been duly performed by Altan Rio and 

AMN respectively; 

(l) Altan Rio, AMN and Subco shall have furnished to one another certified copies of the resolutions duly 

passed by their respective board of directors and shareholders approving the Definitive Agreement and 

the consummation of the transactions contemplated in the Definitive Agreement; 

(m) no act, action, suit, proceeding, objection or opposition shall have been taken against or affecting Altan 

Rio or AMN before or by any domestic or foreign court, tribunal or governmental agency or other 

regulatory or administrative agency or commission by any elected or appointed public official or private 

person in Canada or elsewhere, whether or not having the force of law, and no law, regulation, policy, 

judgment, decision, order, ruling or directive (whether or not having the force of law) shall have been 

enacted, promulgated, amended or applied, which in the sole judgment of Altan Rio, acting reasonably, 

in either case has had or, if the Three Cornered Amalgamation was consummated, would result in a 

material adverse change respecting Altan Rio or AMN or would materially impede the ability of the 

parties to complete the Three Cornered Amalgamation; 

(n) except as affected by the transactions contemplated by the Definitive Agreement, all of the 

representations and warranties of the parties contained in the Definitive Agreement shall be true in all 

material respects as at the Closing date with the same force and effect as though such representations and 

warranties had been made at and as of such time and each party shall have complied in all material 

respects with its covenants in the Definitive Agreement and provided the other party with a certificate to 

that effect dated the Closing date; 

(o) at the time of the Closing of the Three Cornered Amalgamation, each of the directors and officers of 

Altan Rio shall have provided their resignations and such officers shall have delivered mutual releases in 

favour of AMN and Altan Rio, in form and substance satisfactory to AMN and such persons, acting 

reasonably; 
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(p) Altan Rio shall not have disposed of a material interest in any of its assets or otherwise entered into any 

material transaction with, or incurred any material liability to, any other corporation or other person, or 

performed any act or entered into any transaction or negotiation which interferes or is inconsistent with 

the completion of the transactions contemplated by the Definitive Agreement, other than as contemplated 

in the Definitive Agreement, without the consent of AMN thereto, such consent not to be unreasonably 

withheld; 

(q) the assets of Altan Rio will include cash, net of all liabilities whether accrued, contingent or otherwise 

and before giving effect to the transactions contemplated under the Definitive Agreement, of not less 

than $100,000 without the written consent of AMN, such consent not to be unreasonably withheld. 

(r) that the completion of the Three Cornered Amalgamation will qualify as the qualifying transaction for 

AMN, pursuant to Policy 2.4 of the Exchange; 

(s) AMN shall not have disposed of a material interest in any of its assets or otherwise entered into any 

material transaction with, or incurred any material liability to, any other corporation or other person or 

performed any act or entered into any transaction or negotiation which interferes or is inconsistent with 

the completion of the transactions contemplated in the Definitive Agreement, other than as contemplated 

in the Definitive Agreement, without the consent of Altan Rio thereto, such consent not to be 

unreasonably withheld; and 

(t) the assets of AMN will be cash, net of all liabilities, whether accrued, contingent or otherwise and before 

giving effect to the transactions contemplated under the Definitive Agreement, of not less than $50,000 

without the written consent of Altan, such consent not to be unreasonably withheld. 

 

Private Placement 

In conjunction with the Proposed Qualifying Transaction, AMN will complete a brokered and non-brokered 

Private Placement to raise gross proceeds of up to $1,000,000.  Under the terms of the Private Placement, AMN 

would issue up to 2,000,000 Units at a price of $0.50 per Unit. Each Unit will consist of one Resulting Issuer 

Share and one-half of one PP Warrant. Each whole PP Warrant will entitle the holder to acquire one Resulting 

Issuer Share at the exercise price of $0.65 for a period of two years from Closing. The PP Warrants will be subject 

to an accelerated expiry provision whereby should the Resulting Issuer Shares trade at a weighted average price 

exceeding $1.10 for 30 consecutive trading days, the PP Warrants will expire 30 days after notice of such event is 

given to the warrantholders.   

AMN has entered into an Agency Agreement with the Agent to undertake the brokered portion of the Private 

Placement to raise gross proceeds of up to $750,000. As compensation for completion of the brokered portion of 

the Private Placement, the Agent will be paid a commission of 7% of the gross proceeds of the brokered portion. 

In addition, the Agent will receive the Resulting Issuer Broker Options entitling the Agent to acquire a number of 

Resulting Issuer Shares as is equal to 7% of the number of Units sold by it under the Private Placement at a price 

of $0.65 per share for a period of two years from Closing, and a corporate finance fee of $45,000 plus HST, of 

which $35,000 plus HST is to be paid in cash and the remainder is to be paid by the issuance of 20,000 Resulting 

Issuer Shares and cash of $1,200 upon completion of the Offering. 

AMN has entered into an engagement letter dated September 22, 2011 with the Finder to undertake the non-

brokered portion of the Private Placement to raise gross proceeds of up to $250,000 outside of Canada. As 

compensation for completion of the non-brokered portion of the Private Placement, the Finder will be paid a 

commission of 6% of the gross proceeds of the non-brokered portion. In addition, the Finder will receive the 

Resulting Issuer Finder Warrants entitling the Finder to acquire a number of Resulting Issuer Shares as is equal to 

6% of the number of Units sold by it under the non-brokered portion of the Private Placement, at a price of $0.65 

per share for a period of two years from Closing. 
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Narrative Description of the Business of Altan Rio 

 

Altan Rioôs business objective after the Completion of the Proposed Qualifying Transaction will be the business 

objectives of Altan Rio Mongolia, namely the continued exploration and development of the Chandman-Yol 

Project and the other minor prospecting of properties controlled by Altan Rio Mongolia.  

 

Chandman-Yol Project 

 

AMN commissioned John L. Stockley, F.A.I.M.M., C.P. (Geo), of Lyndhurst Enterprises Pty Ltd. of Australia to 

complete the Chandman-Yol Technical Report, a technical report compliant with NI 43-101 on the Chandman-

Yol Project. The Chandman-Yol Technical Report is dated February 11, 2011, and has been filed on SEDAR at 

www.sedar.com in conjunction with the filing of this Filing Statement. The author of the report is an independent 

Qualified Person for the purposes of NI 43-101. The information below has been extracted in whole or in part 

from the Chandman-Yol Technical Report, which readers are encouraged to review in full. 

 

Property Description and Location 

 

Property Location  

 

The Chandman-Yol property area is located at latitude 47Á23ôN, longitude 92ÁE 53ôE, about 1,050 km west of 

Ulaanbaatar. The Chandman-Yol group of mineral exploration tenements is located approximately 100 km 

southeast of the town of Khovd in western Mongolia (Figure 1). The project is ~70 km north-northwest of the 

recently commissioned Khushuut coking coal mine which has completed a hard surface haulage road to the 

Chinese border crossing at Yarant (Bulgan Soum), and about 20 km southeast of the small soum (= county) centre 

of Chandmani (population about 500). 

The property is in mountainous basin and range country at an elevation of around 2,000 m. Relief rises to 3,797 m 

immediately northwest of Chandman in the Jargalant Nuruu mountain range.  
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Figure 1. Map of Chandman project area, showing location of the recently commissioned Khushuut coal mine and 

new hard surface road (heavy red line) to the Chinese border at Yarant (Bulgan). Map: Altan Rio Mongolia LLC 

2011. 

 

Mineral Titles 

Altan Rio holds nine (9) exploration licences covering the Chandman-Yol Project covering a total area of 1,401.7 

km². The Chandman tenements consist of five exploration licenses (currently under an option agreement with 

Gallant Minerals Limited a private Bermuda company, to acquire 80% of the shares of GS Minerals Corp. Ltd., a 

private Bermuda company which holds 100% of the shares of Braveheart Resources XXK, a private Mongolian 

incorporated company, which holds the Chandman Property exploration licenses). The Yol tenements consist of 

four exploration licenses (100% owned by Altan Rio Mongolia LLC).  

Altan Rio holds its interests in Mongolia indirectly through its subsidiary corporations. Altan Rio Limited is a 

wholly owned subsidiary of Altan Rio Holdings Limited which is wholly owned by Altan Rio. Altan Rio 

Holdings Limited and Altan Rio Limited are both incorporated under the laws of the British Virgin Islands. Altan 

Rio Mongolia LLC is incorporated pursuant to the laws of Mongolia and is a wholly owned subsidiary of Altan 

Rio Limited. References below to Altan Rio include references to its 100% owned subsidiaries as applicable. 

N 
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Chandman tenements.  The Chandman tenements are comprised of five mineral exploration licenses covering 

approximately 354.7 km
2
 (the Chandman tenements listed below). 

Altan Rio Limited entered into an option agreement with Gallant Minerals Limited (ñGallantò) dated November 

26, 2007 to acquire 80% of the shares of GS Minerals Corp. Ltd., a Bermuda incorporated company, whose 

wholly owned Mongolian subsidiary Braveheart Resources XXK, is the 100% owner of the Chandman tenements. 

The agreement is subject to the following: 

¶ Payment of US $50,000 in cash on signing (paid); 

¶ Incurrence of US $3,000,000 of cumulative exploration expenditure on the properties over a four year 

period as follows: 

o Minimum of US $200,000 on or before the first anniversary of the agreement (incurred); 

o Minimum of US $1,000,000 (cumulative) on or before the second anniversary of the agreement 

(incurred); and 

o Minimum of US $3,000,000 (cumulative) on or before the fourth anniversary of the agreement 

(incurred). 

¶ Payment of US $600,000 in cash over a four year period as follows: 

o US $100,000 on or before the second anniversary of the agreement (paid); and  

o An additional US $500,000 on or before the fourth anniversary of the agreement (pending). 

On completion of the terms of the agreement, Gallant has a one-time option to retain its 20% interest in the 

projects or convert its 20% interest into a 2.5% NSR.  If Gallant elects to retain its 20% interest it must contribute 

funds for the operation of the project in proportion to its 20% shareholding.  If Gallant elects not to contribute in 

proportion to its shareholdings its shareholdings in the project will be diluted on industry standard terms based on 

an initial value of all the shares of the project being deemed at 125% of the sum of Altan Rioôs cash payment, 

share issuances (based on the listing price and not market value) and all work expenditures incurred to earn Altan 

Rioôs 80% interest; and, each of Altan Rio and Gallant shall be deemed to have at any time, that percentage 

interest in the project equal to its actual and deemed expenditures divided by the total actual and deemed 

expenditures of both of them). If Gallantôs shareholdings in the project is diluted to 5% or less due to the 

application of the standard dilution formula.  Gallant will transfer its shares to Altan Rio in exchange for a net 

smelter return royalty equal to 1.5%. 

Yol tenements. The Yol tenements are comprised of an additional four mineral exploration licenses covering 

approximately 1,047 km
2
 in the western region of Mongolia. Altan Rio Mongolia LLC is the 100% holder of the 

Yol tenements (the Yol tenements listed below). 

Chandman-Yol Tenement Map.  The combined group of tenements controlled by Altan Rio (nine in all) are 

shown in the map below (Figure 2). 



36 

 

 

Figure 2. DEM image covering the Chandman-Yol tenement area, UTM WGS84 grid shown for reference. Map: 

Altan Rio Mongolia LLC 2011. 
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Chandman-Yol Project tenement schedule 

Licence Details 

Project Property 

Name 

Licence 

ID 

Aimag Soums Size of 

area (ha) 

Issued 

Date 

Expiry Date 

Yol Byalzuukhait 14689X Khovd Chandman 

Zereg 

Mankhan 

13,757.40 24-04-09 24-04-18 

Yol Degnuult 14695X Khovd Zereg 

Darvi 

40,885.00 24-04-09 24-04-18 

Yol Takhilt 14857X Khovd Chandman 27,134.43 17-04-09 17-04-18 

Yol Chandman-3 11705X Khovd Chandm,an 

Zereg 

Darvi 

22,929.00 24-04-06 24-04-15 

Chandman Chandmanii 

Tolgoi 

7338X Khovd Chandman 1,047.22 27-04-04 27-04-13 

Chandman Yembuu 

Tolgoi 

7340X Khovd Chandman 

Zereg 

8,383.00 27-04-04 27-04-13 

Chandman Chandman-2 10745X Khovd Chandman 6,335.49 31-10-05 31-10-14 

Chandman Jargalant-1 8018X Khovd Chandman 

Zereg 

6,054.27 27-07-04 27-07-13 

Chandman Jargalant- 8017X Khovd Chandman 13,623.29 27-07-04 27-07-13 

Total  9   140,149.10   

 

License Fees.  The license costs (fees payable to Mongolian government) for 2011 are approximately US 

$100,000). This money is set aside by Altan Rio for payment on the due dates. The minimum expenditure (in 

USD) required to maintain the Chandman and Yol groups of tenements is approximately US $170,000 annually 

(Chandman $53,000 and Yol $117,000). 

Exceptions to Title Opinion 

 

To Altan Rioôs knowledge, there are no exceptions to title. Portions of licenses 7340X, 11705X and 14695X lie 

within recently established ñwatershed areasò that are subject to new provisions of the Mongolian mining law. 

This legislation is currently being discussed and modified. No negative impacts have thus far resulted to Altan 

Rioôs exploration programs. The ultimate potential impacts, if any, remain unknown at this time. 

Location of Mineralization  

 

Metallic mineralisation and alteration of potential host rock units, namely the Tsoluul Formation and the 

Burgastay Formation, together with the Kharkhiraa intrusion complex, and associated anomalous trace element 

geochemistry typically associated with gold-copper mineralisation are located throughout the project area. 
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Royalties, Agreements and Encumbrances  

 

The royalty obligation in Mongolia is that future sales of gold and copper production from the Chandman-Yol 

Project will incur a 5% gross production royalty on the sales of all metals and concentrates. Also, under the option 

agreement with Gallant, Gallant can elect to convert its remaining 20% interest in GS Minerals Corp. into a 2.5% 

net smelter returns royalty on the Chandman tenements. 

Environmental Liabilities and Permitting  

 

Altan Rio is not aware of any environmental liabilities for the Chandman-Yol Project. There are exploration 

permits in place for the Chandman-Yol Project which have been granted to Altan Rio by the Mongolian 

government. These permits are in good standing. 

Accessibility, Climate, Local Resources, Infrastructure and Physiography 

 

Climate and Length of Operating Season  

 

Average annual precipitation in the Chandman-Yol Project area is estimated to be 100-150 mm per annum. The 

months from June to September are usually rainy with occasional thunder storms. Spring and autumn months are 

usually windy and dry; strong winds often turn into devastating dust storms. Winds blow permanently and 

unhindered on these high plateaus. There are very few permanent rivers or other water sources: the rivers and 

creeks only flow during heavy rain. Day and night time temperatures fluctuate over a large range. Wide variations 

in temperature are common even during the day. In summer time, the air temperature is between +25° C and 40° 

C, and in winter temperatures drop to -40°C. In the last few years, apparent climate change has been observed by 

locals with higher mountain ice sheets retreating and general drying of the landscape. As for the operation season, 

the best time for exploration work is May to October. 

Local Resources and Infrastructure 

 

The project is served by the main city of Khovd (population around 20,000), the capital of Khovd aimag, where 

hotels, restaurants and shops are readily available. Nearly all necessary camp supplies can be found in Khovd. 

The Khovd airport (HVD) is the major airport of western Mongolia. There are two airlines operating, Eznis and 

AeroMongolia, which usually fly every day from Ulaanbaatar depending on the season. 

Local soum centers of Chandman (to the north) and Zereg (to the southwest) are important locations for buying 

fuel, supplies, and for obtaining seasonal labor to operate camps. 

Telephone communication in the area is good and three mobile providers exist: Mobicom, G-Mobile, and Unitel. 

Each soum has a small hospital, primary school, bank facilities and some shops selling limited supplies. Fuel can 

be in short supply in the area, but thus far has not negatively impacted Altan Rioôs exploration programs. 

Seventy kilometres to the south from the project area is the Khushuut coal mine, one of the major coal deposits of 

western Mongolia. 

The local work force is available anytime. 

During the field season (late April to October) Altan Rio maintains an on-site exploration camp with good 

accommodations and communication links. 

Topography, Elevation and Vegetation  

 

The topography of the Chandman-Yol Project area consists of rugged, mountainous country rising up to 3,797 m 

in the Jargalant Nuruu. The geology is dominated by rugged exposures of Vendian-Cambrian marine volcanic 

sequences (andesite flows, breccias, conglomerates) and shallower water facies limestone, siltstone, volcanic tuff 

assemblages, all intruded by upper Cambrian calc-alkalic intrusions, zoned from gabbro to granite. The elevations 
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in the KY intrusion prospect area range from 1,350 m to over 2,500 m. Peak elevations are in the Bumbat target 

area at 3,464 m. The landscape can be best described as typical Gobi-Altai basin and range topography. Wide 

areas of gently sloping gravel pediments fan outwards from the range fronts into internally drained basins. 

 Vegetation consists of dry-land steppe grasses, low shrubs and scrub adapted to harsh, central Asian winter 

conditions. There are small birch forests, aspen, willow groves and thickets, larch tree (caragana bungei Ldb), 

rheum nanum sievers, allium mongolicum rgl, orostachys spinosa, haloxylon ammodendron and other rich types 

of vegetation locally characterize the area. There are many kinds of flowers such as glycyrhiza fisch, pulchellus, 

leontopodium ochroleucum or edelweiss, iris bungei, king flower (alpine daisy). 

In terms of fauna there are many species of animals such as wild goats, wild sheep, snow leopard, wolf, fox, 

rabbits, hares, marmots, gazelle, snow cock, chukar partridge, and many other bird species including eagles and 

falcons. Numerous reptile species exist in the area. The landscape at Chandman-Yol is typical of the western Gob-

Altai region: Chandman-Yol Tenement Map above (Figure 2) is a DEM image covering the central Bumbat 

Range and the Chandman-Yol tenement package. The image covers the southeastern extensions of the internal 

depression Khar-Us-Nuur (saline lake complex) in Zereg soum, and the extensive gravel pediment fans draining 

north-eastwards into Durgun Nuur (Chandmani soum).  

Access to Property  

 

To drive to the project area from Ulaanbaatar usually takes about 36 hours. The preferred route is to fly from 

Ulaanbaatar to Khovd (see above) and then drive a partly improved dirt road for 140 km from Khovd, which 

usually takes three (3) hours. The local infrastructure is not well developed. There is the main auto road which 

goes from Ulaanbaatar to Khovd and the major 15 kV power line connects the soums and goes near by the project 

area. The road access between soums is good. Rough gravel tracks then access the central part of the tenement 

package. 

Surface Rights  

 

Surface (and mineral) rights are held by the Mongolian government, with right to access and explore for minerals 

controlled by Altan Rio as stipulated and regulated by the Companyôs current exploration licences. 

The Chandman-Yol Project area belongs to the Zereg, Chandmani, Mankhan and Darvi soums (counties) of 

Khovd province. Permission to perform all exploration activities is granted by the local administrations, and is 

generally easy to obtain. Altan Rio enjoys a good working relationship with local authorities. 

Land Use 

Most of land has been historically used for summer livestock grazing (sheep, goat, camel, horses, and cattle) and a 

very small part has been used for agriculture, mainly for cultivation of vegetables including watermelons. The 

presence of snow at higher elevations and the general inaccessibility of pastures combined with the lack of fodder 

means that domestic grazing animals are sparse in the mountainous project area.  

Located 70 km to the northwest of Chandman is the Khar-Us-Nuur lake system, which is one of the Mongolian 

National Protected Areas, where the World Wildlife Fund (WWF) is running a nature conservation project. 

 

History 

 

Regional History 

 

The Chandman-Yol area has not undergone very much exploration in the past. The area was geologically mapped 

at a scale of 1:200,000 during 1963-1995 by various Mongolian and Russian regional mapping expeditions: 
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¶ 1963 Open File #2081 

¶ 1978-1981 Open File #3576 

¶ 1988-1995 Open File #4861 

¶ 1992-1995 Open File #4942 

 

Three phases of recent field examinations were conducted by the Gallant and Solomon companies during 

2004-2006 in the Chandman area, and details of the programs are summarized below: 

 

Local History 

 

The mineral exploration history covering Altan Rioôs Chandman copper-gold project area is documented in 

various Company exploration reports: 

The following is taken from the recent work by Solomon Resources Ltd (2007) and does not include 

work completed by Altan Rio from 2007 through 2010. 

 

Discovery 

 

The project area was initially acquired by application for and granting of mineral exploration licences in 

early 2004 by Gallant Minerals Ltd. (Chandmani Tolgoi 7338X and Yembuu Tolgoi 7340X) based on recognition 

of historical gold and copper occurrences. The project area was first visited by Greg Leonard, Enkhtuvshin, and 

Batmunkh in May 2004 and fourteen rock samples were collected from the Chandman area. A summary of the 

initial field visit is as follows: 

 

¶ Generally 1-3 meters thick, bedding concordant skarn zones were found in the KY prospect and three 

rock samples were collected from the narrow skarns. Skarn samples were containing up to 0.72 g/t gold 

and 0.61% copper. 

 

¶ A poorly exposed sheeted quartz-sulfide vein zone (8 x 30 m) was discovered in the Chandman Prospect 

area. The quartz veins occur as sheeted sets with individual veins 1 to 30 centimeters wide that locally 

contain visible gold, chalcopyrite, and copper carbonate staining. A selected sample which was taken 

from individual quartz-sulfide vein contained 70.3 g/t gold and 0.79% copper. A broad rock-chip sample 

taken cross the vein zone (~10 m long rock-chip) was found to contain 2.09 g/t gold and 0.02% copper. 

 

¶ Several quartz- sulphide veins hosted in QSP altered felsic volcanics were found in the Yembuu Tolgoi 

Prospect area. Six rock samples were collected from the prospect and a rock sample taken from 0.2 m 

wide and 10m long quartz-sulfide vein was found to contain 5.96 g/t gold. Another rock sample collected 

from a 60 m long by 3 m wide buck-quartz vein contained 0.39 g/t gold. 

 

Based on the encouraging results of first field visit, a decision was made in June 2004 to apply for additional 

mineral licenses in the surrounding areas of the 7338X and 7340X mineral licenses. The additional licenses 

(Jargalant-1 8018X and Jargalant-2 8017X) were granted late in July 2004. 

 

Second stage work 

The second field examination was completed by geologists Enkhtuvshin and Batmunkh in August of 2004 and 

thirty rock samples were collected in the Chandman area. A weakly quartz-sericite altered granite sill, intruded 

into meta-andesite tuff and lithic-tuff, was discovered in the northern Chandman prospect area. The granite sill 

strikes 330°NW and dips to the southwest parallel with the host rock and is approximately 3 km long and up to 

80-100 m wide. Sheeted quartz-sulphide vein zones were present along the granite sill and seventeen rock 

samples were collected from the quartz-sulfide veins and host granite sill. Samples collected from these veins 

contain up to 2.77 g/t gold. The average gold grade of eight samples distributed along 1km area in the central part 
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of the sill was found to be 0.76 g/t. Also, one single buck quartz vein (0.5-1 m x 6 m) hosted in fresh meta-

volcanic rocks was found 400 m west of the granite sill and contained 16.9 g/t gold. 

Follow up: mapping and sampling 

In July 2005, Solomon Resources optioned the property from Gallant Minerals (option terminated in 2007) and 

conducted a limited program of mapping and sampling over the most obvious gold prospect, Chandman, and also 

short visits were made to the Yembuu Tolgoi and Khavchig Yargait prospects. Geologist Batmunkh spent 

approximately ten days evaluating the Chandman area and a total of 32 rock and 28 trench samples were collected 

in 2005.  

The Chandman prospect area was mapped at a scale of 1:10,000 and one shallow trench was dug in the prospect. 

The trench was placed across the sheeted quartz vein zone which is located 500 m east of the granite sill. The 

trench intersected two vein zones: from 20.0 to 34.5 m assayed 14.5 m @ 0.48 g/t Au; and from 68.7 to 71.0 m 

assayed 2.3 m @ 2.57 g/t Au. 

Regional mapping was carried out by Solomon geologists. A total of 89,600 hectares were mapped at a scale of 

1:50,000 in the Chandmani area and 4,200 hectares were mapped at a scale of 1:25,000 in the Khavchig Yargait 

prospect. Most of the regional mapping work was completed during late June through early August and additional 

fill up mapping was done in late September through early October (2006). 

Aster VNIR images were used as a base for 1:50,000 and 1:25,000 scale mapping and field positions were 

determined with hand GPS units. The pixel size of the Aster VNIR image is 15 m and the image of the 

Chandmani area was projected into WGS84 datum and registered to the UTM grid system. Images at scale of 

1:50,000 and 1:25,000 were plotted in the field for the regional scale geological mapping and prospecting. 

A total of 51 rock samples were collected during the regional mapping and prospecting program. The Khuren 

Undur target area and numerous small skarn bodies were discovered and sampled during the regional prospecting. 

 

Stream sediment sampling 

A detailed stream sediment sampling program was carried out over the entire Chandman area and a total of 212 

stream sediment samples, including field duplicates, were submitted for assay. 

 

Stream sediment sampling sites were defined by Batmunkh and the field crew using Landsat and Aster images. 

The site coordinates were loaded into handheld GPS units to facilitate locating the proposed sites, then the 

sampling crews chose the actual sample locations based on local conditions. Samples were collected from the 

most recent channels in the drainages. Stream samples are all composite samples of at least two samples taken 

across the drainage channel several meters apart. Most of the stream beds were dry; the top 20-25 cm of material 

were discarded to minimize the most recent Aeolian and organic contamination. The samples were dried for 

several days in the field camp, and were then sieved on site to ï80 mesh. Solomon did some size fraction 

orientation tests on western Mongolian stream sediment samples in early 2006 and a ï80 mesh was found to be 

the most effective size fraction. 

SGS Mongolia assays all stream sediment samples received for gold by fire assay (FAE303) with atomic 

absorption (AA) finish, using a lower detection limit of 1 ppb gold. SGS utilized a 30 gram charge for fire assay. 

SGS Mongolia also assays all stream sediment samples received for copper by AAS finish (AAS40C), using a 

lower detection limit of 0.001% copper. SGS also prepared a 50 to 80 gram split of each sample and shipped this 

split to Chemex Labs, Vancouver, Canada. 

ALS-Chemex runs all soil samples for trace element concentrations for the following elements: Ag, Al, As, B, Ba, 

Be, Bi, Ca, Cd, Co, Cr, Cu, Fe, Ga, Hg, K, La, Mg, Mn, Mo, Na, Ni, P, Pb, S, Sb, Sc, Sr, Ti, Tl, U, V, W, and Zn. 

All elemental analysis was analyzed using ICP analysis. Additionally, every tenth sample is assayed for gold to 

provide a check on assay values reported by SGS Mongolia. Fire assay with AA finish was used for gold assays. 
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Soil sampling program 

 

Soil geochemical surveys were used to evaluate three prospects and a total of 247 soil samples were collected, 

including field duplicates: 

¶ Chandmani (120 samples) 

¶ Yembuu Tolgoi (72 samples) 

¶ Granite Stock of Khavchig Yargait prospect (54 samples) 

¶ Khuren Undur target area (1 sample) 

A grid was laid out in the field by handheld Garmin GPS. Two pits were dug at each sample site to a maximum 

depth of 70-80 cm or to the BC soil horizon transition ï whichever came first. Samples were collected from the 

base of each pit and screened to -12 mesh on site until a sample of approximately 1- 2 kg was obtained. Field 

notes were taken at each sample site which included information as to soil horizon, grain size, color, organic 

content, oxides, and float types, and UTM coordinates. The samples were dried for several days in the field camp, 

and were then sieved in the field to ï80 mesh with stainless steel screens. 

SGS Mongolia assayed all soil samples received for gold by fire assay (FAE303) with atomic absorption (AA) 

finish, using a lower detection limit of 1 ppb gold. SGS utilized a 30 gram charge for fire assay. SGS Mongolia 

also assayed all soil samples received for copper by AAS finish (AAS40C), using a lower detection limit of 

0.001% copper. SGS also prepared a 50 to 80 gram split of each sample and shipped this split to Chemex Labs, 

Vancouver, Canada. 

ALS-Chemex assayed all soil samples for trace element concentrations for the following elements: Ag, Al, As, B, 

Ba, Be, Bi, Ca, Cd, Co, Cr, Cu, Fe, Ga, Hg, K, La, Mg, Mn, Mo, Na, Ni, P, Pb, S, Sb, Sc, Sr, Ti, Tl, U, V, W, and 

Zn. All elemental determinations were by ICP analysis after aqua regia digestion. Additionally, every tenth 

sample is assayed for gold to provide a check on assay values reported by SGS Mongolia. Fire assay with AA 

finish was used for gold assays. The third pulp set is stored in Solomonôs storage in Ulaanbaatar. Soil 

geochemical sampling results are discussed under each prospect. 

Rock chip sampling 

 

A total of 255 rock and 150 continuous rock chip samples were collected from Chandman area during 2004-2006. 

Rock-chip samples were shipped to SGS Mongolia laboratory in Ulaanbaatar, Mongolia for analysis. At SGS 

Mongolia, rocks were crushed to nominal ï10 mesh (2 mm), then split out to 500 grams of material that were 

pulverized to ï75 µm. Following this, a second split of 50 to 80 grams was made from the ï75 µm pulp for 

shipment to Chemex Labs. The first pulp was used for gold and copper analysis by SGS and all unused portions 

retained for future analysis. SGS used fire assay with atomic absorption (AA) finish for gold analysis (FAE303), 

providing a lower detection limit of 1 part per billion (ppb) gold. SGS utilized a 30 gram charge for fire assay. 

Rock-chip sample pulps were sent to ALS-Chemex Labs in Vancouver, B.C., Canada, for trace element analyses. 

Chemex used ICP analysis for all elements except gold. A gold analysis was conducted using fire assay with AA 

finish on every tenth sample in order to provide a check for assays reported by SGS. 

Regional geology 

 

The following section is taken from Solomon Resources Ltd (2007) 

The Chandman area lies within the Khyargas Nuur sub-terrane of the Pre-Cambrian to Early Paleozoic ñLakeò 

Terrane by regional structural zone definition. The structure of the area can be described as NW trending antiform 

structures expressed by mountain range tops. Major regional northwest trending faults delineate the structural 

blocks in the Chandman area. 
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Proterozoic-Early Palaeozoic Terrane 

 

The oldest formation of the Chandman area is Pre-Cambrian to Early Cambrian Island Arc terrane units 

consisting of the Tsoluul (volcanic dominated) and Daagandel (sedimentary dominated) formations. Daagandel 

formation is conformably rest on the underlying Tsoluul formation and in some sections the Daagandel formation 

has a well-developed basal conglomerate. These two packages form NW and EW striking monoclines and 

syncline-anticline pairs. These rocks are most wide spread across the central and northern part of the Chandman 

area. 

¶ Pre-Cambrian (Vendian) to Early Cambrian Daagandel formation is approximately 1000-1500 m 

thick and consists of sandstones, meta-siltstone, pelite schist, limestone, and minor metavolcanics. 

The formation is conformable with the underlying Tsoluul formation. 

¶ Pre-Cambrian (Vendian) to Early Cambrian Tsoluul formation consists of dark green, green, dark 

grey meta-basalt, meta-andesite and their tuffs, tuff-conglomerates, and tuff breccias with lenses of 

marble, limestone, or meta-sandstones. The formation is 1500-2000 m thick. 

Mesozoic Terrain 

 

The Early Cretaceous Zereg Formation lake sediments of continental molasse-type are the latest sedimentary 

rocks deposited before the Quaternary in the Chandman area. The formation is 200-250 m thick, and occurs in the 

west and southwestern base of the Bumbat range and these depressions are controlled by regional faults and their 

splay faults. The package comprises grey, light grey color unconsolidated or weakly cemented conglomerate, 

sandstone, siltstone, poorly lithified green mudstone, and calcrete. 

 

Recent Terrain 

 

Alluvial sediments are found in the big valleys where they form terraces of up to 20 plus meters high. The age of 

these sediments are defined as Early Pleistocene and assigned to the Goshuu formation in accordance to previous 

researchers. The Goshuu formation consists of loose to poorly cemented boulders, cobbles, and pebbles with limy 

sand and sand matrix material. 

The Solomon work discovered newly classified sedimentary units as Middle Pleistocene formations in the 

northern part of the Chandman area. Also, two different sedimentary depositional systems are outlined in the 

following localities: 

¶ The glacier origin recessional and terminal moraine sediments are found at upper part of Byalzuukhai 

valley in south-west flank of the Bumbat ridge. This moraine sediment consists of boulders and 

cobbles with sandy clay matrix and forms small rolling hills. 

¶ The remnant terrace (5-10 m high) of alluvial cobbles, pebbles, gravels, and sand found at Yembuu 

Tolgoi prospect. 

Upper Pleistocene-Holocene formations consist of colluvium including poorly rounded pebbles, gravels, sand, 

and silt. Holocene alluvial sediments are outlined along stream drainages and narrower valleys, and consist of 

cobbles, pebbles, gravels, and sand. 

 

Intrusive Rocks 

 

Recent (2009-2010) age dating carried out by Altan Rio and referred to hereafter has considerably changed the 

geochronology set out below: 

The Middle Cambrian Khirgisnuur complex layered mafic intrusive was formed right after the Island Arc event 

and is early orogenic in origin. This intrusive complex consists of layered peridotite, pyroxenite, anorthosite, and  
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abbro-norite. The Khirgisnuur complex rocks are distributed in the southeast corner of the mapping area and 

intrude the Neoproterozoic to Early Cambrian age volcanic dominated Tsoluul formation. 

The next event after the Island Arc is an orogenic intrusive period, which is the Middle to Late Cambrian age 

Togtokhshil complex. The Togtokhshil complex rocks are most wide spread across the east and south part of the 

Chandman area. The complex consists of gabbro, diorite, quartz-diorite, granodiorite, plagiogranite, and granite. 

The complex has been divided into three intrusive phases: 

 

¶ 3rd Phase ï coarse to medium grained biotite, and biotite-amphibole granite, plagiogranite, 

 

¶ 2nd Phase ï medium grained quartz diorite to granodiorite 

 

¶ 1st Phase ï medium to fine grained diorite and gabbro 

 

The main characteristic of these intrusive rocks are the low potassium contents. The granitoids intrude the 

Proterozoic to Cambrian aged Tsoluul and Daagandel formations. The complex has been dated as Middle to Late 

Cambrian (K-Ar age dating 491-547 Ma). 

 

Subsequently, Late Ordovician(?) intrusive and latite series intrusive events took place in an active continental 

margin tectonic setting. The intrusives consists of diorite, monzo-diorite, alkaline granite, and dacite-rhyolite 

porphyries. The complex has been divided into three intrusive phases: 

 

¶ 3rd Phase ï coarse grained biotite bearing leuco-granite 

 

¶ 2nd Phase ï medium grained granodiorite and alkaline granite 

 

¶ 1st Phase ï medium grained diorite and monzo-diorite 

 

Sub-volcanic bodies of dacite porphyry, rhyolite porphyry, and granodiorite porphyry, which are included as the 

sub volcanic equivalent of 2nd and 3rd phases of Late Ordovician intrusive complex, are located near major 

faults. Late Ordovician(?) intrusives are distributed in the NE part of the Chandmani area and in the Khavchig 

Yargait prospect area and these rocks form skarn bodies at the KY prospect. The Late Ordovician(?) intrusive 

rocks intrude Tsoluul and Daagandel formations, and Togtokhshil complex granitoids. It has been regionally 

correlated with the Late Ordovician intrusive magmatism of the Lake zone (K-Ar age dating 410-445 Ma.; 

Kravtsev et al., 1989). 

The last intrusive event is the Middle to Late Devonian(?) Kharkhiraa complex and which has a typical 

continental late-orogenic magmatic signature. This intrusive complex formed as a sill or small stocks in and 

throughout the Chandman area and consists of granite and leuco-granite. The granite sill at the Chandman 

prospect and the sub-porphyritic granite stock at the KY prospect are part of the Devonian(?) Kharkhiraa complex 

intrusives. The complex has been age dated as Middle to Late Devonian(?) in age (K-Ar age dating 374 to 342 

Ma). The Kharkhiraa complex sills and stocks are intruded into all other intrusive complexes and the Proterozoic 

Daagandel and Tsoluul Formations. 

All of the above age dates for the intrusive rocks are questionable. 

Structures found along the east and west flanks of the Bumbat range are thought to play an important role in the 

regional geological setting of the area. The regional faults in the NE part of the Chandman area are right-lateral 

strike-slip faults. Major faults and their satellite and parallel faults outline the terrain blocks. The Proterozoic to 

Early Cambrian Tsoluul and Daagandel Formations form monoclines and small synclinal folds within these 

terrain blocks. 
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Geological Setting and Mineralization 

 

Regional Geology 

 

In terms of the regional tectonic structures, the Chandman-Yol Project area is located in the Khirgis Lake 

Subzone of the Lake Zone (island arc and active continental margin trend; see Tomurtogoo, 2005). Below (Figure 

3) is the tectonic model showing the distribution of island arc terrains in the Gobi-Altai region of western 

Mongolia. 

 
 

Figure 3. Tectonic and basement geological map of Mongolia (from Tomurtogoo, 2005) 

Generally, the Chandman-Yol area has a block-like geological structure, and is delimited by NW-SE striking 

major regional strike-slip faults. The transpressional tectonic situation forms a large uplifted, antiformal structure 

(dome) that lies along the Jargalant-Bumbat mountain range axis (Cunningham et al., 1996). 

Sedimentary Rock Sequence 

 

The Vendian-Lower Cambrian Tsoluul Formation which is up 2000 m in thickness, is represented in the 

Chandman-Yol area by dark green to grey metabasalt, meta-andesite, andesitic tuff, tuffaceous conglomerate, 

volcanogenic submarine breccia with weak hornfelsed limestone (partial marble) and meta-sandstone layers. The 

Tsoluul Formation is predominantly a marine volcanogenic dominated sequence of island-arc affinity. 

The Lower Cambrian Burgastai Formation which is up to 1500 m in thickness, lies conformably on the Tsoluul 

Formation, and consists of meta-volcanic rocks, tuffaceous limestone (i.e. limestone with mafic tuff interbeds), 

meta-sandstone and meta-siltstone. These meta-sedimentary rocks strike northwest-southeast.  The formation has 

a simpler structural pattern than the underlying Tsoluul Formation, forming single monoclines, anticlines and 

synclines. 

The Burgastai Formation is predominantly a tuff-limestone-sandstone (i.e. terrigenous) sedimentary rock 

sequence ï possibly of volcanic back-arc tectonic setting.  

400 km N 
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The younger rocks consist of: the Lower Cretaceous Zereg Formation (200-250 m in thickness) which is 

represented by grey molasse-type sedimentary rocks within a small, fault bounded intra-continental graben. The 

Zereg Formation accumulated in the southern and northern part of the Bumbat range area.  

Overlying this formation is the Lower  Pleistocene Goshuu Formation which forms low hills up to 20 m in 

height. It is represented by light grey, alluvial  gravel units, sandbeds, and limey-clay rich sediments.  

At the foot of the Bumbat mountain range there are minor units of pebble beds, sand-clay units of Pleistocene-

Holocene age, and younger Holocene age proximal sediments consisting of river and mountain debris flow 

gravels, pebbles, sand and sandstones. 

Intrusive rocks 

 

There are two phases of intrusive rocks in the Chandman-Yol area: 

1. Gabbro-diorite, diorite, and quartz-diorite.  

2. Quartz monzodiorite, granodiorite, and granite.    

Subvolcanic intrusions can be divided into three different ages by their cross-cutting relationships. The first is 

cutting Tsoluul, Burgastai Formation sedimentary rocks, covering several square km area and represented by 

trachydacite, and minor gabbro-diorite porphyry. The second phase is represented by porphyritic rhyodacite. The 

third phase consists of dykes that intersect both the sedimentary rocks and intrusive rocks. This phase is 

represented by highly variable felsic-intermediate-mafic dykes.  

Whole rock multi-element  assay results of the intrusive rocks of the KY complex at Chandman were studied by 

Kavalieris (2009) who interpreted the following: 

1. The lack of andesitic compositions suggests they are not typical island arc igneous suites. However, apart 

from high TiO2, the major element composition, and available trace element (Zr, Cr, Sc, Ni, Y, Ba) 

contents are compatible with calc-alkaline suites in island arc terrains Kavalieris summarises the data as 

medium K calc-alkaline volcanic suite and I-type magmas, the intrusive rocks are classified as quartz 

diorite and granodiorite in composition, and the volcanic rocks are classified as basaltic andesite and 

dacite. 

2. The calc-alkaline I-type intrusive suite (ilmenite-series) has good potential for hosting porphyry-style Cu-

Au mineralization and magnetite-Au skarn mineralization. 

Structure  

 

The Bumbat South and North regional faults, which strike to the NW-SE, together with subdued sinusoidal 

(?sinistral strike-slip) latitudinal faults striking east-west, and with parallel faults to the main NW-SE structures, 

play a major role in the overall geological and structural setting of the target area. 

 

The faults have an overall block-like structural pattern and appear to effect the distribution of the Vendian-Early 

Cambrian Tsoluul Formation, and the Early Cambrian Burgastai Formation.  

As compression and uplift affected the Gobi-Altaid terrain during the Late Cambrian, major thrust duplex 

structures developed around buttresses of Cambrian intrusive rocks. This has resulted in the tectonic setting seen 

today at Chandman-Yol: a combination of dextral strike-slip and reverse faulting. 

Age 

Recent work carried out in 2009 gave surprising age results for the mineralised granitic intrusion: 
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The rhenium-osmium (Re-Os) model age for molybdenite in sample AR30, quartz-molybdenite vein within 

granite at Chandman (the KY intrusion), was established to be 516.9±2.4 Ma: i.e., a Middle Cambrian age. A 

replicate analysis returned an age of 511.2 ± 2.4 Ma. This work was carried out by Geospec Consultants Ltd, 

Edmonton, Canada. 

There was only one sample for which the above rock age was determined, a float sample. 

In 2010 additional geochronological work was conducted on zircon grains in the various phases of the Chandman 

(KY) intrusion. SHRIMP U-Pb zircon dating on three granitoid samples (CH-6, CH-8, CH-10) from the 

Chandman property, Mongolia, was carried out at the SHRIMP-II facility, Centre for Isotope Research at 

VSEGEI St. Petersburg, Russia. The data show Upper Cambrian ~499 Ma (CH-10) to Lower Ordovician ~475 

Ma (CH-6, CH-8) concordia ages that represent the crystallization age of the respective samples (CERCAMS 

[private report], 2010). 

These preliminary geochronological results, with mineralization (molybdenite veining) showing apparent ages 

older than the enclosing intrusive rocks, are problematical and require further investigation.    

Property Geology 

At Chandman-Yol, epigenetic, porphyry copper-gold mineralisation, and strata-bound skarn copper-gold 

mineralisation related to Cambrian-aged granitic intrusions, and gold-copper mineralised fault zones are present in 

Cambrian-aged intrusives and Neoproterozoic wall rocks.  The Cambrian felsic, calc-alkaline intrusive rocks are 

emplaced along a >70 km strike length of Neoproterozoic to Early Cambrian aged island arc. Flysch and back-arc 

volcanogenic to terrigenic volcanic and sedimentary rocks including limestone are cut by strike-parallel and 

strike-oblique thrust and reverse faults resulting in the modern day basin and range topography that dominates this 

part of western Mongolia. 

More specifically, at the KY copper-gold bearing intrusive complex (an epizonal pluton zoned inward from 

gabbroic compositions to a core of granite and possible subvolcanic rhyolite), a large dome feature is developed. 

Outward from the dome feature the sedimentary (wall) rocks, particularly where they contain significant 

carbonate-bearing units, host copper-gold bearing skarns and lesser hornfelsed units. 

A series of minor-displacement NNW trending faults and fracture systems transect the KY intrusive complex, and 

may have been active during emplacement of the later phases of the pluton, as evidenced by copper mineralization 

occurring preferentially along dilational joints related to the NNW fractures. 

Mineralization  

Metallic mineralisation defined thus far at surface  (Altan Rio and previous workers)  and at depth by recent 

diamond drilling (Altan Rio, 2009-2010) consists of low to medium tenor copper and gold mineralisation, hosted 

by Neoproterozoic to Cambrian aged meta-volcanic and meta-sedimentary rocks, and Middle Cambrian aged 

calc-alkaline, I-type porphyritic granite intrusions in a complex structural setting.  Significant silver and zinc are 

present locally. 

Mineralised Zones 

 

The Khavchig Yargait (KY) prospect is located in the central-west part of the Chandman area held by Altan Rio, 

and is expressed by a number of sizeable copper-gold exoskarns, and an intrusive-related copper-gold system, 

which were re-discovered in 2006. 

The Khavchig Yargait occurrence was originally identified during the government funded 1:200,000 scale 

geological mapping in 1995 and the description of the Khavchig Yargait occurrence in the government mapping 

report is translated below: 



48 

 

¶ Late Cambrian age gabbro-diorite and quartz diorite intrusions intruded into Neoproterozoic to Cambrian 

age limestone and metamorphosed volcanic rocks; garnet-magnetite skarns were developed along the 

contact zone. 

¶ Within the occurrence area, five skarn bodies were identified and are located 250 m to 500 m apart. The 

individual skarn bodies are 1.5-3 m thick and up to 150-400 m long.  

¶ The reported mineralization of the skarn zones mainly consists of secondary copper oxides and carbonates 

along the fractures and disseminated chalcopyrite and pyrite in primary rock. The historical assay data 

show values of 0.2% Cu, 0.05% Ag and 0.5 g/t Au. 

Mineralised Skarns 

 

Numerous examples of magnetite rich, copper-gold bearing, epidote-calcic feldspar-garnet skarns are present at 

the KY prospect area. These exoskarns are found along the contact zone of the main Cambrian aged diorite 

intrusive, and sizeable skarn bodies are developed in the southeastern contact zone of the intrusive complex. 

Numerous small skarn bodies are distributed along the northwest and western contact zone of the dioritic 

intrusive. These skarns are formed along the contact zone between Neoproterozoic-Early Cambrian Dagaandel 

Formation carbonate-rich terrigenous sediments and Middle Cambrian (recent age dating carried out by Altan 

Rio) diorite and monzo-dioritic intrusive rocks. Many of the known calcic gold-bearing skarns are related to the 

monzodiorite intrusion and dioritic rocks, and monzodiorites at the KY prospect appear to be associated with gold 

mineralization. 

Depending on the mineralogy and mineralization KY skarns are classified as follows: 

¶ Calcic copper gold skarns: with strong mineralization of malachite, limonite, pyrite, chalcopyrite, and 

rarely with magnetite and garnet. 

¶ Iron skarn: with strong mineralization of magnetite, hematite, specularite, and minor sulfides and 

malachite. 

¶ Epidote skarn: with weak to moderate epidote alteration and greenish gray in color. 

Solomon geologists outlined seven main skarn bodies at the KY Skarn prospect area and cut continuous rock 

samples that produced several copper and gold intervals as shown in the table below. 

KY skarn channel sampling results (Solomon Resources) 

Zone 

Sample 

Line 

Number 

Sample 

Interval (m) 

Sample 

Width* 

(m) 

Weighted Average 

Cu (%) Au (g/t) 

KY Skarn 1 

Line 1  0.0-32.0 32.0 2.55 1.65 

Line 10  0.0-23.0 23.0 1.19 1.04 

Line 11  0.0-10.0 10.0 2.65 0.72 

Line 13  0.0-16.0 11.0 1.48 2.37 

Line 14  0.0-10.0 10.0 0.99 1.62 

KY Skarn 1a Line 9  0.0-15.0 15.0 0.42 0.54 

KY Skarn 2-Upper 

Line 2  10.0-45.0 35.0 0.38 0.80 

Line 3  0.0-25.0 25.0 0.47 0.50 

Line 5  130.0-142.0  12.0 1.62 1.30 

Line 8  77.0-87.0  10.0 0.25 0.21 

KY Skarn 2-Lower 

Line 4  0.0-34.0 34.0 0.23 0.33 

Line 5  63.0-83.0 20.0 0.20 0.33 

Line-8    10.0-15.0 5.0 0.17 0.23 

KY Skarn 3 Lines 6 and 7: All samples less than 0.03% Cu and 0.09 g/t Au; 
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Zone Sample 

Line 

Number 

Sample 

Interval (m) 

Sample 

Width* 

(m) 

Weighted Average 

however, Fe Average 35.6% over 56 m 

KY Skarn 4 Line 12  0.0-25.0 25.0 0.65 1.01 

KY Skarn 5 Line 16  0.0-16.0 16.0 1.02 1.36 

KY Skarn 6 Line 15  0.0-10.0 10.0 1.15 2.04 

KY Skarn 7 Line 17  0.0-15.0 15.0 1.14 1.04 

 

Note: *May not represent a true width 

KY Skarn 1 

The KY-1 exoskarn hosts the highest grade mineralization identified to date, assaying 2.55% copper and 1.65 g/t 

gold over an average sampled interval of 32 meters (see above results). The KY-1 exoskarn zone is strongly 

mineralized with malachite, azurite, chrysocolla, goethite, limonite, pyrite and chalcopyrite and extends over 150 

m down the slope of the hillside across a 20-25 m apparent width.  

 

KY Skarn 2 

The KY-2 exoskarn includes two parallel skarn layers located near the top of the ridge roughly 300 m above and 

400 m northeast of the KY-1 exoskarn. The KY-2 exoskarn is comprised of two sub-parallel skarn horizons 

developed adjacent to narrow diorite porphyry sills within limestone and calcareous siltstone. The 55-65 m wide, 

450 m long Upper KY-2 zone is comprised of sulphide-rich zones within a predominantly magnetite-hematite-

pyrite-chalcopyrite calc-silicate exoskarn. The Upper KY-2 exoskarn assayed up to a 1.62% copper and 1.30 g/t 

gold over 12 m apparent width. Developed within calcareous siltstone, the 20-50 m wide by 660 m long Lower 

KY-2 exoskarn is lower in sulphide content, averaging 0.23% copper and 0.33 g/t gold over 34 m apparent width. 

 

KY Skarn 3 

The KY Skarn 3 is 225 m by 50 m in diameter and crops out as a cap-like remnant on top of Devonian diorite 

intrusions, located on the topographic heights. The alteration is represented by strong magnetite, hematite, minor 

epidote, and pyroxene. Weak malachite mineralization is present in this skarn. Fourteen samples were taken out of 

two rock chip sampling lines across its length. For Lines 6 and 7 all samples were less than 0.03% Cu and 0.09 g/t 

Au, however Fe averaged 35.6% over a 56 m apparent width. 

 

Granite Stock 

 

The Granite Stock mineralisation (now called KY intrusion) was discovered in June of 2006 by Solomon 

geologists, and it is expressed by a weak to moderate altered and mineralized granite stock that is 1 by 1.6 km in 

diameter. 

 

The Granite Stock consists of fine grained, leuco-granite complex and is located about 2 km northwest of the KY 

exoskarn outcrops. 

    

A total of 38 rock samples were collected from the Granite Stock and surrounding host diorite zone. The assay 

results showed an average Au content of 0.28 g/t with the maximum assay of up to 2.45 g/t Au; copper values 

averaged 0.12% with the maximum up to 0.79% Cu. 

 

Deposit Types 

 

There are no defined mineral deposits discovered to date on the Chandman-Yol project area. Altan Rioôs 

exploration is seeking deposit types analogous to the Oyu Tolgoi porphyry and wall rock mineralised copper-gold 
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deposits in the South Gobi region of Mongolia, and skarn magnetite-copper-gold deposits analogous to the Cadia 

magnetite-copper-gold deposits in NSW, Australia. 

 

Exploration 

 

Surveys and Investigations 

 

Since the discovery and definition work by Solomon Resources, Altan Rio has carried out a thorough compilation 

and detailed re-assessment of all the previous work (summarized above). This comprises a data base containing 

ASTER-VNAR imagery, geology and geochemistry files, detailed lithological files, and topographical contour 

files. 

 

Altan Rio has commenced detailed, drill-based exploration at Chandman based on the assessment and 

interpretation of the initial surveys, developing drill targets with detailed structural mapping, trenching, rock 

sampling, systematic multi-element soil sampling surveys and ground electrical (IP) and magnetic surveys. An 

extensive regional scale ground magnetic survey has been completed and interpreted.  Soil sampling and ground 

magnetic surveys are still in progress. 

 

In summary: 

 

¶ The total number of soil samples taken at Chandman-Yol is 8,474, generally on either 200 x 200 m 

spacing or 100 x 100 m spacing, with a very small test grid at 50 x 50 m spacing over a small zinc 

occurrence.  The area covered is approximately 237.8 km
2
. 

¶ The total number of stream sediment samples is 371 with sample spacing varying from approximately one 

sample every 0.5 km
2
 to one sample every 2 km

2
, depending on drainage geometry and local 

geological/geomorphological factors. 

¶ The total number of rock chip grab samples taken at Chandman-Yol is 699. The spacing of rocks samples 

is based on geological outcrops and has neither regular spacing nor density.  

¶ A total of 690 m of trenching has been carried out within which rock channel samples have been taken on 

intervals generally varying from 1 m to 3 m length, depending on geology. 

¶ A total of 80.7 line km of IP has been completed, covering approximately 19.5 km
2
.  For 100 m dipole-

dipole IP, the lines are generally 300 m spaced; for 400 m dipole-dipole IP lines there are only two which 

cross at a 90 degree angle; for 100 m pole-dipole IP a grid was surveyed on 400 m line spacing. 

¶ A total of 2,825.3 line km of ground magnetics data have been collected on 200 m spaced lines with 25 m 

reading intervals along lines.  The coverage provided is approximately 565 km
2
. 

¶ A total of 5,167.7 m of diamond drilling has been completed in 17 holes.  

¶ Core sampling (as at 10 February 2011): total number of cut (half-core) samples is 1,708. Also 79 

standards plus 78 duplicate (quarter core) samples have been assayed. Core sampling was on intervals 

ranging from approximately 1 m to 3 m.  

Altan Rio has spent approximately US $2.77M on the projects since signing of the option agreement with Gallant. 

The costs are split approximately as follows: US $0.47M at Yol, US $2.30M at Chandman. The costs can be 

allocated as follows: ~36% on drilling; ~9% on geochemical analyses; ~8% on licence and permit fees; ~8% on 

geophysical surveys; and ~39% on salaries, consultants, travel, legal fees and other expenses directly related to 

the project area. An average value of 1,350 MNT per 1 USD has been used to compile costs shown above. 

Stream Sediment Geochemistry Sampling 
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Stream sediment sampling completed through 2010 has covered a large area of interest within and around the 

current licence package. A total of 371 samples have been collected and analysed. A number of anomalies of large 

scale appear in the multi-element data plots. The prominent anomalies include, from south to north,Tana, Bumbat, 

KY System and Takhilt. 

Soil Geochemistry Sampling 

 

Extensive multi-element soil geochemical surveys have been carried out by Altan Rio at Chandman-Yol. A total 

of 3868 soil samples have been taken and assayed for gold, copper, arsenic, silver, molybdenum and other path 

finder elements associated with hydrothermal, porphyry-related gold-copper mineralisation.  

 

Soil samples are collected by Altan Rio geological staff and located with handheld Garmin GPS units.  Samples 

are screened to -80 mesh in the field, or in the Ulaanbaatar warehouse when weather conditions deteriorate. 

 

Prior to late 2010, all soil samples were sent to American Assay Labs in Sparks, Nevada, USA, for conventional 

soil package consisting of 30 g Au fire assay (1 ppb detection limit), and 0.5 g aqua regia digestion followed by 

ultra trace ICP-MS for all other elements. 

 

Beginning in late 2010, in order to reduce turn-around time and overall costs, soil samples were analysed with 

handheld Innov-X Delta XRF analyser (Model # DP-4000; Serial # 510305; general product info at: 

http://www.innovx.com/).  

 

The Delta XRF analyser is constantly checked against pulps of known geochemical values and performs very well 

on the base metals (Cu, Pb, Zn, Fe); performance is also satisfactory on arsenic and molybdenum.  However, 

results for silver and gold are very noisy and unreliable, and thus are not used to generate anomaly maps. 

 

Tana Target 

 

The Tana target was identified with range-scale stream sediment sampling that showed coincident Au and Cu 

anomalies. Follow-up mapping and sampling showed the presence of narrow copper-stained veins and shears in 

meta-andesite, or ñgreenstoneò. Due to the confined and narrow nature of exposed mineralization, a tight-spaced 

50 x 50 soil grid was collected over the main target area. Samples were analyzed by the companyôs Delta XRF 

unit. 

A robust copper anomaly trending northerly and approximately 300 m wide and 1,700 m long was indicated. The 

anomaly contains all of the high-grade rock gold samples, and appears open to the north. 

 

There is possibly some down-slope movement of soils, and therefore geochemistry, likely exaggerating the width 

of the actual mineralized zone. 

 

Bumbat Target 

Following up range-scale stream sediment geochemical anomalies, a large recon soil grid on 200 x 200 m spacing 

was initiated in 2010 over the Bumbat target, in the central part of the Bumbat Range. In the 2007 through 2009 

seasons 868 soil samples were collected and analysed by AAL in Nevada. In 2010 an additional 947 soil samples 

were collected and analysed by the companyôs Delta XRF unit. 

 

A large (2.5 x 1 km) coherent copper anomaly was indicated in the northwest part of the grid, in geology 

dominated by diorites with local copper-stained fractures. 

 

Selected soil samples have been submitted to the laboratory for gold fire assay ï results pending. 

 

http://www.innovx.com/
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Additional follow-up work (mapping, soil and rock sampling) is planned. 

 

KY Complex Targets 

 

In the KY area of mineralized intrusions, skarns and structural zones, soil surveys have progressed in phases since 

the first soil lines collected by Solomon Resources in 2006. Altan Rio completed additional grid sampling in each 

of the 2007, 2008 and 2009 seasons. To date, a total of approximately 4,500 soil samples, varying from 100 x 100 

m spacing to 200 x 200 m spacing, define the geochemical systems present at the KY porphyry intrusion 

complex. 

A number of robust multi-element anomalies indicative of porphyry-related mineralization are present.  The main 

anomalies and target zones are: 

1. The porphyry target within the late-stage intrusive in the core of the KY composite intrusion where 

strongly elevated Cu, Au, Mo and As are present; 

2. Cu-Au bearing magnetite skarns around the periphery of the overall intrusive complex; 

3. The Del zone of structurally controlled garnet skarn Cu-Au-Ag mineralization; and 

4. The Khuush zone of quartz-sericite-pyrite altered monzonite-hosted Cu-Au-Mo mineralization. 

Takhilt Target 

The Takhilt target was identified in 2010 when the field team followed-up low- to moderate-level stream 

sediment geochemical anomalies. Following the anomalies up-drainage led to exposures of copper-stained skarns 

in siltstone and granitic intrusions (dikes?). 

Rock chip samples ranged in metal content up to 1.7 g/t Au and 0.6% Cu. The sparsely rock-sampled 

mineralization extends for about 500 m along a northeasterly strike direction. Much additional rock sampling is 

required and planned. 

Soil anomalies, based on 928 samples and preliminary Delta XRF analyses, are more extensive, associated with a 

poorly understood major structural zone that encompasses a large As anomaly to the east, and suggest that further 

basic ground work in the area could lead to the recognition of a significant copper-gold bearing zone. 

Rock Geochemical Sampling 

 

The rock sample data base consists of approximately 700 samples, compiled over the years since Solomon 

Resources (see above) began work in the mid 2000s. Altan Rioôs samples have been collected following standard 

field procedures, located with handheld Garmin GPS units, and analysed by commercial labs in Ulaanbaatar, 

including Stewart Group and SGS, using conventional fire assay for gold and aqua regia digest and ICP 

spectroscopy for other elements. 

The range-scale compilation maps here show that most of the rock sampling has been clustered in several areas of 

known mineralization, and that much sampling remains to be done. Individual anomaly areas with significant rock 

sample results are discussed below. 

Tana Target 

The Tana target was identified by following-up stream geochemical anomalies around the southern tip of the 

Bumbat Range. Field geologists located a number of narrow (<50 cm) copper stained quartz veins and shear 

zones, where Au values locally exceed 120 g/t. A total of 25 rock samples have been collected and analysed. The 

mineralization is apparently confined to a meta-andesite (greenstone-like) wedge caught between two granitic 

bodies. The veins and shears are likely in a Riedel-type strain system. Wall rock shows only weak alteration and 

generally is un-mineralized. 
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While bulk tonnage potential seems limited, the Au grades in numerous samples suggest the possibility for high-

grade selectively mineable bodies. Additional work is required and would consist of detailed IP surveys, 

trenching, and drilling several relatively shallow (300 m maximum) holes. 

Bumbat Target 

Rock sampling in the Bumbat target area is sparse, at just 200 samples over a very large area, and must be 

amplified in the coming field season(s). A few grab samples show highly elevated copper values associated with 

chalcopyrite veinlets in diorite. 

KY Intrusion area 

The most extensive rock sample data, 388 samples, occurs over the KY Intrusive system and immediate 

surroundings and shows broad anomalous (to potentially economic) copper and gold values, with associated 

silver, lead, zinc, molybdenum, and arsenic and antimony. 

Takhilt Target 

Rock sampling over the Takhilt zone remains very sparse, at 55 total samples, and requires additional efforts 

during the coming field season(s). Limited data shows that Au grades reach 1.7 g/t and copper values reach 0.6% 

in select rock grab samples. 

Induced Polarisation (IP) survey 

 

In 2009 Altan Rio carried out detailed ground electrical surveys using the Induced Polarisation (IP) method at 

Chandman. A total of 36.5 line km of IP has been completed across the main KY intrusive complex (pole/pole 

and dipole/dipole arrays). The contractor for this work was the Mongolian group Erdenyn Erel. The time domain 

induced polarisation (TDIP) and SP surveys were carried out on exploration licence 7340X (Yembuu). The 

survey was designed to locate copper bearing mineralisation to a depth of 600 m. The surveys were carried out on 

grid lines spaced at 400 m and also on orthogonally related lines. The IP survey used a pole-pole electrode array 

with an electrode spacing of 200 m. The depth of penetration for the IP survey was estimated to be up to 1000 m. 

One reconnaissance IP line, using a dipole-dipole set up, was run over the Range Front structural zone. 

All of the data has been processed by Zonge Engineering and plotted on IP (chargeability) and resistivity 

pseudosections, together with inversion models for chargeability and resistivity. Horizontal and depth plan 

projections have also been plotted. 

Zonge (Nevada) reviewed the data and while generally confirming the overall resistivity and chargeability zones, 

found the data to be sub-standard in terms of their internal quality measures. 

Several IP chargeability features were drilled and only one anomaly was found to be associated with significant 

sulphides. 

In 2010 Altan Rio contracted Chet Lide of Zongeôs Sparks, Nevada, office to visit the Chandman project and set 

up an IP survey with the aim of higher quality IP results, and with good depth penetration. Two separate arrays 

were designed and surveyed by Erdenyn Erel geophysicists using the Zonge GDP-32 receiver: 

1. An array of nine 300 m spaced lines run with 100 m dipole-dipole configuration across the main portion 

of the Range Front area Del and Khuush zones (Lines 14 through 22); and 

2. Two long, perpendicular, deep-looking 400 m dipole-dipole lines across the entire KY intrusive system 

looking for deep sulfide bodies (Lines 8b and 23). 

The results, again modelled and plotted by Zonge, were interpreted by Kelly Cluer, David Bond (both Altan Rio 

employees) and Chet Lide. 
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Range Front 100 m dipole fences 

The Khuush Zone geophysical and geochemical anomaly is coincident with WNW-ESE trending monzonite dike 

exposures, as well as a few possible granodioritic and dioritic occurrences within a belt of previously mapped 

faults of similar trend. These dikes intrude a metasedimentary sequence similar to the Del Zone except fewer 

limestones and more conglomerates and mafic porphyries are present. The western exposures of monzonite often 

appear to be sheared with strong limonite staining, white sericite, and local quartz veining and disseminated 

oxidized pyrite. Traces of malachite were found along the dikesô contact with metasedimentary rock and 

gossanous pockets were found in one small area in what appears to be calc-silicate hornfels or skarn. Dike 

exposure and alteration lessens eastward as relief increases. An epidote halo appears to envelope the mineralized 

dikes and anomalous zone. 

Much of the Del geophysical anomaly is likely skarn mineralization (as encountered in CH-09) but supportive 

surficial exposure is minimal, although calc-silicate hornfels development along preferred beds and small 

occurrences of disseminated chalcopyrite are numerous. Minor amounts of disseminated pyrite and pyrrhotite are 

common. The metasedimentary host rocks are muddy siltstones, mudstones, limestones, sandstones, and 

conglomerates with local basaltic or andesitic porphyries. These rocks are in contact with the large dioritic to 

granodioritic body to the north. From the mapping conducted so far, most of the bedding is high angle upright to 

overturned. Based on preliminary examination, it appears the beds are likely younger going westward. No 

evidence of significant folding has been noted, even in areas previously mapped as faulted, although there are 

zones of strong brittle fracturing. It is unclear why the chargeability anomaly abruptly ends between Ch/Res lines 

13 and 18E, and what controls the anomalyôs gentle dip to the NE across NNW high angle bedding. It has been 

assumed that there is a structural explanation for both and hopefully additional mapping will shed some light on 

this. 

Note that the planned holes from 2010 still remain mostly planned as the 2010 drilling program only partially 

tested anomalies on lines 13, 16, 18, and 22. The highest chargeability anomalies in the Del zone were not drilled, 

nor was the 2+ km long high chargeability anomaly at Khuush. 

Deep-looking 400 m dipole lines 

The central intrusive area exhibits high chargeability features at depth which appear to have the configuration of 

porphyry copper-style sulfide mineralization. This interpretation is supported on the surface by concentric 

patterns of intrusives and alteration over the area of the geophysical anomaly along with mineralization 

occurrences and arcuate dike patterns. In plan view, the anomalous chargeability zone has a C configuration that 

is moderate to deep below surface on the north and northwestern portions, and shallow to moderate in the 

southern lobe. 

Ground Magnetic Surveys 

 

Altan Rio has carried out extensive and detailed ground magnetic surveys at Chandman-Yol Since 2007, a total of 

2,325 line km of grid ground magnetic has been completed as at February 1, 2011. During 2007-2008 the ground 

magnetic survey covered 180.70 km², during 2009 a further 56.00 km² was completed, and during 2010 an 

additional 1,233 km
2
 was completed. Total ground magnetic coverage is ~465 km². 

The work was completed by MonMap Engineering (Ulaanbaatar) using modern and well-maintained Scintrex 

magnetometers. 

Zonge (Nevada) has performed continual quality verifications on the raw data and plotted the data using various 

standard filtering techniques. 

Three separate blocks of magnetics data are now available for interpretation, and these are discussed below, from 

south to north.   
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Tana - Bumbat  block 

In the Tana and Bumbat target areas, the most prominent magnetic features are a large high magnetic feature in 

the core of the Bumbat regional geochemical anomaly and a pronounced low magnetic zone directly associated 

with the Tana zone of high-grade veins and shears. 

At Bumbat there is a prominent arcuate feature >8 km long that coincides in a general way with a contact between 

gabbro-diorite (very high mag) and diorite (lower mag). 

The Tana mineralization as currently known is confined to a broad linear magnetic low zone along the flanks of 

the southern spur of the Bumbat Range. Several traverses have been completed across the magnetic low north of 

the Tana occurrence, but geological exposures are poor due to slope debris and alluvial cover. However, outcrops 

that were visible did not show any significant alteration. 

Takhilt block  

At Takhilt the magnetics show a prominent northeast trending break between major magnetic high anomalies, the 

break being interpreted as a large extensional structure across the dominant northwesterly grain of the Bumbat 

Range. Geochemical anomalies (Cu, As, Pb) show a strong spatial association with the magnetic breaks. 

KY Intrusion block  

The KY Intrusive complex area shows a distinct ring-shaped magnetic feature with high rims and a low interior 

zone. This pattern is typical of porphyry systems and often represents the magnetic destructive argillic alteration 

zone (low mag core) surrounded by magnetite enrichment in peripheral skarns (magnetic high halo). 

 

 

Drilling 

 

Type and Extent of Drilling 

 

Prior to Altan Rio entering the Chandman property in 2007, no previous drilling had been carried out on the 

copper-gold targets. During 2009 a modest first-pass diamond drill program was completed, mainly focussed on 

the combined geological-geochemical-geophysical (magnetic and IP) targets covering the broad area centred on 

the KY skarn zone and the Middle Cambrian aged granite-granodiorite intrusion complex. 

A total of ten (10) diamond drill holes (HQ, NTW, and BTW core size) for a total meterage of 3098.30 were 

completed in 2009. The drilling contractor was Kluane International Drilling Mongolia LLC, based in 

Ulaanbaatar. Due to the steep topography, lack of vehicle access, and environmental considerations the drilling 

equipment used was man-portable, and a team of up to 45 men were employed by Altan Rio for a period of 70 

days. 

Average drill-hole depths were 310 m, and several holes were put down to depths beyond 400 m (the deepest hole 

DDH CH-06 went to 499.87 m). This was a remarkable achievement given the location and access to the sites, the 

general lack of drilling water, and the broken nature of the ground. Core recoveries were generally high, and 

always acceptable. 

The 2009 drilling summary is given below together with averaged gold and copper assay results (this data was 

produced by Mr. Kelly Cluer and Mr. Ch. Enkh-Amgalan, both full time employees of Altan Rio Mongolia and 

both of whom have appropriate experience in the style of mineralisation encountered at Chandman).  

In 2010 Altan Rio drilled seven (7) diamond drill holes (CH-11 through CH-17) for a total of 2,069.4 m.  The 

drilling was conducted by Kluane using the same gear and crews as in 2009. The holes were aimed at structurally 

controlled mineralization in the newly defined Del and Khuush zones along the southwest margin of the KY 

intrusive complex, and one hole (CH-16) was drilled into the upper portions of the IP-imaged deep sulfide shell of 

the KY porphyry intrusion. 
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Average hole depth was 296 m. The drill program encountered many difficulties due to late season freezing 

conditions, lack of support from the drilling contractor, and unusually bad ground conditions ï especially in the 

Khuush zone, where due to clay-filled gouge zones none of the holes penetrated deep enough to test the targeted 

IP features. 

The 2010 drilling summary is given below together with averaged gold and copper assay results (this data was 

produced by Mr. Kelly Cluer, Mr. David Bond and Mr. E. Purevbat, all full time employees of Altan Rio 

Mongolia and all of whom have appropriate experience in the style of mineralisation encountered at Chandman).  

Results 

 

The Phase I drill program of 10 holes for 3,098.3 meters was completed on 24 September 2009. All but one of the 

holes (CH-03) encountered significantly elevated copper and gold values, with exceptional results from holes CH-

09 and CH-10 indicating a new discovery in this large system of intrusion-related copper-gold mineralization. 

Core recoveries were uniformly in the high 90%s. 

Significantly, most holes drilled into the KY intrusion showed long intervals of elevated copper and gold values 

(though below economic thresholds) indicating the presence of a large mineralized system 

CH-09, the only hole drilled into a structural (thrust fault) zone along the range front west of the central KY 

intrusion, where strong IP chargeability anomalies were identified, penetrated a sequence of oceanic mudstones 

and siltstones with local mafic volcanics and exhalative silica horizons that are common around various 

volcanogenic massive sulfide systems. Lower in the hole, between 211.84 and 370.57 meters, several thick skarn 

zones were encountered with locally significant amounts of chalcopyrite at 246.49-251.78 meters, 254-254.83 

meters, and 260.18-266.45 meters. These occur in marbleized to calc-silicate altered limestones and calcareous 

mudstones. The skarns are largely composed of garnet with diopside, epidote, and calcite. 

A 32.13 meter interval in the CH-09 skarn zone assayed 1.49 g/t gold, 0.60% copper, and 8.07 g/t silver, 

constituting a new discovery in western Mongolia. This is a significant intersection that includes a higher grade 

interval of 10.39 meters averaging 2.71 g/t gold, 0.91% copper, 12.11 g/t silver. This 2+ km long zone is open in 

all directions and will require significant follow-up geophysics and drilling. 

CH-10, the final hole of Phase I, was drilled in the southeastern skarn zone north of CH-03. It penetrated a thick 

section of magnetite-rich skarn of garnet and other fine grained calc-silicates such as diopside and epidote with 

possible idocrase and zoisite from 20.30 to 32.00 meters. Chalcopyrite is present in significant quantities along 

with pyrrhotite, and pyrite. Minor disseminated chalcopyrite is visible in other sections of the hole and in 

particular was noted in a possible intermediate sill-like crystal rich igneous rock that appeared to be 

contemporaneous with the silicated sedimentary rocks. Chalcopyrite was also noted in younger crosscutting, 

weakly chloritic, granitic dikes. 

In the magnetite skarn zone of CH-10 a 10.75 meter interval assayed 0.99 g/t gold and 0.65% copper, confirming 

the overall grades and thicknesses originally mapped at surface. This zone is open to the north and further drilling 

is warranted. 

The intervals described in CH-09 and CH-10 are thought to represent approximate true thickness / width. 

All copper and gold results for 2009 drilling are summarized in the table below. 

Copper Intercept (>0.1 %) 

Gold Intercept (>0.2 g/t) 

Hole ID 
T.D. 

(m) 

Az 

(°) 

Dip 

(°) 

Easting 

(UTM, m) 

Northing 

(UTM, m) 

Elevation 

(m) 

From 

(m) 

To 

(m) 

Width 

(m) 
Grade 

CH-01 

Skarn 
150.88 90 -45 490788 5248045 2064 

33.00 

33.00 

47.40 

34.70 

14.40 

1.70 

0.10 % 

0.29 g/t 

CH-02 

Skarn 
201.07 20 -45 490703 5247835 1963 

71.20 

89.80 

153.45 

73.75 

92.80 

156.45 

2.55 

3.00 

3.00 

1.07 g/t 

0.59 g/t 

0.21 g/t 
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Copper Intercept (>0.1 %) 

Gold Intercept (>0.2 g/t) 

Hole ID 
T.D. 

(m) 

Az 

(°) 

Dip 

(°) 

Easting 

(UTM, m) 

Northing 

(UTM, m) 

Elevation 

(m) 

From 

(m) 

To 

(m) 

Width 

(m) 
Grade 

CH-03 

Skarn 
170.69 135 -45 491091 5248353 2296 No significant results 

CH-04 

Intrusive 
397.77 238 -54 490246 5249084 2007 

104.55 

98.45 

223.20 

291.90 

383.35 

106.20 

99.35 

225.90 

293.90 

386.35 

1.65 

0.90 

2.70 

2.00 

3.00 

0.14 % 

0.83 g/t 

0.33 g/t 

0.60 g/t 

0.44 g/t 

CH-05 

Intrusive 
400.81 58 -58 490757 5249404 2320 

133.70 

341.35 

136.70 

344.35 

3.00 

3.00 

0.50 g/t 

0.20 g/t 

CH-06 

Intrusive 
499.87 238 -65 490770 5249885 2463 

109.90 

127.00 

Including 

130.00 

185.85 

242.25 

263.65 

112.60 

147.35 

 

132.35 

187.65 

245.00 

266.65 

2.70 

20.35 

3.00 

2.35 

1.80 

2.75 

3.00 

0.26 % 

0.12 % 

0.54 % 

0.20 g/t 

0.49 g/t 

0.25 g/t 

0.60 g/t 

CH-07 

Intrusive 
400.81 238 -59 490946 5250465 2309 

47.70 

76.90 

142.70 

142.70 

50.70 

79.60 

144.25 

144.25 

3.00 

2.70 

1.55 

1.55 

0.38 g/t 

0.29 g/t 

0.98 g/t 

0.11 % 

CH-08 

Intrusive 
370.33 238 -45 489556 5249576 1983 

195.15 

246.85 

279.05 

330.45 

198.15 

251.05 

282.05 

333.45 

3.00 

4.20 

3.00 

3.00 

0.38 g/t 

0.58 g/t 

0.21 g/t 

1.22 g/t 

CH-09 

Trust 

fault 

350.52 212 -72 487973 5248849 1924 

246.49 

254.00 

260.18 

274.04 

246.49 

254.00 

260.18 

251.78 

254.83 

270.57 

278.83 

254.83 

270.57 

5.29 

0.83 

10.39 

4.58 

5.29 

0.83 

10.39 

2.48 g/t 

1.08 g/t 

2.71 g/t 

1.15 g/t 

1.44 % 

0.93 % 

0.91 % 

CH-10 

Skarn 
155.45 70 -60 491179 5248477 2333 

20.30 

57.15 

137.75 

20.30 

57.15 

137.75 

144.70 

153.00 

31.05 

59.90 

141.00 

31.05 

59.90 

141.00 

147.50 

155.45 

10.75 

2.75 

3.25 

10.75 

2.75 

3.25 

3.00 

2.45 

0.99 g/t 

0.21 g/t 

0.27 g/t 

0.65 % 

0.28 % 

0.21 % 

0.12 % 

0.12 % 

Total 3,098.30         
 

 

 

Collar coordinates by handheld Garmin GPS unit, average of multiple readings 

Copper Assay by Stewart Group, Ulaanbaatar 

Gold Assay by SGS, Ulaanbaatar 

 

In late August 2010 the company initiated diamond core drilling in the highly prospective Khuush target, and 

follow-up drilling of the 32.13 m intercept of 1.49 g/t gold and 0.6% copper previously reported in hole CH-09 in 

the Del structure. In total seven holes for ~2,070 m were drilled, consisting of three holes (CH-11, 12, 13) in the 

Del zone, three holes in the Khuush zone (CH-14, 15, 17), and one hole targeting a deep IP anomaly in the 

hypothesized sulfide shell of the KY porphyry target. Core recoveries were high in all holes except those drilled 

in the Khuush zone (see discussion below). 

Del zone.  Assay results were received for hole CH-11 completed to a depth of 348 m in a NW extension of the 

Del zone, 600 m from CH-09. No significant values of gold or copper were reported. 
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The upper portion of this hole consists of siltstone, mudstone, and basalt with fine grained pyritic intervals 

estimated to be up to 1% sulfide. Based on occurrence, the pyrite seems to be responsible for the chargeability 

anomaly and due to the finely dispersed nature could be in higher concentrations than what is readily apparent 

visually. The lower carbonate sequence has only trace amounts of pyrite.   

There are epidote and garnet lenses present but only trace pyrite and no chalcopyrite associated with them. Light 

colored massive diopside hornfels are common and most plentiful in the lower carbonate-rich sections. 

The disseminated sulfide present in the upper siltstone, mudstone, and basalt is the only feature that seems to 

account for the chargeability anomaly. 

Although shearing and faulting is present in the hole, especially in the upper portions, the attitude of the structures 

is not clear from what has been mapped at the surface within the surrounding terrain. 

Hole CH-12 targeted soil geochemical anomalies 300 m southeast along strike from the CH-09 intersection and 

was completed to 315 m depth.  No significant sulfide zones were intersected in the core. 

This hole went through a 20 m section of magnetite and hematite-rich, garnet, diopside, and epidote skarn 

between granite and a sliver of siltstone before continuing into granodiorite along the southern contact of the main 

intrusive body. The magnetite-hematite skarn seems to correlate with a chalcopyrite and Cu oxide occurrence that 

was previously trenched. No chalcopyrite was noted in the drill core skarn. 

South of the contact with the main intrusive body the hole penetrated predominantly siltstone, mudstone, and 

sandstone with only minor limestone and basalt. The lower section contains more diopside hornfels which likely 

correlates with a WNW-ESE zone of marble and hornfels with spotty pods of garnet and epidote skarn with local 

occurrences of Cu oxides and chalcopyrite at surface exposures. 

The lower portion of the hole encountered a fault zone with clay gouge that runs parallel with the core axis. This 

fault appears to coincide with what is believed to be a WNW-ESE striking fault that dips steeply SW. Support for 

such a structure seems to be apparent in the resistivity profiles. The fault is not mineralized. 

Assay results from samples collected from exposures of garnet-epidote+/-actinolite skarn south of CH-12 were 

found to be surprisingly anomalous in gold and copper. Although copper and iron oxides are visible, metallic 

mineralization is not overly abundant in outcrop. It is now believed this zone, which lies within the Del gold soil 

anomaly, is on strike with the skarn penetrated by CH-09 and is the southwestern surface expression of the same 

skarn zone. As CH-12 did not encounter sulfide-bearing skarns, this would suggest the skarn zone is virtually 

vertical here and similar to what is now interpreted for CH-09. 

Hole CH-14 was aimed to test the 200+ m offset down-dip extension of CH-09, but to a total depth of 414 m did 

not intersect sulfide mineralized skarn. 

This hole penetrated granodiorite and granite of the main intrusive body to a depth of 185 m. The phaneritic 

intrusives also have mafic to intermediate aphanitic dikes and local basalt occurrences. Below 185 m the rock is 

predominately mudstone and siltstone but dikes are common. The metasedimentary rocks commonly contain 

lenses of epidote and garnet. Pyrite occurs only in trace amounts. 

The fact that drill hole CH-14 did not encounter sulfide-bearing skarn mineralization in the bottom of the hole 

suggests the Cu-Au skarn in CH-09 is steeper than previously thought. There are several faults present within 

both CH-09 and CH14 that appear to be relatively low angle as originally interpreted from the geophysical data 

and CH-09 drill core. However, they do not appear to control the skarn mineralization. One such fault and shear 

zone in the upper portions of the holes is believed to lie at the base of the intrusive between CH-09 and CH-14 

and separates the intrusive from the metasedimentary units. Faults encountered in the upper portion of CH-14 are 

probably vertical, which is also reinforced by the resistivity and chargeability data. The strong chargeability 

anomaly, however, cannot be readily explained by features noted in the drill core. Even though the upper portion 

of CH-09 has finely disseminated pyrite and the lower portion has sulfide-bearing Cu-Au skarns, the sulfide 
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content is very low and CH-14 has only minute traces of pyrite. Neither graphite nor extensive clay zones are 

present in CH-09 or CH-14 that could account for a high chargeability response. 

The conclusion of the Del zone drilling is that these skarns, like skarns elsewhere, are sporadic and discontinuous. 

More mineralization could exist around CH-09 and in similar geological/geophysical settings, but tighter spaced 

drilling (perhaps on 100 m centers) would be required to achieve intersections with reasonable success rates. 

Khuush zone.  Drilling was very difficult due to massive clay altered zones in Khuush and freezing temperatures 

which negatively impacted our drill water supply. The massive zones of clay alteration are a sign of intense 

alteration. However, due to topographic considerations and the dip of target horizon, drilling was unable to 

actually test the IP features with associated copper-gold-molybdenum anomalies.  These zones will have to be 

drilled in 2011 with larger drill equipment.   

Hole CH-13 in the Khuush zone was lost at 203 m, just above the targeted IP anomaly, in a clay altered zone of 

fault gouge. 

The target was re-drilled with hole CH-15 on a slightly steeper angle, which was lost in the same zone of clay 

alteration at 165 m. The small man-portable drill was basically unable to penetrate this zone nor to even continue 

rotating the drill string. 

The mineralization encountered in holes CH-13 and CH-15 is disseminated pyrite largely confined to altered 

monzonite and clayey fault zones in the lower portions. Locally some of the metasedimentary and volcanic rocks 

are altered and mineralized as well. The alteration consists of sericite, chlorite, and epidote with local silica and 

potassic feldspar. Anomalous copper up to 0.11% is present. Gold is nil.  Both holes had to be terminated 

prematurely due to broken ground conditions. Drilling appears to have reached only the extreme upper portion of 

the chargeability anomaly. The alteration and anomalous copper sulfidation exhibited in these shallow holes 

suggests excellent potential for significant mineralization deeper in the system. The fault structures penetrated are 

believed to be gently north dipping within the hanging wall of the WNW-ESE trending Khuush structural zone. 

The final drill attempt in Khuush was hole CH-17 which was collared immediately in the hangingwall of the 

sericite-sulfide altered monzonite body in the core of the Khuush zone, but was similarly lost at 101 m in intense 

clay alteration and fault gouge. This hole did intersect anomalous copper up to 0.13% in the hangingwall 

propylitic alteration halo, in six separate zones from 9.3 m to 91.15 m down hole, and thus indicated the hole was 

headed in the right direction. 

CH-17 probably penetrated the hanging wall of the same WNW-ESE trending Khuush fault structures as those 

seen in CH-13 and CH-15. Pyritic mineralization is present within monzonite, diorite, granite, and the clayey fault 

structures. The mineralized rock is chloritic with sericitic areas and local weak to moderate silicification. This 

hole also suggests there is a significant sulfide-rich system at depth. 

KY Porphyry zone.  As usual, the most interesting hole of the 2010 program was one of the last drilled. CH-16 

was aimed at the upper reaches of a deep-seated IP chargeability feature forming part of an apparent shell 

arrangement around the porphyry intrusion core at depth. The hole was completed to a depth of 524 m, the limit 

of the man-portable drill. 

The rock types encountered were granite, granodiorite, and diorite with a few rhyolite dikes. A marked structural 

zone was crossed at 469 m, below which strong potassic alteration (biotite dominant) and sulfide stockworking 

became much more abundant, and continued to the bottom of the hole. Individual assays in the 55+ m wide 

alteration zone ranged up to 0.28% copper and 1.5 g/t gold; arsenic and silver were significantly elevated. It 

appears that the drill hole just pierced the outer margins of one of the large high-amplitude IP features of the 

hypothesized ñsulfide shellò. 

The strongest hydrothermal alteration in the upper portion of CH-16 is in the form of quartz and pyrite veinlet 

selvages where anomalous gold up to 0.61 ppm and copper up to 1,300 ppm is present. 
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Hydrothermal alteration and mineralization, indicative of a porphyry copper system, lies in the bottom portion of 

the hole. From 469.3 to 484.5 m the alteration consists of moderate sericitic and chloritic alteration that is weakly 

potassic. From 475.5 m to 484.5 the alteration is weakly sericitic, chloritic, and potassic with spotty anomalous 

gold up to 1.5 ppm and copper up to 761 ppm. Below 484.5 m the rock exhibits moderate potassic alteration 

(locally very strong) with lesser sericitic and chloritic alteration and much more extensive chalcopyrite and pyrite 

mineralization in the form of veinlets and disseminations.  Chalcocite and magnetite were also noted. Assays 

below 484.5 m had highs of 2,754 ppm copper and 0.77 ppm gold. The increasing porphyry-style hydrothermal 

alteration with copper and gold mineralization in the lower portion of the hole strongly suggests the hole has 

penetrated the outer fringes of a copper and gold-rich porphyry sulfide shell. 

This hole (CH-16) fundamentally proves the conceptual interpretation of the deep-looking IP profiles (i.e. that a 

porphyry-type sulfide shell exists in the subsurface), as it is now known that the metal assemblage of interest is 

present at depth in the realm of some very large (600 m wide x 1,000+ m high) unexposed and untested 

chargeability anomalies. 

All copper and gold results for 2010 drilling are summarized in the table below. 

Hole ID 
T.D. 

(m) 

Az 

(°) 

Dip 

(°) 

Easting 

(UTM, m) 

Northing 

(UTM, m) 
Elev (m) 

Copper Intercept (>0.1 %) 

Gold Intercept (Ó0.2 g/t) 

From (m) To (m) Width (m) Grade 

CH-11 

Del 
348.00 210 -45 487525 5249303 1707 No significant results 

CH-12 

Del 
315.35 210 -54 488290 5248859 1989 No significant results 

CH-13 

Khuush 
202.80 210 -46 488183 5247509 1898 No significant results 

CH-14 

Del 
414.00 210 -60 488094 5249060 1855 No significant results 

CH-15 

Khuush 
164.65 210 -55 488183 5247509 1898 144.65 147.90 3.05 0.11 % 

CH-16 

Porphyry 
524.00 56 -53 489786 5249091 1878 

195.80 

335.15 

484.50 

495.50 

26.55 

47.50 

229.90 

249.75 

307.95 

316.95 

435.35 

476.50 

481.50 

498.50 

522.50 

197.10 

336.75 

490.50 

496.50 

27.55 

49.30 

232.85 

252.05 

310.95 

319.95 

438.65 

477.50 

482.50 

501.50 

524.00 

1.30 

1.60 

6.00 

1.00 

1.00 

1.80 

2.95 

2.30 

3.00 

3.00 

3.30 

1.00 

1.00 

3.00 

1.50 

0.13 % 

0.10 % 

0.14 % 

0.11 % 

0.22 g/t 

0.42 g/t 

0.26 g/t 

0.46 g/t 

0.61 g/t 

0.22 g/t 

0.25 g/t 

0.49 g/t 

1.50 g/t 

0.39 g/t 

0.38 g/t 

CH-17 

Khuush 
100.60 0 -90 487909 5247461 1822 

9.30 

24.40 

46.10 

76.60 

82.65 

88.60 

11.80 

32.00 

48.75 

79.50 

84.20 

91.15 

2.50 

7.60 

2.65 

2.90 

1.55 

2.55 

0.13 % 

0.10 % 

0.10 % 

0.11 % 

0.10 % 

0.11 % 

Total 2,069.40          

 

Collar coordinates by handheld Garmin GPS unit, average of multiple readings 

Copper and Gold Assay by Stewart Group, Ulaanbaatar 
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Sample Preparation, Analysis and Security 

 

Drill Core 

 

Altan Rio carried out diamond drill core sampling by cutting the core (diamond saw) as marked by the site 

geologist based on geological and mineralisation observations (thus the irregular sample intervals).  

The whole drill core was logged (geological and geotechnical, together with magnetic susceptibility testing) on 

the site at Chandman. The drill core was systematically photographed (wet) at Chandman base camp, and sample 

intervals were marked up by aluminium tags stapled to the core trays. 

In 2009 the whole drill core (boxed and secured) was taken by truck to Ulaanbaatar, delivered to the Altan Rio 

core storage facility, and then split by core saw along the drill core axis. In 2010 the whole drill core was 

delivered to Chandman camp under the supervision of Altan Rio geologists and split at camp by diamond saw 

along the core axis. 

Altan Rio geologists insert standards and duplicates (1/4 re-sawn core) into the sample sequence. Drill core 

samples, standards and duplicates were then delivered to an independent lab in Ulaanbaatar for preparation and 

analysis. 

Rock Samples 

 

Rock sampling has been largely conducted on a grab sample basis, but with several areas of systematic hand-cut 

trench sampling on 1 to 3 meter intervals. Rock samples generally weigh 1-2 kg and are collected in the field by 

Altan Rio geologists, entered into data in camp, and sent by courier to Ulaanbaatar for preparation (crushing and 

pulverizing) and analysis. 

 

Soil Samples 

 

Soil sampling has been completed over broad areas of the project and consists of sampling approximately 1 kg of 

C or B/C soil horizons generally at depths of 25 to 40 cm. Small steel shovels are used to dig the soil pits and 

collect the soil sample. Samples are placed in small canvas bags, located by handheld GPS unit, notated as to 

sample type, depth, location nearby geology, etc. Samples are then entered into a data base in camp and sent to 

Altan Rioôs warehouse in Ulaanbaatar where Altan Rio personnel prepare the sample (sieve to -80 mesh) and re-

bag the sample, and insert standards (approximately 1 in 20) and duplicates (approximately 1 in 20) into the 

sample sequence. The re-bagged samples, standards and duplicates are sent to Nevada (USA) where American 

Assay Labs performs conventional soil geochemical analysis.  

 

Stream Sediment Samples 

 

Stream sediment sampling has been carried out nearly over the entire project area, aiming to sample all significant 

drainages from the Bumbat Range. Samples of the finest alluvial material available are collected from 2 separate 

locations, located with hand-held GPS unit and notated and entered into a database. Altan Rio personnel prepare 

the sample (sieve to -80 mesh) and re-bag the sample, and insert standards (approximately 1 in 20) and duplicates 

(approximately 1 in 20) into the sample sequence. The re-bagged samples, standards and duplicates are sent to 

Nevada (USA) where American Assay Labs performs conventional stream sediment geochemical analysis. 

 

Sample Preparation 

Drill core sample preparation by an independent laboratory in Ulaanbaatar (Stewart Group) was carried out to an 

industry-accepted standard with regard to the reporting of metallic element assay results under JORC-compliant 

rules. Stewart Group maintains an ISO/IEC 17025:2005 compliance for all preparation and analytical work 

conducted on behalf of Altan Rio. 
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Analysis 

 

All of the assay certificates issued by Stewart Group and SGS (Ulaanbaatar) with regard to the drill core samples 

submitted by Altan Rio have been sited.  

Drill core and rock samples in 2009, were assayed by fire assay methods by SGS Mongolia Minerals in 

Ulaanbaatar using method FA30. Copper and other elements were assayed by Stewart Group with aqua regia (2 

acid) digestion and ICP analysis. 

Drill core and rock samples in 2010 gold were assayed by Stewart Group (Ulaanbaatar) using 30 g charge and fire 

assay methods. Copper and other elements were assayed by Stewart Group with aqua regia (2 acid) digestion and 

ICP analysis. 

Soil and stream sediment samples, standards and duplicates are sent to Nevada (USA) where American Assay 

Labs performs soil geochemical analysis using a 30 g pulp for fire assay with 1 ppb gold detection limit and 0.5 g 

charge for aqua-regia (2 acid) digestion and ICP-MS for all other elements (including copper).  

 

All laboratories used are independent of the author, AMN Capital and Altan Rio. Stewart Mongolia LLC has been 

certified by the Mongolian Agency for Standardization and Metrology as meeting the ISO/IEC 17025:2009 

accreditation (Certificate Number T-115). Stewart Mongolia LLC is wholly owned by the Stewart Group Labs 

(UK Company), a global provider of geochemical & assay solutions to the exploration industry. SGS Mongolia 

Minerals Lab, is a wholly owned subsidiary of SGS SA (Switzerland), a global provider of geochemical & assay 

solutions to the exploration industry. American Assay Laboratories does not have ISO certification. American 

Assay Laboratories is a "reputable" laboratory under the Mineral Exploration Best Practices Guidelines. American 

Assay Labs participates in CANMET PTP-MAL certification analyses twice a year, GEOSTATS testing twice per 

year, SMA (US and Canada) twice per year and IAG testing twice a year. 

Security 

Altan Rio secured all drill core samples taken from the Chandman site. Filled core boxes were taken down the 

mountain by Altan Rio field assistants under the control of a staff geologist, and then taken by vehicle to the base 

camp and then on to Ulaanbaatar by truck, all under the direct supervision of Altan Rio geologists. 

Quality Controls and Quality Assurance  

Altan Rio maintained a rigorous QA/QC internal program. Blanks, standards and duplicate check assays are 

performed on all samples including stream sediments, soils, rock chips, and drill core. The QA/QC measures for 

drill core are described below.  

The following reference materials were inserted into the 2009 Chandman drill sample assay stream and included 

blanks and standards prepared by Shea Clark Smith/MEG LABS (Nevada). MEG LABS is not a certified testing 

facility, but has been operating in Nevada for over 20 years with generally high regard from industry 

professionals.   
 

Reference material 

code 
Reference material info # used Assay results 

S107014X Rhyolite blank 14 Good 

S108002X Quartz sand blank 13 Good 

S105002X 0.45 ppm Au 12 Good 

S105004X 3.80 ppm Au 13 Good 

Total  52  

 

Blanks and standards were put in a sequence of 1 standard or blank in 20 core samples, comprising an aggregate 

of ~5% of total samples. 
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Of 27 blanks, 26 assay results returned <0.01 g/t Au. CH-06 ST-26 (S107014X-rhyolite blank) was assayed at 

0.01g/t of Au.  

Of the 12 standard samples of S105002X (0.45 ppm Au), 7 were below 10% of the mean value and 5 standard 

samples were between the mean value and -10% of the mean value.  

All 13 standard samples S105004X (3.90 ppm Au) were between the mean value and -10% of the mean value. 

 

In 2009, in order to verify the copper assays reported by Stewart Group, Altan Rio sent drill core pulp samples 

with varying copper content to American Assay Labs (AAL) in Nevada for check assay work. 

Twenty-six samples from Chandman drill core were checked at American Assay Labs (AAL) in Nevada for 

copper content. Overall 25 of 26 check results showed excellent lab-to-lab correlation. There was one assay bust 

where the original Stewart assay was 5182 ppm copper and the AAL assay showed only 77 ppm.  This result 

requires further analysis. 

Averages, including sample #1 assay bust, are 4592 ppm for Stewart and 4349 for AAL. Averages, excluding 

sample #1, are very close at 4568 ppm for Stewart and 4520 ppm for AAL. 

In 2010 Altan Rio maintained the policy of inserting standards and blanks into the drill core sample stream sent to 

the laboratories.   

The following reference materials were inserted into the 2010 Chandman drill sample assay stream and included 

blanks and standards prepared by Rock Labs (New Zealand).  

 

Reference code Reference material info # used Assay results 

OxD73 Rock Labs: Jar # 179921 13 Acceptable, one flier 

SK43 Rock Labs: Jar # 154425 14 Good, two lower than expected 

Total  27  

 

The results were acceptable overall. The one flier Au assay (ST-81), reporting some 0.2 ppm below expected 

standard value, is being re-assayed along with all eight standards from the job.  Results are pending. 

Also, in order to verify copper and gold content reported by Stewart Group (Ulaanbaatar) using standard aqua 

regia digestion and ICP spectroscopy and fire assay with AA finish, respectively, Altan Rio selected 28 drill core 

pulps with variable metal content and sent the samples to SGS Labs (Ulaanbaatar) for check assays, also via aqua 

regia / ICP and fire assay with AA finish. The results were acceptable and confirmed the original assay reports. 

Duplicate quarter-core samples were taken one in ~20 core samples, using one half of the remaining half core. 

Duplicates consisted of 78 samples in total and were compared with original assay results for gold and copper. 

The results can be summarized as follows: 

 

1. Duplicate sample gold assay results did not match very well, possibly because of different sample 

weight and/or possible particulate nature of gold. 
2. Duplicate sample copper assay results matched within acceptable margins, generally within +/- 

15%. 

Data Verification 

Altan Rio takes great care in handling and splitting samples, and in controlling the chain of custody of all 

samples.  Laboratory assay data have been verified by Altan Rioôs rigorous use of standards, blanks and duplicate 

samples.  

 



64 

 

Mineral Resource and Mineral Reserve Estimates 

There are no established mineral resources or reserves on the Chandman-Yol property.  

 

 

Interpretation and Conclusions 

 

Field Surveys 

Altan Rio has conducted a well-planned and directed program of delineating potential mineralised target zones at 

shallow- to moderate-depth on the Chandman-Yol project. The methodologies selected are appropriate for the 

deposit type, and the surveys were conducted by industry professionals to high standards.   

The program has been successful at preliminary delineation of areas of mineralization as indicated by geophysical 

surveys, soil geochemical surveys, rock chip channel sampling, and drilling to depths >400 m. This well thought 

out and professionally conducted work has brought the property forward from an interesting prospect to an early-

stage exploration property which contains indications of potentially economic mineralization ready for further 

target definition and drill testing. 

The soil grid geochemical surveys show the presence of gold and copper mineralization.  The rock chip and rock 

channel sampling programs, while inhibited by the steep topography, show indications of potentially economic 

gold and copper mineralization.  

The Induced Polarisation-Resistivity data show electrically chargeable rock masses and resistivity anomalies 

suggestive of sulphide mineralized alteration zones related to copper and gold mineralization (i.e. skarns and 

sulphide replacement bodies). 

The ground magnetic data provide indications of a large magnetically zoned intrusion complex with a rhombic 

array of linear features (faults) and arcuate trends around the margins of the complex which may be major early 

thrust faults related to strike-slip movement (and vertical movement) developed during orogenesis in the western 

Mongolian Altaids. The positive magnetic anomalies are related to magnetite skarn mineralization which has been 

intersected by the recent drill program carried out by Altan Rio. 

 

Analytical and Testing Data 

The work carried out over the past four years (2007 to 2010) by Altan Rio at Chandman in western Mongolia has 

defined geological, geochemical, and geophysical targets related to skarn and porphyry copper-gold 

mineralization of a potentially economic nature.  

The recently completed ten hole and seven hole drill programs were successful in that skarn and magnetite-

sulphide replacement mineralisation containing potentially economic gold and copper mineralisation was 

intersected at variable depths (from 20.3 m in hole CH-10 and from 246.49 m in hole CH-09) within host rock 

lithologies that have undergone strong hydrothermal alteration and structural preparation. Porphyry-style 

alteration and significantly elevated copper and gold (+arsenic and, silver) values were encountered at a depth of 

469 m in hole CH-16, to the bottom of the hole at 524 m, leaving most of the targeted IP chargeability anomaly 

untested as the hole could only be drilled deep enough to penetrate the outer shell of the IP feature. 

Such mineralisation (skarn, sulphide replacement, and sulphide stockworks) as that encountered at Chandman in 

felsic porphyry and chemically receptive wall rock is known to host economic copper-gold deposits elsewhere in 

the world. 

Conclusions 

Additional exploration is warranted on the Chandman copper-gold project to both follow up new drill 

intersections and to explore for other zones of potential economic mineralization.  The large-scale, deep IP 



65 

 

features in an apparent concentric pattern around a possible Cu-Au porphyry system represent high-priority drill 

targets. The Cu-Au-Mo anomalous Khuush zone that was not successfully drill tested in 2010 remains an 

excellent target for near surface mineralization of potentially large volume.  Additionally, high grade copper and 

gold mineralization of the skarn zone intersected in CH-09 is a secondary target for additional work. 

There are no known significant risks and uncertainties that could reasonably be expected to affect the reliability or 

confidence in the exploration information presented because the samples were collected to a high industry 

standard and reputable laboratories were used for analysis and the work was carried out by professional geologists 

and technicians.  There are no known significant risks and uncertainties regarding mineral resource or mineral 

reserve estimates, or projected economic outcomes because this report does not contemplate those items. 

 

Recommendations 

 

Recommended Work Programs  

1. Continue the soil geochemical surveys over the Chandman-Yol project area. 

2. Carry out extensions of the IP and Resistivity profiling along the strike extensions of Del and Khuush 

fault zones. 

3. Complete at least two additional lines of deep-looking 400 m dipole-dipole IP profiles over the deep 

sulfide porphyry shell zone. 

4. Extend the regional coverage of the IP surveys over other areas of the project. 

5. Complete the ground magnetic surveys over the whole project area. 

6. Drill at least 3,000 m into the strike and dip (up dip and down dip) extent of the Del-Khuush structural 

corridor hosting the CH-09 mineralisation.  

7. Drill at least 4,500 m into other targets within the IP-imaged porphyry sulfide shell at depth, around the 

flanks of the mineralized intrusive complex. 

8. Carry out a detailed structural interpretation of the magnetic and geological data to test the concept that 

dilational structures related to the intersecting geometries of the thrust faults and dextral strike-slip faults 

exist to the northwest and southeast of the buttress-like intrusive complex.  

9. Carry out detailed petrographic studies to characterise the nature and distribution of gold and copper 

mineralisation, and the nature of the hydrothermal. 

  



66 

 

Costs  

The Chandman-Yol Technical Report writer recommended a follow-up drilling program of 7,500 meters of 

diamond drilling (6 and 7 above) is budgeted as follows in US dollars: 

Dozer work ï road access for drill sites and site preparation   $ 100,000 

7,500 m of diamond drilling at $200/m $ 1,500,000 

Pre-drilling and follow-up IP geophysical surveys  $ 80,000 

Soil and rock geochemical surveys $ 165,000 

3,000 drill core sample assays @ $25/ea  $ 75,000 

Contingency costs $ 80,000 

Total Costs $ 2,000,000 

 

The estimated costs above are for a drilling program which may span one or two field seasons. The total costs do 

not include employee/consultant salaries, license fees, or travel and living expenses. 

 

 

Selected Consolidated Financial Information and Managementôs Discussion and Analysis of Altan Rio 

 

The following table sets out certain selected balance sheet data and financial information as at and for the period 

ended December 31, 2010, as derived from the audited financial statements of Altan Rio and as at and for the five 

month period ended May 31, 2011, as derived from the unaudited interim financial statements of Altan Rio, 

attached hereto as Appendix ñCò (the ñAltan Rio Financial Statementsò). 

 

 

For the 

Period Ended 

May 31, 2011 

(Audited) 

For the 

Period Ended 

December 31, 2010 

(Audited) 

     

   Revenues $                         0 $                          0 

   Net Loss 2,053,781 601,060 

   Assets 8,257,970 9,755,101 

   Liabilities 3,193,568 857,619 

   Working Capital 1,047,909 2,087,014 

   Share Capital 7,100,607 8,710,456 

   Equity 5,064,402 8,897,482 

     
 

 

Managementôs Discussion and Analysis for the Period Ended May 31, 2011 and the Year Ended December 

31, 2010  

 

Overview 

 

The following discussion and analysis provides an analysis of the Altan Rio Financial Statements. The Altan Rio 

Financial Statements and related notes have been prepared by management in accordance with GAAP. This 

discussion contains forward looking statements that involve risks and uncertainties. See ñSpecial Note Regarding 

Forward Looking Statementsò. 
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Objectives and Strategy 

 

The principal activity of Altan Rio is the exploration for minerals in Mongolia. As such, the majority of Altan 

Rioôs resources are expended on maintaining the rights to, and the exploration of Altan Rioôs Mongolian mineral 

properties. See ñPart II - Information Concerning Altan Rio ï Material Contracts of Altan Rioò and ñPart II - 

Information Concerning Altan Rio ï Narrative Description of the Business of Altan Rioò. 

 

As Altan Rio does not currently generate revenue or income from operations, the ability to continue exploration 

activities is dependent on obtaining working capital through the issuance of share capital. The financial 

performance of Altan Rio is highly dependent on positive exploration results, adequate financing and prudent 

financial management. 

 

Results of Operations 

 

Altan Rio commenced operations on November 30, 2007. As the focus of management during the period from 

incorporation on November 30, 2007 to May 31, 2011 was on organizing Altan Rio and acquiring the rights to 

various properties in Mongolia and in particular  the Chandman-Yol Project and exploring those properties, no 

revenues were realized. 

 

During the financial year ended December 31, 2010, Altan Rioôs wholly owned subsidiary, Altan Rio Mongolia, 

continued its exploration activities on its mineral properties, more specifically, the Chandman-Yol Project.   

 

During the five-month period ending May 31, 2011, Altan Rio spent US$233,717 in mineral property acquisition 

and exploration costs. Comparatively, Altan Rio spent US$1,249,335 in mineral property acquisition and 

exploration costs during the year ended December 31, 2010. 

 

Liquidity and Capital Resources 

 

As at May 31, 2011, Altan Rio had working capital of $1,047,909.  The accumulated loss of $2,053,781 as of 

May 31, 2011 was financed through capital contributions. 

 

As Altan Rio has no source of revenue it depends on raising funds through the issuance of equity. Concurrent 

with the Closing, the Resulting Issuer proposes to close the Private Placement, the funds from which will be used 

for the exploration, development and project administration in connection with the Chandman-Yol Project 

through Altan Rio Mongolia, as well as other exploration, development and project administration, working 

capital and corporate administration costs. There is no assurance that the Private Placement will be completed or 

that any additional funding required by the Resulting Issuer will be available if required. However, it is 

anticipated by management that the Available Funds will be sufficient to satisfy the Resulting Issuerôs objectives 

over the next 12 months. The availability of further equity capital and the price at which additional equity could 

be issued is dependent upon the success of the Resulting Issuerôs exploration activities, and upon the state of 

capital markets generally. Additional financing may not be available on terms favourable to Resulting Issuer, or 

not at all. See ñPart III - Information Concerning the Resulting Issuer - Risk Factors.ò 

 

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements 

 

Altan Rio has no off-balance sheet arrangements. 
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Transactions with Related Parties 

 

During the period ended May 31, 2011, Altan Rio paid $107,219 in exploration and evaluation costs to officers 

and directors of Altan Rio. These transactions were incurred in the normal course of operations and were 

measured at the exchange amount, which is the amount of consideration established and agreed to by the parties. 

 

As at May 31, 2011, the following were payable to officers and directors and companies controlled by the 

directors of related parties of Altan Rio: 

 

    

  2011  

    

Due to shareholders and related parties $ 36,418 
(1) 

Due to Maciver Pty Ltd  25,135 
(2) 

Due to Altan Nevada Minerals Limited  3,070,500 
(3) 

 $ 3,132,053  

    

 
Notes: (1) This amount consists of: (i)  consulting fees due to Messrs. Evan Jones ($13,500) and Kelly Cluer ($16,000); and (ii) business 

expense reimbursements of $6,918 owed to Messrs. Evan Jones and John Jones. 

 (2) Mciver Pty Ltd., a company related to Messrs. Evan Jones and John Jones, advanced certain funds to Altan Rio which was 

outstanding as of May 31, 2011.  This amount was subsequently converted into shares of Altan Rio. 

 (3) This amount was due to Altan Nevada Mineral Limited as part of the spin-out transaction.  Altan Rio transferred this amount to 

Altan Nevada Minerals Limited on June 3, 2011.  The transaction is shown in the Unaudited Pro-Forma Consolidated Balance 

Sheet of AMN Capital Corp. 

 

The amounts due to related parties are non-interest bearing, unsecured and have no fixed terms for payment. 

 

Commitments and Contingencies 

 

As at May 31, 2011, Altan Rio does not have any material commitments and contingencies other than as set forth 

in the Altan Rio Financial Statements. 

 

Risks and Uncertainties 

 

Altan Rio does not have any policies for controlling risks associated with its financial instruments. The 

anticipated principal activity of Altan Rio is mineral exploration, which carries with it a large degree of inherent 

risk. Mineral exploration and development is also a capital intensive activity. Altan Rio has no current source of 

income and is dependent on future financings. See ñPart III ï Information Concerning the Resulting Issuer ï Risk 

Factors.ò Altan Rio must rely on the skills of its management team, which skills represent one of the main assets 

of Altan Rio. 

 

Management Estimates 

 

The preparation of Altan Rioôs financial statements requires management to make judgments, estimates and 

assumptions that affect the application of policies and reported amounts of assets, liabilities, revenues and 

expenses, and disclosures of contingent assets and liabilities as at the date of the financial statements. 

 

The estimates and associated assumptions are based on historical experience and various other factors that are 

believed to be reasonable under the circumstances, the results of which form the basis of making the judgments 

about carrying values of the assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. The actual 

results could differ from those estimates and such differences could be material. The estimates and underlying 
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assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognized in the period in 

which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only that period or in the period of the revision and further 

periods if the review affects both current and future periods. 

 

Disclosure and Internal Controls and Procedures 

 

Altan Rio is not subject to the requirements of National Instrument No. 52-109 ï Certification of Disclosure in 

Issuersô Annual and Interim Filings. 

 

Forward-Looking Statements 

 

See ñSpecial Note Regarding Forward Looking Statementsò. 

 

Description of the Securities of Altan Rio 

 

The authorized share capital of Altan Rio consists of an unlimited number of Altan Rio Shares.  

 

As of the date hereof, 99,627,050 Altan Rio Shares are issued and outstanding. 

 

Subject to the provisions of the BCBCA, the holders of Altan Rio Shares are entitled to receive notice of, to 

attend and vote at all meetings of the shareholders of Altan Rio and are entitled to one vote, in person or by proxy, 

for each Altan Rio Share held. Upon the liquidation, dissolution or winding up of Altan Rio, the holders of Altan 

Rio Shares shall be entitled to receive, after the payment of all debts owing to creditors, all of the remaining 

property and assets of Altan Rio. Holders of Altan Rio Shares are entitled to receive such dividends as may be 

declared from time to time by the board of directors of Altan Rio. 

 

Capitalization of Altan Rio 

 

Designation of 

Security 

Amount Authorized Amount Outstanding 

as of October 31, 2011 

Amount Outstanding 

as at the date of this 

Filing Statement Prior 

to Giving Effect to the 

Amalgamation 

Common Shares Unlimited 99,627,050 99,627,050 

Warrants 31,547,003 31,547,003 31,547,003 

Stock Options Nil Nil Nil 

Long Term Debt Nil Nil Nil 
 

 

Prior Sales of Altan Rio 

 

There have been no issuances of Altan Rioôs common shares during the 12 month period ended on the 

Effective Date, except as set out below: 

 

Date 

Number of 

Common Shares 

Price per 

Common Share 

($) 

Aggregate 

Issue Price ($) 

Nature of 

Consideration 

September 10, 2010 2,323,240 
(1) 

$ 0.30  $ 696,972.00  Cash 

November 15, 2010 743,333
 (2)

 $ 0.30  $ 222,999.90  Cash 
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January 10, 2011 11,293,758 
(3) 

$ 0.30  $ 3,388,127.40  Cash 

February 9, 2011 2,685,167 
(4) 

$ 0.30  $ 805,550.10  Cash 

May 17, 2011 5,945,354 
(5)

 $ 0.30  $ 1,783,606.20  Cash 

July 6, 2011 19,407,637 
(6) 

$ 0.17  $ 3,492,000.00  Cash 

 
Notes: (1) 2,323,240 units were sold at a price of $0.30 per unit. Each unit consisted of one Altan Rio Share and one-half of one Altan Rio 

Warrant. Each whole Altan Rio Warrant entitles the holder to acquire one additional share at the exercise price of $0.29 until 
January 6, 2013. 20,000 Altan Rio Warrants were also issued as part of the findersô fee associated with this offering.  (The 

exercise price of the Altan Rio Warrants at the time of issue was $0.50.  The exercise price was reduced and the term to exercise 

was extended to January 6, 2013.) 

 (2) 743,333 units were sold at a price of $0.30 per unit. Each unit consisted of one share and one-half of one Altan Rio Warrant. 

Each whole Altan Rio Warrant entitles the holder to acquire one additional Altan Rio Share at the exercise price of $0.29 until 

January 6, 2013. (The exercise price of the Altan Rio Warrants at the time of issue was $0.50.  The exercise price was reduced 
and the term to exercise was extended to January 6, 2013.) 

 (3) 11,293,758 units were sold at a price of $0.30 per unit. Each unit consisted of one Altan Rio Share and one-half of one Altan Rio 

Warrant. Each whole Altan Rio Warrant entitles the holder to acquire one additional Altan Rio  Share at the exercise price of 
$0.29 until January 6, 2013. (The exercise price of the Altan Rio Warrants at the time of issue was $0.50.  The exercise price 

was reduced and the term to exercise was extended to January 6, 2013.) 

 (4) 2,685,167 units were sold at a price of $0.30 per unit. Each unit consisted of one Altan Rio Share and one-half of one Altan Rio 

Warrant. Each whole Altan Rio Warrant entitles the holder to acquire one additional Altan Rio  Share at the exercise price of 

$0.29 until January 6, 2013.  In addition, 37,900 units were issued for corporate advisory services, 62,100 units and 200,000 

Altan Rio Warrants were also issued as part of the findersô fee associated with this offering. (The exercise price of the Altan Rio 
Warrants at the time of issue was $0.50.  The exercise price was reduced and the term to exercise was extended to January 6, 

2013.) 

 (5) 5,945,354 units were sold at a price of $0.30 per unit. Each unit consisted of one Altan Rio Share and one-half of one Altan Rio 
Warrant. Each whole Altan Rio Warrant entitles the holder to acquire one additional Altan Rio Share at the exercise price of 

$0.29 until January 6, 2013.  100,250 Altan Rio Warrants were also issued as part of the findersô fee associated with this 

offering. (The exercise price of the Altan Rio Warrants at the time of issue was $0.50.  The exercise price was reduced and the 
term to exercise was extended to January 13, 2013.) 

 (6) Subsequent to May 31, 2011 (between June 1 and July 6, 2011), Altan Rio issued and settled $3,492,000 unsecured convertible 

notes by issuing 19,407,637 units at a price of $0.17 per unit.  The lower price of $0.17 is reflective of the fact that as at June 1, 
2011, Altan Rio no longer owns Altan Rio (US) and its Nevada mineral properties.  Each unit consisted of one Altan Rio Share 

and one-half of one Altan Rio Warrant.  Each whole Altan Rio Warrant entitles the holder to acquire one additional Altan Rio 

Share at the exercise price of $0.29 until January 6, 2013.  533,710 Altan Rio Warrants were also issued as part of the findersô 
fee associated with this offering.  

 

Stock Exchange Price of Altan Rio 

 

None of the securities of Altan Rio are, or have ever been, listed for trading on any stock exchange. 

 

Executive Compensation of Altan Rio 

 

The following table sets out the annualized compensation paid to Altan Rioôs most highly compensated executive 

officers (see also ñPart III ï Information Concerning the Resulting Issuer ï Executive Compensationò): 

 

Compensation Discussion and Analysis 

 

Altan Rio does not have a formal compensation policy.  

 

Option-Based Awards 

 

Altan Rio does not have a stock option plan and has not granted any options to any officers or directors. 
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Summary Compensation Table 

 

Altan Rio has two Named Executive Officers as defined below. 

 

The following table is presented in accordance with Form 51-102F6 ï Statement of Executive Compensation 

(ñForm 51-102F6ò). The table below sets out particulars of compensation paid to the following executive officers 

(each of whom is a ñNamed Executive Officerò) for services for the year ended Dec. 31, 2010 and for the period 

ending May 31, 2011: 

 

(a) the individual who acted as Altan Rioôs CEO or acted in a similar capacity for any part of the most 

recently completed financial year; 

(b) the individual who acted as Altan Rioôs CFO or acted in a similar capacity for any part of the most 
recently completed financial year; 

(c) each of Altan Rioôs three most highly compensated executive officers, or the three most highly 

compensated individuals acting in a similar capacity, other than the CEO and CFO; and 

(d) each individual who would be an Named Executive Officer under paragraph (c) but for the fact that the 

individual was neither an executive officer of Altan Rio, nor acting in a similar capacity, at the end of that 

financial year. 
 

SUMMARY COMPENSATION TABLE 

Name and 

principal 

position 

Period 

 

Salary 

($)(1) 

Share-

based 

awards 

($)(2) 

Option-

based 

awards 

($)(3) 

Non-equity  

incentive plan 

compensation 

($)(4) 

Pension  

value 

($) 

All other 

compen- 

sation 

($USD)(5) 

Total  

compen 

-sation 

($USD)  

    

Annual 

incentive 

plans 

Long-term 

incentive 

plans    

Evan Jones 

President, 

Chief 

Executive 

Officer and 

Director 

Jan-May 

2011 

Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil 64,045 64,045 

Jan-Dec 

2010 

Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil 120,376 120,376 

Kelly Cluer, 

Exploration 

Director and 

Director 

Jan-May 

2011 

Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil 43,174 43,174 

Jan-Dec 

2010 

Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil 126,156 126,156 

 
Notes: (1)  The value of perquisites including property or other personal benefits provided to an NEO that are generally available to all employees, 

and that in the aggregate are worth less than $50,000, or are worth less than 10% of an NEOôs total salary for the financial year are not 

reported herein. 

 (2)  ñShare-based Awardsò means an award under an equity incentive plan of equity-based instruments that do not have option like features, 
including, for greater certainty, common shares, restricted shares, restricted share units, deferred share units, phantom shares, phantom 

share units, common share equivalent units, and stock. 

 (3)  ñOption-based Awardsò means an award under an equity incentive plan of options, including, for greater certainty, share 
options, share appreciation rights, and similar instruments that have option-like features. 

 (4)  ñNon-equity Incentive Plan Compensationò includes all compensation under an incentive plan or portion of an incentive 

plan that is not an equity incentive plan. 

 (5)  Fees paid for consulting and property exploration and investigation. 

 

 

Incentive Plan Awards 

 

Altan Rio does not have any equity based incentive plans. 
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Pension Plan Benefits 

 

Altan Rio does not have any deferred compensation plan or pension plan that provides for payments or benefits at, 

following or in connection with retirement. 

 

Termination and Change of Control Benefit 

 

Altan Rio does not have any employment agreements in place with any members of its management team, and as 

such, there is no termination or change of control benefit in favour of any Person. 

 

Director Compensation 

 

Altan Rio has no arrangements, standard or otherwise, pursuant to which directors are compensated by Altan Rio 

for their services in their capacity as directors. 

 

Share-Based Awards, Option-Based Awards and Non-Equity Incentive Plan Compensation 

 

Altan Rio has not made any share-based awards, option-based awards and has does not have any non-equity 

incentive plans. 

 

Indebtedness of Directors and Officers of Altan Rio 

 

During the most recently completed fiscal year, no director, executive officer, senior officer, nor any of their 

respective Associates or Affiliates, is, or has been at any time since the beginning of the last completed fiscal 

year, indebted to Altan Rio nor has any such person been indebted to any other entity where such indebtedness is 

the subject of a guarantee, support agreement, letter of credit or similar arrangements or understanding, provided 

by Altan Rio. 

 

Non Armôs Length Party Transactions of Altan Rio 

 

During the period ended May 31, 2011, Altan Rio has not entered into any transactions with non armôs length 

parties as described in Item 24.1 of Exchange Form 3B2 ï Information Required in a Filing Statement for a 

Qualifying Transaction except as noted below: 

 

(1) During the period ended May 31, 2011, Altan Rio paid $107,219 in exploration and evaluation costs to 

officers and directors of Altan Rio.  These transactions were incurred in the normal course of 

operations and were measured at the exchange amount, which is the amount of consideration 

established and agreed to by the parties. 

(2) As at May 31, 2011, the following were payable to officers and directors and companies controlled by 

the directors of related parties of Altan Rio on the statement of financial position. 

 

    

  2011  

    

Due to shareholders and related parties $ 36,418 
(1) 

Due to Maciver Pty Ltd  25,135 
(2) 

Due to Altan Nevada Minerals Limited  3,070,500 
(3) 

 $ 3,132,053  
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Notes: (1) This amount consists of: (i)  consulting fees due to Messrs. Evan Jones ($13,500) and Kelly Cluer ($16,000); and (ii) business 

expense reimbursements of $6,918 owed to Messrs. Evan Jones and John Jones. 

 (2) Mciver Pty Ltd., a company related to Messrs. Evan Jones and John Jones, advanced certain funds to Altan Rio which was 
outstanding as of May 31, 2011.  This amount was subsequently converted into shares of Altan Rio. 

 (3) This amount was due to Altan Nevada Mineral Limited as part of the spin-out transaction.  Altan Rio transferred this amount to 

Altan Nevada Minerals Limited on June 3, 2011.  The transaction is shown in the Unaudited Pro-Forma Consolidated Balance 
Sheet of AMN Capital Corp. 

 

The amounts due to related parties are non-interest bearing, unsecured and have no fixed terms for payment. 

 

Altan Rio entered into the plan of arrangement agreement with Altan Nevada Minerals Limited. Messrs. Evan 

Jones, John Jones and Kelly Cluer are shareholders and officers of Altan Rio and Altan Nevada Mineral Limited. 

See ñPart II ï Information Concerning Altan Rio ï General Development of the Business of Altan Rioò. 

 

Legal Proceedings of Altan Rio 

 

Management of Altan Rio are not aware of any legal proceedings, contemplated or actual, involving Altan Rio 

that could materially affect Altan Rio or the Proposed Qualifying Transaction. 

 

Material Contracts of Altan Rio 

 

Altan Rio has not entered into any contracts material to investors within the two years prior to the date of this 

Filing Statement except for: 

 

1. Definitive Agreement.  See ñPart II ï Information Concerning Altan Rio ï Definitive Agreementò; 

2. Agency Agreement. See ñGeneral Development of the Business of Altan Rio ï Private Placementò; 

3. Plan of Arrangement Agreement dated August 31, 2011, between Altan Rio, Altan Nevada Minerals 

Limited and Altan Rio (US) Inc.  See ñPart II ï Information Concerning Altan Rio ï General 

Development of the Business of Altan Rioò; 

4. Letter Agreement dated September 22, 2011, between Altan Rio and Mongolia International Capital 

Corporation. See ñGeneral Development of the Business of Altan Rio ï Private Placementò; 

5. Office Space Agreement dated November 1, 2010 between Altan Rio and Corex Management Inc. 

whereby Altan Rio has agreed to pay $1,800 per month plus HST for office space, on a month to month 

basis.  Corex Management Inc., is a corporation controlled by Murray Seitz, a director of AMN, and Rob 

Scott, a director and officer of AMN; and 

6. Management Service Agreement dated January 1, 2011 between Altan Rio and Corex Management Inc. 

whereby Altan Rio has engaged Corex Management Inc. to provide certain accounting and other related 

office services a cost of $ 4,500 per month plus HST, on a month to month basis. 

 

Copies of these agreements are available for inspection at the head office of Altan Rio, 1110 - 1111 West Georgia 

Street, Vancouver, BC V6E 4M3, during ordinary business hours until the completion of the Proposed Qualifying 

Transaction and for a period of 30 days thereafter. 

 

Material Contracts of Altan Rio Subsidiaries  

 

The subsidiary companies of Altan Rio have not entered into any contracts material to investors prior to the date 

of this Filing Statement except for: 

 

1. Onon Gold Property Earn-In Agreement dated November 13, 2008 between Erdenyn Erel LLC and 

Altan Rio Mongolia LLC, as amended May 19, 2009 and October 20, 2010 whereby Altan Rio 

Mongolia may acquire a 90% beneficial interest in the Onon gold project on payment of US$160,000 

over a four year period (US$80,000 paid) and incurring US$900,000 in aggregate exploration 
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expenditures over a four year period.  A total of US$815,000 in exploration expenses has been 

expended on the property. The remainder is required to be incurred on or prior to October 2012; 

2. Option Agreement dated November 26, 2007, between Gallant Minerals Ltd. and Altan Rio Limited. 

See ñPart II ï Information Concerning Altan Rio ï Chandman Yol Project ï Property Description and 

Location ï Mineral Titlesò; and 

3. Khavchuu Land Mongolia LLC (KLM) Purchase Option Agreement to acquire KLM dated April 4, 

2011 between Goldbar Ventures Corp., KLM, Monkhbayan Baratt LLC and Altan Rio Limited, 

whereby Altan Rio Limited has an option to acquire KLM on payment of $550,000 over a two and a 

half year period and incurring $300,000 in aggregate exploration expenditures over a two year period.  

The parties are currently working on a definitive agreement. 

 

Copies of these agreements are available for inspection at the head office of Altan Rio, 1110 - 1111 West Georgia 

Street, Vancouver, BC V6E 4M3, during ordinary business hours until completion of the Proposed Qualifying 

Transaction and for a period of 30 days thereafter. 
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PART III ï INFORMATION CONCERNING THE RESULTING ISSUER 

 

Proposed Qualifying Transaction 

 

Pursuant to the terms of the Definitive Agreement, AMN will acquire all of the issued and outstanding Altan Rio 

Shares by way of the Three Cornered Amalgamation, resulting in the formation of Amalco. As a result of the 

Three Cornered Amalgamation, each Altan Rio Share issued and outstanding will be exchanged for 0.4409954 

Resulting Issuer Share. In consideration of the issue by the Resulting Issuer of the Resulting Issuer Shares to the 

former Altan Rio Shareholders, Amalco will issue to the Resulting Issuer one Amalco Share for each Resulting 

Issuer Share issued to the Altan Rio Shareholders. The Resulting Issuer will also receive one Amalco Share in 

exchange for each issued and outstanding CPC Subco Share held by the Resulting Issuer. As a result of the 

foregoing, Amalco will become a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Resulting Issuer. See ñPart II ï Information 

Concerning Altan Rio ï Definitive Agreementò. 

 

Upon completion of the Proposed Qualifying Transaction and the Private Placement, 45,503,522 Resulting Issuer 

Shares will be outstanding on a non-diluted basis. As such, the current shareholders of AMN will own, in the 

aggregate, approximately 3.7% of the Resulting Issuer on a non-diluted basis, the current Altan Rio shareholders 

will own approximately 91.9% of the Resulting Issuer on a non-diluted basis, and the subscribers to the Private 

Placement will own approximately 4.4% of the Resulting Issuer on a non-diluted basis. 

 

The Proposed Qualifying Transaction was negotiated on an armôs length basis and involves armôs length parties 

and therefore is not a Non-Armôs Length Qualifying Transaction under the policies of the Exchange. As a result, 

no meeting of AMNôs shareholders is required as a condition of Exchange approval to the Proposed Qualifying 

Transaction.  However, the Consolidation requires shareholder approval and AMN obtained such approval at the 

AMN Meeting. 

 

The Completion of the Proposed Qualifying Transaction is conditional on obtaining all necessary regulatory 

approvals, including the approval of the Exchange, and other conditions, which are typical for a transaction of this 

type. 

 

Corporate Structure 

 

Name and Incorporation 

 

Upon Completion of the Proposed Qualifying Transaction the Resulting Issuer will be known as ñAltan Rio 

Minerals Limited.ò The Resulting Issuerôs head and registered office will be located at 1110 ï 1111 West 

Georgia Street, Vancouver, BC V6E 4M3. The Resulting Issuer will continue to be a company incorporated under 

the BCBCA upon the Completion of the Proposed Qualifying Transaction. It is intended that Amalco be named 

ñAltan Rio Canada Limitedò and will be a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Resulting Issuer. 
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The Resulting Issuerôs corporate structure will be as follows: 

 

 Altan Rio Minerals Limited 

(BC) 

 

   100%  

 Altan Rio Canada Limited 

(BC) 

 

        100%  

 Altan Rio Holdings Limited 

(BVI) 

 

   100%  

 Altan Rio Limited 

(BVI) 

 

   100%  

 Altan Rio Mongolia LLC 

(Mongolia) 

 

 

Altan Rio Mongolia is the operating entity of Altan Rio. References below to Altan Rio include references to its 

100% owned subsidiaries as applicable. 

 

Narrative Description of the Business 

 

Stated Business Objectives and Milestones 

 

The Resulting Issuerôs business objective after the Completion of the Proposed Qualifying Transaction will be the 

business objectives of Altan Rio Mongolia, namely the continued exploration and development of the Chandman-

Yol Project and the other minor prospecting of properties controlled by Altan Rio Mongolia. 

 

Upon Completion of the Proposed Qualifying Transaction and the Private Placement, the Resulting Issuerôs plans 

to implement its stated business objective of exploring and developing the Chandman-Yol Project.  $2,000,000 in 

expenditures are planned in the next 12 months for the Chandman-Yol Project, through the completion of 7,500 

meters of diamond drilling, analysis and exploration and development expenditures. 

 

Exploration and Development for Resulting Issuers with Mineral Projects 

 

See ñPart II ï Information Concerning Altan Rio ï Narrative Description of the Business ï Chandman Yol 

Projectò for a discussion on the proposed exploration and development activities with respect to the Chandman-

Yol Project. 

 

Description of Securities 

 

No change to the share structure and the rights associated with the AMN Shares will occur in the Resulting Issuer 

as a result of the Proposed Qualifying Transaction, other than as a result of the Consolidation. See ñPart I ï 

Information Concerning AMN ï Description of Securities of AMNò. 

 

The holders of Resulting Issuer Shares will be entitled to receive notice of, to attend and vote at all meetings of 

the shareholders of the Resulting Issuer and will be entitled to one vote, in person or by proxy, for each Resulting 

Issuer Share held. Upon the liquidation, dissolution or winding up of the Resulting Issuer, the holders of the 

Resulting Issuer Shares will be entitled to receive, after the payment of all debts owing to creditors, all of the 
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remaining property and assets of the Resulting Issuer. Holders of Resulting Issuer Shares will be entitled to 

receive such dividends as may be declared from time to time by the board of directors of the Resulting Issuer. 

 

Upon completion of the Consolidation, the Proposed Qualifying Transaction and the Private Placement, an 

aggregate of 45,503,522 Resulting Issuer Shares will be issued and outstanding on a non-diluted basis and 

59,965,643 Resulting Issuer Shares will be issued and outstanding on a fully diluted basis. 

A total of 13,237,121 Resulting Issuer Warrants will be outstanding as a result of the Proposed Qualifying 

Transaction, 8,941,459 Resulting Issuer Warrants being issued in exchange for the Altan Rio Warrants and 

4,295,662 Resulting Issuer Warrants being issued in exchange for the Altan Rio C Note Warrants. Each Resulting 

Issuer Warrant will entitle the holder to purchase one Resulting Issuer Share at a price of $0.69 on or before 

January 6, 2013. The 8,941,459 Resulting Issuer Warrants being issued in exchange for the Altan Rio Warrants 

will contain an accelerated expiry provision whereby should the Resulting Issuer Shares trade at a weighted 

average price exceeding $1.10 for 30 consecutive trading days, the Resulting Issuer Warrants will expire 30 days 

after notice of such event is given to the warrantholders. 

The Resulting Issuer will also have outstanding 1,000,000 PP Warrants having the terms and conditions referred 

to under ñPart II ï Information Concerning Altan Rio ï Private Placementò.  

 

Dividend Record and Policy 

 

It is not contemplated that any dividends will be paid in the immediate or foreseeable future following 

Completion of the Proposed Qualifying Transaction, as it is anticipated that all of the Available Funds will be 

applied to finance the Resulting Issuerôs business. The board of directors of the Resulting Issuer will determine if 

and when dividends are to be declared and paid from funds properly applicable to the payment of dividends based 

on the Resulting Issuerôs financial position at the relevant time. All of the Resulting Issuer Shares will be entitled 

to an equal share in any dividends declared and paid. 

 

Pro Forma Consolidated Capitalization of the Resulting Issuer 

 

The following table sets forth the capitalization of the Resulting Issuer after giving effect to the Proposed 

Qualifying Transaction, the Private Placement and the Consolidation. Also refer to the Pro Forma Consolidated 

Financial Statements attached hereto as Appendix ñDò. 

 

Non-Diluted Basis 

 

Designation of Security Amount Authorized 

Amount Outstanding After 

Giving Effect to the 

Proposed Qualifying 

Transaction, Private 

Placement and the 

Consolidation  

(Non-Diluted) 

Common Shares  Unlimited  45,503,522 

Long term debt  N/A  N/A  
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Fully Diluted Basis 

 

Designation of Security Amount Authorized 

Amount Outstanding After 

Giving Effect to the 

Proposed Qualifying 

Transaction, Private 

Placement and the 

Consolidation  

(Fully Diluted) 

Common Shares  Unlimited  59,965,643 

Long term debt  N/A  N/A  

 

Proposed Fully Diluted Share Capital of the Resulting Issuer 

 

In addition to the information set out in the capitalization table above, the following table sets out the proposed 

fully diluted share capital of the Resulting Issuer after giving effect to the Proposed Qualifying Transaction, the 

Private Placement and the Consolidation. 

 

Proposed Fully Diluted Share Capital of the Resulting Issuer 

 

 Number of Resulting Issuer 

Shares after giving effect to the 

Proposed Qualifying 

Transaction, the Private 

Placement and the 

Consolidation  

(Fully Diluted) 

Percentage of Resulting 

Issuer Shares after giving 

effect to the Proposed 

Qualifying Transaction, the 

Private Placement and the 

Consolidation  

(Fully Diluted) 

Resulting Issuer Shares to be held by 

current AMN Shareholders 

1,680,016 2.80% 

Resulting Issuer Shares to be issued on 

Closing in exchange for currently 

outstanding Altan Rio Shares 

41,803,506 69.71% 

Resulting Issuer Shares to be issued on 

closing of the Private Placement 

2,000,000 3.34% 

Resulting Issuer Shares to be issued to 

Agent on closing of the Private Placement 

20,000 0.03% 

Resulting Issuer Shares reserved for 

issuance upon the exercise of the Resulting 

Issuer Warrants and the PP Warrants  

14,237,121 23.74% 

Resulting Issuer Shares reserved for 

issuance upon the exercise of the Resulting 

Issuer Agentôs Options 

90,000 0.15% 

Resulting Issuer Shares reserved for 

issuance upon the exercise of Resulting 

Issuer Broker Options 

105,000 0.18% 

Resulting Issuer Shares reserved for 

issuance upon the exercise of Resulting 

30,000 0.05% 
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 Number of Resulting Issuer 

Shares after giving effect to the 

Proposed Qualifying 

Transaction, the Private 

Placement and the 

Consolidation  

(Fully Diluted) 

Percentage of Resulting 

Issuer Shares after giving 

effect to the Proposed 

Qualifying Transaction, the 

Private Placement and the 

Consolidation  

(Fully Diluted) 

Issuer Finder Warrants 

Resulting Issuer Shares reserved for 

issuance under the AMN Stock Option Plan 

0 0 

Total (fully diluted)  59,965,643 100% 

 

Estimated Available Funds to the Resulting Issuer and Principal Purposes 

 

The following table sets out information respecting the Resulting Issuerôs sources of cash and intended uses of 

such cash. The amounts shown in the table are estimates only 

 

Available Funds 

 

It is anticipated that the Resulting Issuer will have total funds available, after giving effect to the 

Proposed Qualifying Transaction and the Private Placement as follows: 

 

Available Funds 

AMN Working Capital (as per AMN Proforma) $ 1,206,886 

Altan Rio Working Capital 3,762,849 

Long term debt 0 

Total $ 4,969,735
(1)

 

 
Note: (1)  This amount is net of the cost of the Proposed Qualifying Transaction and Private Placement estimated to be $253,858 and $500,000 

payable to Gallant in respect of the Chandman-Yol Project.. 

 

 

The Resulting Issuer intends to use the funds as set out below: 

 

Anticipated Use of Funds ï Principal Purposes
(1) 

Exploration, development and project administration in connection with the 

Chandon-Yol Project $ 2,500,000 

Other exploration, development and property payments 300,000 

Corporate administrative costs 686,100 

Unallocated working capital 1,483,635 

Total $ 4,969,735 

 
Note: (1)  See ñPart III ï Information Concerning the Resulting Issuer ï Narrative Description of the Business ï Stated Business Objectives and 

Milestonesò. 

 

The Resulting Issuer will spend the Available Funds on the principal purposes as indicated above. 

Notwithstanding the foregoing, there may also be circumstances where, for sound business reasons, a reallocation 

of funds may be necessary for the Resulting Issuer to achieve these objectives. The Resulting Issuer may require 

additional funds in order to fulfill all of the Resulting Issuerôs expenditure requirements to meet its objectives, in 
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which case the Resulting Issuer expects to either issue additional shares or incur indebtedness. There is no 

assurance that additional funding required by the Resulting Issuer would be available if needed. However, it is 

anticipated that the Available Funds will be sufficient to satisfy the Resulting Issuerôs objectives over the next 12 

months. 

 

Principal Securityholders of the Resulting Issuer 

 

To the knowledge of the directors and senior officers of AMN and Altan Rio, no person will beneficially own, 

directly or indirectly, or exercise control or direction over voting securities carrying more than 10% of the voting 

rights attached to any class of voting securities of the Resulting Issuer after Completion of the Proposed 

Qualifying Transaction, other than as follows: 

 

Name and Municipality of 

Residence 

Number of Common Shares 

Held Beneficially 

Percentage of Common Shares 

After Giving Effect to the 

Proposed Qualifying 

Transaction, the Private 

Placement and the 

Consolidation 

Evan Jones
(1)

 

Singapore 

15,539,819 34.15% 

 
Notes: (1)  Evan Jones is a beneficiary of a trust that is the sole shareholder of 0809979 B.C. Ltd. that will hold Resulting Issuer Shares. 

 

Proposed Directors and Officers of the Resulting Issuer 

 

The board of directors of the Resulting Issuer upon Closing will comprise five directors: Evan Jones, John L.C. 

Jones, Kelly Cluer, Murray Seitz and Paul OôBrien.  The names, municipalities of residence, the number of voting 

securities beneficially owned, directly or indirectly, or over which each exercises control or direction, following  
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Closing, and the offices held by each director and officer in the Resulting Issuer and the principal occupation of 

the directors and senior officers of the Resulting Issuer during the past five years are as follows: 

 

Name, state/province/ 

country of residence 

and position 

Principal occupation, business or employment and, 

if not a previously elected director, occupation, 

business or employment during the past five 

years
(1)

 

Prior 

Director-

ship with 

AMN or 

Altan Rio 

Number of 

Common Shares 

Beneficially Held and  

Percentage of Common 

Shares 

Beneficially Held, 

Assuming 

Completion of the 

Proposed 

Qualifying Transaction, 

the 

Private Placement and 

the Consolidation
(1)

 

Evan Jones
(3) 

President, CEO & 

Director 

Singapore 

Altan Nevada Minerals Limited, a private mineral 

exploration company, Chief Executive Officer, 

President and Director (2011 ï Present); Altan Rio 

Minerals Limited, a private mineral exploration 

company, Chief Executive Officer, President and 

Director (2007 ï Present); Troy Resources Brasil 

Participacoes Ltd., operating mine subsidiary of Troy 

Resources NL, a public mining company listed in 

Canada and Australia, Commercial Manager (2002-

2007). 

Director of 

Altan Rio 

since 

November 

2007  

15,539,819 

34.15% 

John L.C. Jones
(2)

 

Chairman & Director 

Perth, Australia 

Troy Resources NL, a public mining company listed 

in Canada and Australia, Director (2008-present) and 

Chairman (1988 ï 2008). Altan Rio Minerals Limited, 

a private mineral exploration company, Chairman and 

Director (2010 ï Present); Altan Rio Minerals 

Limited, a private mineral exploration company, 

Chairman and Director (2007 ï Present). 

Director of 

Altan Rio 

since 

November 

2007 

125,925 

0.28% 

Kelly Cluer 

VP Exploration & 

Director 

Carson City, NV 

Altan Rio Limited, a private mineral exploration 

company, Exploration Director, Director (2006 ï 

present); Altan Nevada Minerals Limited, a private 

mineral exploration company, Exploration Director, 

Director (2010 ï Present); Altan Rio Minerals 

Limited, a private mineral exploration company, 

Exploration Director, Director (2007 ï Present); 

Centerra Gold Inc., a public gold mining and 

exploration company, Exploration Manager Mongolia 

(2004-2006). 

Director of 

Altan Rio 

since 

November 

2007 

1,726,646 

3.79% 

Robert Scott 

CFO  

Vancouver, BC 

 

Corex Management Inc, a private administration 

services company, CFO (2007-Present); Riverside 

Resources Inc., a public mineral exploration company, 

CFO (2007-Present); Corsa Capital Corp, a public 

mineral exploration company, Director (April 2008-

May 2009); Pan American Hydro Corp, a private 

company in the renewable energy sector, Director 

(2008-present); North Point Capital Corp., a merchant 

and real estate bank, Director Merchant Banking 

(2004- 2007); VLM Ventures Ltd., a capital pool 

corporation, Chief Financial Officer, Corporate 

Secretary, and Director (2008 ï present). 

Director of 

AMN since 

December 

2010 

313,989
(4) 

0.69% 
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Name, state/province/ 

country of residence 

and position 

Principal occupation, business or employment and, 

if not a previously elected director, occupation, 

business or employment during the past five 

years
(1)

 
Director 

from 

Number of 

Common Shares 

Beneficially Held and 

Percentage of Common 

Shares 

Beneficially Held, 

Assuming 

Completion of the 

Proposed 

Qualifying Transaction, 

The Private Placement 

and the Consolidation
(1)

 

Murray Seitz
(2)

 

Director  

Vancouver, BC 

 

Corex Management Inc., a private administration 

services company, President (2006 - present); 

Riverside Resources Inc, a public mineral exploration 

company,  Director (2006 to 2010); Triesse Capital 

Corp., a private equity company, President (2007 - 

present); Pemberton Power Corp, a private company 

in the renewable energy sector, Director (2008- 

present); Northair Group, a management services 

company, Investor Relations (2005 to 2006); Trans 

America Industries, a public mineral exploration 

company, Corporate Secretary and administration 

(2004 to 2005); VLM Ventures Ltd., a capital pool 

corporation, Chief Executive Officer, President and 

Director (2008 ï present). 

Director of 

AMN since 

December 

2010 

328,116
(5) 

0.72% 

Paul OôBrien
(2)

 

Director 

Vancouver, BC 

Gryphon Partners, a mining focused M&A and 

corporate advisory firm (2010 to September 2011).  

Anthem Capital, President and Director (2008 to 

2010). Raymond James, gold analyst (2004 to 2008).    

Director of 

AMN since 

December 

2010 

 

30,000 

0.07% 

 
Notes: (1) The information as to principal occupation, business or employment and shares beneficially owned or controlled is not within the 

knowledge of the management of the Company and has been furnished by the respective nominees.   

 (2) Anticipated members of the Resulting Issuerôs audit committee. 

 (3) Mr. Evan Jones is a beneficiary of a trust that is the sole shareholder of 0809979 B.C. Ltd. that will hold Resulting Issuer Shares. 

 (4) Robert Scott owns 33,333 Altan Rio Shares which will become 13,986 Resulting Issuer Shares.  

 (5) Murray Seitz owns 67,000 Altan Rio Shares which will become 28,113 Resulting Issuer Shares . 

 

As a group, the proposed directors and officers of the Resulting Issuer will hold 18,064,495 Resulting Issuer 

Shares representing 39.7% of the issued and outstanding Resulting Issuer Shares at the time of Closing. 

 

The following sets out details respecting the management and directors of the Resulting Issuer after giving effect 

to the Proposed Qualifying Transaction. 

Evan Jones, Chief Executive Officer, President and Director 

Mr. E. Jones serves as the Chief Executive Officer, President and director of Altan Rio Minerals Limited and 

Altan Nevada Minerals Limited, both private mineral exploration companies.  Prior to that, he was the 

Commercial Manager of Troy Resources Brasil Participacoes Ltd., a subsidiary of Troy Resources NL, a public 

mining company listed in Canada and Australia.  He also worked as an Executive Advisor with Westchester 

Corporate Finance in Australia.  Mr. E. Jones has a Bachelor of Information Technology (Information Systems) 

and a Bachelor of Commerce (Finance & Management) from Bond University in Australia. 
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John L.C. Jones, Chairman & Director 

Mr. J.L.C. Jones serves as a Chairman and director of Altan Rio Minerals Limited and Altan Nevada Minerals 

Limited, both private mineral exploration companies.  He has been a director of Troy Resources NL since mid-

1988 and was its Chairman from late 1988 until October 2008. Since 1990, he has been Chairman of Anglo 

Australian Resources NL. He was formerly Chairman and director of North Kalgurli Mines Limited and was a 

founding director of Jones Mining NL.  Mr. J.L.C. Jones has been a member of the Australasian Institute of 

Mining and Metallurgy since 1977. 

Kelly Cluer, Exploration Director & Director 

Mr. Cluer serves as Exploration Director and Director of Altan Rio Limited and Altan Rio Minerals Limited, both 

private mineral exploration companies.  He was previously the Exploration Manager Mongolia for Centerra Gold 

Inc., a public gold mining and exploration company and a Senior Geologist with Cameco Corp. Mr. Cluer is a 

Certified Professional Geologist by the American Institute of Professional Geologists.  He obtained a Bachelor of 

Science (Geology) from Idaho State University and a Masters of Science (Geology) from the University of 

Arizona. 

Murray Seitz, Director 

Mr. Seitz graduated with a Bachelor of Business Administration with a concentration in finance. After spending 

five years in financial planning, he joined a mineral exploration management group where he spent five years 

providing corporate compliance and business development/corporate communications services. Mr. Seitz 

specializes in capital raising and corporate communications. Mr. Seitz is also President of Corex Management 

Inc., a private company that provides administration services to public and private companies. 

Paul OôBrien, Director 

Paul OôBrien is currently a partner with Gryphon Partners, a mining focused M&A and corporate advisory firm. 

Prior to joining Gryphon Partners, Paul led his own Limited Market Dealer (Anthem Capital), raising and 

structuring equity, flow-through and debt financings as well as providing corporate advisory services to several 

companies ranging from exploration to near term producers, primarily with a precious metals focus. Paulôs 

background also includes equity research as a Gold Analyst (RBC Capital Markets, Raymond James). Through 

the coverage of developing companies to senior gold producers, he provided targets/ratings, production and 

financial estimates, precious metals price forecasting and other industry specific valuation and insight to several 

pensions, funds and buy side firms. Paul began his mining career at CIBC World Markets as part of its Global 

Metals and Mining Investment Banking Group.  

Robert Scott, Chief Financial Officer 

Mr. Scott has over 14 years of professional experience in the areas of corporate finance, accounting and merchant 

and commercial banking. He is a C.A., a CFA Charterholder and earned a B.Sc. from the University of British 

Columbia. Mr. Scott currently serves as the Chief Financial Officer of Riverside Resources Inc., a TSXV listed 

mineral exploration company with early stage mineral projects in Mexico and the United States, and is the CFO of 

Corex Management Inc., a private company that provides administration services to public and private companies. 

 

Corporate Cease Trade Orders or Bankruptcies 

 

No proposed director, officer or promoter of the Resulting Issuer, or any shareholder anticipated to hold a 

sufficient number of securities of the Resulting Issuer to affect materially the control of the Resulting Issuer has, 

within the last ten years, been a director, officer or promoter of any reporting issuer that, while such person was 

acting in that capacity, was the subject of a cease trade or similar order or an order that denied the company access 

to any statutory exemption for a period of more than 30 consecutive days or was declared a bankrupt or made a 
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voluntary assignment in bankruptcy, made a proposal under any legislation relating to bankruptcy or insolvency 

or has been subject to or instituted any proceedings, arrangements or compromise with creditors or had a receiver, 

receiver-manager or trustee appointed to hold the assets of that person. 

 

Penalties or Sanctions 

 

No proposed director, officer or promoter of the Resulting Issuer, or any shareholder anticipated to hold a 

sufficient amount of securities of the Resulting Issuer to materially affect control of the Resulting Issuer, has, 

within the last 10 years, been subject to any penalties or sanctions imposed by a court relating to securities 

legislation or by a securities regulatory authority or has entered into a settlement agreement with a securities 

regulatory authority or has been subject to any other penalties or sanctions imposed by a court or regulatory body 

or self-regulatory authority that would be likely to be considered important to a reasonable investor making an 

investment decision. 

 

Personal Bankruptcies 

 

No proposed director, officer or promoter of the Resulting Issuer or a shareholder anticipated to hold a sufficient 

amount of securities of the Resulting Issuer to affect materially the control of the Resulting Issuer, or a personal 

holding company of any such persons, has become bankrupt, made a proposal under any legislation relating to 

bankruptcy or insolvency, or been subject to or instituted any proceedings, arrangements or compromise with 

creditors or had a receiver, receiver manager or trustee appointed to hold the assets of the individual. 

 

Conflicts of Interest 

 

There are potential conflicts of interest to which the proposed directors, officers, insiders and promoters of the 

Resulting Issuer will be subject in connection with the operations of the Resulting Issuer. Certain directors and 

officers of the Resulting Issuer may be or already are associated with other reporting issuers or other corporations 

which may give rise to conflicts of interest. Certain of the directors and officers have either other employment or 

other business or time restrictions placed on them and accordingly, these directors will only be able to devote part 

of their time to the affairs of the Resulting Issuer. Some of the directors, officers, insiders and promoters have 

been and will continue to be engaged in the identification and evaluation, with a view to potential acquisition, of 

interests in businesses and corporations on their own behalf and on behalf of other corporations. Conflicts, if any, 

will be subject to the procedures and remedies prescribed by the BCBCA, the Exchange and applicable securities 

law, regulations and policies. See ñPart III ï Information Concerning the Resulting Issuer ï Proposed Directors 

and Officers of the Resulting Issuerò. 
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Other Reporting Issuer Experience of the Proposed Directors and Officers 

 

The following table sets out the proposed directors and officers of the Resulting Issuer that are, or have been 

within the last five years, directors, officers or promoters of other issuers that are or were reporting issuers: 

 

Name of Director, 

Officer or 

Promoter 

Name of Reporting 

Issuer 

Name of 

Exchange or 

Market Position Term 

Murray Seitz, 

Director 

VLM Ventures Ltd. Exchange Director 04/08 - 

Present 

Riverside Resources 

Inc. 

Exchange Director 07/06 ï 12/10 

Barker Minerals Ltd. Exchange Director 05/06 ï 08/08 

 

Trans America 

Industries Ltd. 

Exchange Senior Officer 09/04 ï 10/05 

Robert Scott, CFO VLM Ventures Ltd. Exchange Chief Executive 

Officer, Chief 

Financial Officer, 

President, 

Secretary & 

Director 

04/08 - 

Present 

Riverside Resources 

Inc. 

Exchange Chief Financial 

Officer 

03/07 ï 

Present 

Corsa Capital Corp. Exchange Director 03/07 ï 05/09 

John Jones 

Chairman & 

Director 

Troy Resources NL TSX 

ASX 

Director 88 - Present 

Chairman 88 ï 10/08 

 

Executive Compensation 

 

Compensation Discussion and Analysis 

 

After Closing, each of Evan Jones (current director, President and Chief Executive Officer of Altan Rio, current 

director and Chief Executive Officer of Altan Rio Mongolia and a proposed director and proposed President and 

Chief Executive Officer of the Resulting Issuer), Kelly Cluer  (current director and Exploration Director of Altan 

Rio, current director and Exploration Director of Altan Rio Mongolia and a proposed director and proposed 

Exploration Director of the Resulting Issuer), and Robert Scott (a current director and Chief Executive Officer, 

Chief Financial Officer, Corporate Secretary and President of AMN and proposed Chief Financial Officer of the 

Resulting Issuer) will enter into management consulting agreements with the Resulting Issuer pursuant to which 

each of Messrs. Jones, Cluer and Scott will provide their respective services to the Resulting Issuer. The terms 

and conditions of all such management consulting agreements have not yet been determined and will be subject to 

the prior approval of the Resulting Issuerôs board of directors.  It is anticipated, however, that Evan Jones will 

receive cash compensation of approximately $6,750 per month and Robert Scott will receive cash compensation 

of approximately $3,000 a month for their respective services to the Resulting Issuer. 
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Option-Based Awards 

 

After Closing, the Resulting Issuer intends to grant stock options to directors, officers, employees and consultants 

of the Resulting Issuer pursuant to the AMN Stock Option Plan. The details of all such grants have not yet been 

determined and will be subject to the prior approval of the Resulting Issuerôs board of directors.  See ñPart III ï 

Information Concerning the Resulting Issuer ï Options to Purchase Securities and Previous Grantsò and ñPart I ï 

Information Concerning AMN ï Stock Option Plan of AMNò. 

 

Incentive Plan Awards 

 

The AMN Stock Option Plan will continue as the stock option plan for the Resulting Issuer on Completion of the 

Proposed Qualifying Transaction. See ñPart III ï Information Concerning the Resulting Issuer ï Options to 

Purchase Securitiesò and ñPart I ï Information Concerning AMN ï Stock Option Plan of AMNò. 

 

Pension Plan Benefits 

 

The Resulting Issuer does not intend to enact any deferred compensation plan or pension plan that provides for 

payments or benefits at, following or in connection with retirement. 

 

Termination and Change of Control Benefit 

 

The management consulting agreements that the Resulting Issuer intends to enter into with Evan Jones, Kelly 

Cluer and Robert Scott, as set forth in the foregoing, may contain termination or change of control benefits in 

favour of such Persons. 

 

Director Compensation 

 

Upon Closing, the Resulting Issuerôs board of directors may determine to pay cash compensation to directors for 

services rendered to the Resulting Issuer by such Persons in their capacity as directors. 

 

Share-Based Awards, Option-Based Awards and Non-Equity Incentive Plan Compensation 

 

The Resulting Issuer will determine any share-based awards, option based awards or the establishment of any 

non-equity incentive plans. 

 

Indebtedness of Directors and Officers 

 

No proposed director, executive officer or other senior officer of the Resulting Issuer, or any Associate of any 

such proposed director or officer is, or has been at any time since the incorporation of the Resulting Issuer, 

indebted to the Resulting Issuer nor is, or at any time since the incorporation of the Resulting Issuer has, any 

indebtedness of any such person been the subject of a guarantee, support agreement, letter of credit or other 

similar arrangement or understanding provided by the Resulting Issuer. 

 

Investor Relations Arrangements 

 

AMN and Altan Rio have not entered into any investor relations agreements as of the Effective Date. 
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Stock Option Plan of the Resulting Issuer 

 

The AMN Stock Option Plan will remain the stock option plan of the Resulting Issuer on Closing. See ñPart I ï 

Information Concerning AMN ï Stock Option Plan of AMNò, and ñPart III - Information Concerning the 

Resulting Issuer ï Options to Purchase Securitiesò. 

 

Options to Purchase Securities 

 

No stock options are currently outstanding under the AMN Stock Option Plan. Following Closing, the Resulting 

Issuer may grant stock options to directors, officers, employees and consultants of the Resulting Issuer, in the 

discretion of the board of directors, pursuant to the AMN Stock Option Plan. 

 

Escrowed Securities 

 

Two classes of escrow will apply to the following groups of Resulting Issuer Shares: (i) CPC Escrow Shares, and 

(ii) Surplus Escrow Shares. The CPC Escrow Shares are subject to an escrow agreement entered into in 

connection with AMNôs initial public offering, that remains in effect. The Surplus Escrow Shares are subject to 

escrow as a result of the completion of the Proposed Qualifying Transaction pursuant to Exchange Policy. 

 

Terms of Escrow for the CPC Escrow Shares 

 

CPC Escrow Shares are AMN Shares held in escrow pursuant to Section 11.1 of the CPC Policy, which, upon 

Closing, will become subject to the escrow applicable to a Tier 2 Issuer under the policies of the Exchange, and 

will be subject to release in accordance with the following timeline: 

 

Tier 2 Issuer % of Common Shares  

Released from Escrow Release Date 

10% Date of Final Exchange Bulletin 

15% 6 months from Final Exchange Bulletin 

15% 12 months from Final Exchange Bulletin 

15% 18 months from Final Exchange Bulletin 

15% 24 months from Final Exchange Bulletin 

15% 30 months from Final Exchange Bulletin 

15% 36 months from Final Exchange Bulletin 
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The following table sets out, as of the date hereof and to the knowledge of AMN and Altan Rio, the name and 

municipality of residence of the securityholders whose Resulting Issuer Shares will be CPC Escrow Shares. An 

aggregate of 1,150,001 AMN Shares are currently held in escrow with the Escrow Agent under the provisions of 

the AMN Escrow Agreement: 

 

Prior to Giving Effect to the Proposed Qualifying Transaction
(1)

 

After Giving Effect to the 

Proposed Qualifying Transaction, 

the Private Placement and the 

Consolidation
(2)

 

Name and 

Municipality of 

Residence of 

Shareholder 

Designation 

of Class 

Number of 

Securities held 

in Escrow 

Percentage of 

Class Subject 

to Escrow 

Number of 

Securities held 

in Escrow
(3) 

Percentage of 

Class Subject 

to Escrow 

Robert Scott
(4)

 

Vancouver, BC 
Common 500,001 17.86% 270,003

(3)
 0.59% 

Murray Seitz
(5)

 

Vancouver, BC 
Common 500,000 17.86% 270,002

(4)(5)
 0.59% 

Paul OôBrien 

Vancouver, BC 
Common 50,000 1.79% 27,000 0.06% 

Julie Catling
(6)

 

North Vancouver, 

BC 

Common 25,000 0.89% 13,500 0.03% 

Philip Francis
(6) 

Vancouver, BC 
Common 25,000 0.89% 13,500 0.03% 

Julie Prutton
(6) 

Vancouver, BC 
Common 25,000 0.89% 13,500 0.03% 

Andrew Statham
(6) 

North Vancouver, 

BC 

Common 25,000 0.89% 13,500 0.03% 

Totals   1,150,001  41.07% 621,005 1.36% 

 
Notes: (1) Based on 2,800,001 AMN Shares issued and outstanding prior to completion of the Proposed Qualifying Transaction. 

 (2) Based on 45,503,522 Resulting Issuer Shares issued and outstanding on completion of the Proposed Qualifying Transaction. 

 (3) Assumes first release has occurred as of the date of Final Exchange Bulletin. 

 (4)  Robert Scott owns 33,333 Altan Rio Shares which will become 13,986 Resulting Issuer Shares. See ñTerms of Escrow ï QT Escrow 

Agreementò. 
 (5) Murray Seitz owns 67,000 Altan Rio Shares which will become 28,113 Resulting Issuer Shares. See ñTerms of Escrow ï QT Escrow 

Agreementò. 

 (6) Member of the Agentôs Pro Group. 

 

Terms of Escrow ï Surplus Security Escrow Agreement 

 

All Resulting Issuer Shares being issued to directors and officers of the Resulting Issuer under the Definitive 

Agreement are Surplus Escrow Shares as such term is defined in Exchange Policy 5.4.  An aggregate of  
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13,075,864 Resulting Issuer Shares will be subject to the release schedule applicable under a Tier 2 Surplus 

Security Escrow Agreement in accordance with the following timeline: 

 

Tier 2 Issuer % of Common Shares  

Released from Escrow Release Date 

5% Date of Final Exchange Bulletin 

5% 6 months from Final Exchange Bulletin 

10% 12 months from Final Exchange Bulletin 

10% 18 months from Final Exchange Bulletin 

15% 24 months from Final Exchange Bulletin 

15% 30 months from Final Exchange Bulletin 

40% 36 months from Final Exchange Bulletin 

 

The following table sets out, as of the date hereof and to the knowledge of AMN and Altan Rio, the name and 

municipality of residence of the security holders of Altan Rio whose Resulting Issuer Shares will be held in 

escrow with the Escrow Agent under the provisions of the Surplus Security Escrow Agreement: 

 

Prior to Giving Effect to the Proposed Qualifying Transaction
(1)

 

After Giving Effect to the 

Proposed Qualifying Transaction, 

the Private Placement and the 

Consolidation
(2)

 

Name and 

Municipality of 

Residence of 

Shareholder 

Designation 

of Class 

Number of 

Securities held 

in Escrow 

Percentage of 

Class Subject 

to Escrow 

Number of 

Securities held 

in Escrow
(3) 

Percentage of 

Class Subject 

to Escrow 

Robert Scott
(4)

 

Vancouver, BC 
Common 0

(3)
 0% 13,286

(4)
 0.03% 

Murray Seitz
(5)

 

Vancouver, BC 
Common 0

(4)
 0% 26,707

(5)
 0.06% 

Evan Jones
(6) 

Singapore 
Common 0 0% 14,762,828 32.44% 

John L.C. Jones 

Perth, Australia 
Common 0 0% 119,629 0.26% 

Kelly Cluer 

Carson City, Nevada 
Common 0 0% 1,640,314 3.60% 

Totals  0 0% 16,562,764  36.40% 
   

Notes: (1) Based on 2,800,001 AMN Shares issued and outstanding prior to completion of the Qualifying Transaction. 

 (2) Based on 45,503,522 Resulting Issuer Shares issued and outstanding on completion of the Qualifying Transaction. 

 (3) Assumes first release has occurred as of the date of Final Exchange Bulletin. 

 (4)  Robert Scott owns 500,001 AMN Shares which will become 300,004 Resulting Issuer Shares. All of these shares are held under the CPC 

Escrow Agreement.  See ñTerms of Escrow for the CPC Escrow Sharesò. 

 (5) Murray Seitz owns 500,000 AMN Shares which will become 300,003 Resulting Issuer Shares. All of these shares are held under the CPC 

Escrow Agreement.  See ñTerms of Escrow for the CPC Escrow Sharesò. 

 (6)   Evan Jones is a beneficiary of a trust that is the sole shareholder of 0809979 B.C. Ltd. that will hold Resulting Issuer Shares. 
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Seed Share Resale Restrictions 

 

Pursuant to Exchange Policy 5.4 certain non-principal Altan Rio Shareholders on Closing will be subject to seed 

share resale restrictions (ñSSRRsò). SSRRs are Exchange hold periods of various lengths which apply where 

shares are issued to non-principals by private companies prior to the completion of a Qualifying Transaction. The 

terms of SSRRs are based on the length of time the shares have been held and the price at which such shares were 

originally issued. 

 

An aggregate of 27 Altan Rio Shareholders at the time of Closing, who are not directors, officers or employees of 

Altan Rio or the Resulting Issuer, and who collectively will hold 2,494,670 Resulting Issuer Shares, representing 

5.48% of the Resulting Issuer Shares on Closing, will have all of such Resulting Issuer Shares subject to a four (4) 

month hold period, whereby 20% will be released immediately upon Closing, and 20% will be released each 

month thereafter. All such 2,494,670 Resulting Issuer Shares will be issued with a restrictive legend, confirming 

the dates on which such securities will be released from the applicable SSRR hold periods. 

 

Auditors and Transfer Agent of the Resulting Issuer 

 

The auditors of the Resulting Issuer will be Davidson & Company LLP. The registrar and transfer agent of the 

Resulting Issuer will be Equity Financial Trust Company, the current registrar and transfer agent of AMN. 

 

Risk Factors 

Risks Related to Our Business 

 

Global Financial and Economic Conditions 

Current global financial and economic conditions, while improving, remain extremely volatile. Several major 

international financial institutions and other large, international enterprises have either filed for bankruptcy or are 

being actively rescued by governmental intervention. Access to public and private capital and financing continues 

to be negatively impacted by many factors as a result of the recent global financial crisis and global recession. 

Such factors may impact the Resulting Issuerôs ability to obtain financing in the future on favourable terms or 

obtain any financing at all. Additionally, global economic conditions may cause a long term decrease in asset 

values. If such global volatility, market turmoil and the global recession continue, the Resulting Issuerôs 

operations and financial condition could be adversely impacted. 

 

Exploration and Development Risks 

Resource exploration and mineral development is a highly speculative and extremely volatile business. The 

Resulting Issuerôs exploration and initial development activities involve significant risks that cannot be eliminated 

or adequately mitigated, even with careful and prudent planning and evaluation, experience, knowledge and 

operational know-how. In general, the discovery of ore bodies may result in substantial rewards. However, few 

properties which are explored are ultimately developed into producing mines. Substantial expenditures are 

required to (i) establish commercial operations, (ii) develop mining and processing facilities and suitable 

infrastructure at any site chosen for mining, (iii) complete drilling and develop metallurgical processes to extract 

minerals, and (iv) establish mineral reserves. The Resulting Issuer cannot ensure or provide any comfort that the 

exploration or development programs planned by the Resulting Issuer will result in a profitable commercial 

mining operation on the Chandman-Yol Project. 

 

The commercially viability of any mineral resources that may be identified on the Chandman-Yol Project depend 

upon on a number of factors, all of which are beyond the control of the Resulting Issuer, including: the particular 

attributes of a deposit, such as size, grade, metallurgy and proximity to infrastructure, market fluctuations in the 

price of metals (which are highly volatile), general and local labour market conditions, the proximity and capacity 
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of milling facilities, and local, provincial, federal and international government importing and exporting of 

minerals and environmental protection. The exact effect or applicability of these factors cannot be accurately 

predicted, as any one or any combination of any of the foregoing factors may result in the inability of the 

Resulting Issuer to achieve an adequate return on invested capital. The Resulting Issuer cannot provide any 

certainty that its planned expenditures will result in the successful operation of the Chandman-Yol Project. 

 

Estimates of reserves, mineral deposits and production costs can also be affected by such factors as environmental 

permitting, weather, environmental factors, unforeseen technical difficulties, unusual or unexpected geological 

formations and work interruptions. In addition, the grade of ore ultimately extracted may differ from the grade 

indicated by drilling results. Short term factors relating to reserves, such as the need for orderly development of 

ore bodies or the processing of new or different grades, may also have an adverse effect on mining operations and 

on results from operations. Any material changes in ore reserves, grades, stripping ratios or recovery rates may 

affect the economic viability of the Chandman-Yol Project, and as such, the viability of the Resulting Issuer may 

be negatively affected. 

 

Operational Risks 

Substantial risks are associated with mining and milling operations. The Resulting Issuerôs commercial 

operations, if any are ultimately developed, will be subject to all the usual hazards and risks normally encountered 

in the exploration, development and production of gold, including, among other things: unusual and unexpected 

geologic formations, inclement weather conditions, seismic activity, rock bursts, cave-ins, flooding and other 

conditions involved in the drilling and removal of material, any of which could result in damage to, or destruction 

of, mines and other producing facilities, catastrophic damage to property or loss of life, labour disruptions, 

equipment failure or failure of retaining dams around tailings disposal areas which may result in environmental 

pollution and legal liability. The Resulting Issuer will take appropriate precautions as are applicable to similar 

mining operations and in accordance with general industry standards to help mitigate such risks. However, no 

assurances can be provided by the Resulting Issuer that its precautions will actually succeed in mitigating, or even 

reducing the scope of potential exposure to, such operational risks. 

 

No Proven Mineral Reserves 

None of the Altan Rio Mongolia properties contain a known body of mineral reserves. Mineral reserves are, in 

large part, estimates and no assurances can be provided by the Resulting Issuer that anticipated tonnages and 

grades will be achieved or that the indicated level of recovery will be realized. Mineral reserve estimates for 

properties that have not yet commenced commercial production may require revision based on actual production 

experience. Market price fluctuations of metals, as well as increased production costs or reduced recovery rates 

may render ore reserves containing relatively lower grades of mineralization uneconomic and may ultimately 

result in a restatement of reserves. Moreover, short-term operating factors relating to the ore reserves, such as the 

need for orderly development of the ore bodies and the processing of new or different ore grades may cause a 

mining operation to be unprofitable in any particular accounting period. 

 

Reliance on Historical Data 

An extensive amount of historical data and records on the Chandman-Yol Project was available to the Resulting 

Issuer and was reviewed by Lyndhurst Enterprises Pty Ltd. and the author of the report, John L. Stockley, 

F.A.I.M.M., C.P. (Geo), in connection with the preparation of the Chandman-Yol Technical Report. However, the 

Resulting Issuer cannot provide any comfort that it can rely upon, verify or necessarily authenticate such 

historical information in connection with its exploitation of the Chandman-Yol Project. The Resulting Issuer 

cannot guarantee that the historical records that will be available to it are free from material errors or inaccuracies. 

 

Title to Properties with the Chandman-Yol Project  

Although Altan Rio has taken reasonable measures to ensure proper title to the properties within the Chandman-

Yol Project , there is no guarantee that title to the properties within the Chandman-Yol Project will not be 
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challenged or impugned. Third parties may have valid claims underlying portions or all of the Resulting Issuerôs 

interest. 

 

Significant Governmental Regulations 

 

The Resulting Issuerôs planned mining activities are subject to extensive federal, state, local and foreign laws and 

regulations governing environmental protection, natural resources, prospecting, development, production, post-

closure reclamation, taxes, labour standards and occupational health and safety laws and regulations including 

mine safety, toxic substances and other matters related to the mining business. The costs associated with 

compliance with such laws and regulations are substantial. Possible future laws and regulations, or more 

restrictive interpretations of current laws and regulations by governmental authorities could cause additional 

expense, capital expenditures, restrictions on or suspensions of the Resulting Issuerôs operations and delays in the 

development of the Chandman-Yol Project and the other Altan Rio Mongolia properties. Moreover, governmental 

authorities and private parties may bring lawsuits based upon damage to property and injury to persons resulting 

from the environmental, health and safety impacts of the Resulting Issuerôs future operations, which could lead to 

the imposition of substantial fines, penalties and other civil and criminal sanctions. Substantial costs and 

liabilities, including for restoring the environment after the closure of mines, will be inherent in the development 

of the Chandman-Yol Project. The Resulting Issuer cannot provide any assurances that any such law, regulation, 

enforcement or private claim will not have a material adverse effect on the Resulting Issuerôs business, financial 

condition or results of operations. 

 

The Resulting Issuerôs material property will be located in Mongolia and as such is subject to the jurisdiction of 

the laws of Mongolia. The Resulting Issuer believes the present attitude to foreign investment and to the mining 

industry is favourable but conditions may change. Operations may be affected in varying degrees by government 

regulation with respect to restrictions on production, price controls, export controls, foreign exchange controls, 

income taxes, expropriation of property, environmental legislation and mine safety. These uncertainties may make 

it more difficult for the Resulting Issuer to obtain required production financing for the Chandman-Yol Project or 

any other properties it controls or may acquire that go to production. 

  

In the context of environmental permits, including reclamation plans, the Resulting Issuer must comply with 

standards and regulations which entail significant costs and can entail significant delays. Such costs and delays 

could have an adverse impact on the Resulting Issuerôs operations. 

 

Obtaining and Renewing of Government Permits 

Under the laws of Mongolia, exploration licenses are granted for a certain period of time after which they must be 

renewed. Also, agreements must be reached with private landowners prior to the commencement of exploration 

activities. Although Altan Rio has never encountered any problems in renewing its licenses and obtaining access 

for exploration activities when required in the past, there is no assurance that the licenses and necessary surface 

rights agreements will be obtained in the future on reasonable terms or at all, which could adversely affect the 

business of the Resulting Issuer. 

 

In the ordinary course of business, the Resulting Issuer is required to obtain or renew governmental permits for 

the operation and expansion of existing mining operations or for the development, construction and 

commencement of new mining operations. Obtaining or renewing the necessary governmental permits is a 

complex and time-consuming process involving numerous agencies which can often involve public hearings and 

costly undertakings. The duration and success of the Resulting Issuerôs efforts to obtain or renew permits are 

contingent upon many variables not within the Resulting Issuerôs control, including the interpretation of 

applicable requirements implemented by the permitting authority. The Resulting Issuer may not be able to obtain 

or renew permits that are necessary to its operations, or the cost to obtain or renew permits may exceed what the 

Resulting Issuer believes it can recover from the Chandman-Yol Project once in production. Any unexpected 

delays or costs associated with the permitting process could delay the development or impede the operation of a 

mine, which could have a material adverse effect on the Resulting Issuerôs operations and profitability. 



93 

 

 

Conducting Business through a Foreign Subsidiary 

 

The Resulting Issuer will operate its business through Altan Rio Mongolia, an indirectly owned subsidiary. Any 

limitation on the transfer of cash or other assets between the Resulting Issuer and Altan Rio Mongolia may have 

an adverse impact on the Resulting Issuerôs valuation and the price of its shares. 

 

Political Risk 

 

The Resulting Issuerôs primary property will be located in Mongolia and will be subject to changes in political 

conditions and regulations in that country. Changes, if any, in mining or investment policies or shifts in political 

attitude in Mongolia could adversely affect the Resulting Issuerôs operations or profitability. Operations may be 

affected in varying degrees by government regulations with respect to, but not limited to, restrictions on 

production, price controls, export controls, currency remittance, income taxes, expropriation of property, foreign 

investment, maintenance of claims, environmental legislation, land use, land claims of local people, water use and 

mine safety. 

 

Mongolian regulators have broad authority to shut down and/or levy fines against facilities that do not comply 

with regulations or standards. The Resulting Issuerôs mineral exploration and mining activities in Mongolia may 

be adversely affected in varying degrees by changing government regulations relating to the mining industry or 

shifts in political conditions that increase the costs related to the Resulting Issuerôs activities or maintaining its 

licenses. 

 

Enforcement of Civil Liabilities 

 

Certain of the directors of the Resulting Issuer and certain of the experts named herein reside outside of Canada 

and, similarly, a majority of the assets of the Resulting Issuer will be located outside of Canada. It may not be 

possible for investors to effect service of process within Canada upon the directors and experts not residing in 

Canada. It may also not be possible to enforce against the Resulting Issuer and certain of its directors and experts 

named herein judgments obtained in Canadian courts predicated upon the civil liability provisions of applicable 

Canadian laws. 

 

Employee Recruitment 

Recruiting and retaining qualified personnel is critical to the success of the Resulting Issuer. The number of 

persons skilled in acquisition, exploration and development of mining properties is limited and competition for 

such persons is intense. As the Resulting Issuerôs business activity grows, the Resulting Issuer will require 

additional key executive, financial, operational, administrative and mining personnel. 

Although the Resulting Issuer believes that it will be successful in attracting, training and retaining qualified 

personnel, there can be no assurance of such success. If the Resulting Issuer is not successful in attracting and 

training qualified personnel, the efficiency of its operations could be affected, which could have a material 

adverse effect on the Resulting Issuerôs results of operations and profitability. 

 

Currency Risk 

Altan Rio Mongolia uses the US dollar as its functional currency. Fluctuations in the value of the US Dollar 

relative to the Canadian Dollar could have a material impact on the Resulting Issuerôs consolidated financial 

statements by creating gains or losses. No currency hedge polices are in place or are presently contemplated. 

 

Insurance and Uninsured Risks 

The Resulting Issuer may become subject to liability as Altan Rio Mongoliaôs business is subject to a number of 

risks and hazards generally, including adverse environmental conditions, industrial accidents, labour disputes, 

unusual or unexpected geological conditions, ground or slope failures, cave-ins, changes in the regulatory 
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environment and natural phenomena such as inclement weather conditions, floods and earthquakes. Such 

occurrences could result in damage to mineral properties or production facilities, personal injury or death, 

environmental damage to Altan Rio Mongoliaôs property or the properties of others, delays in development or 

mining, monetary losses and possible legal liability. 

 

Although, the Resulting Issuer plans to maintain insurance for protection against certain risks in amounts it 

considers reasonable, such insurance may not cover all the potential risks associated with Altan Rio Mongoliaôs 

operations. The Resulting Issuer may also be unable to maintain insurance to cover these risks at economically 

feasible premiums. Moreover, insurance against political risk and risks such as environmental pollution or other 

hazards as a result of exploration and production is not generally available to the Resulting Issuer or to other 

companies in the mining industry on acceptable terms. Losses from these events may cause the Resulting Issuer to 

incur significant costs that could have a material adverse effect upon its financial performance and results of 

operations. 

 

Negative Cash Flow and Absence of Profits 

 

The Resulting Issuer has not earned any profits to date and there is no assurance that it will earn any profits in the 

future, or that profitability, if achieved, will be sustained. The success of the Resulting Issuer will ultimately 

depend on its ability to generate revenues from operations. There is no assurance that future revenues will be 

sufficient to generate the required funds to continue the development of the Chandman-Yol Project. 

 

Management of Growth 

The Resulting Issuer may be subject to growth-related risks including pressure on its internal systems and 

controls. The Resulting Issuerôs ability to manage its growth effectively will require it to continue to implement 

and improve its operational and financial systems and to expand, train and manage its employee base. The 

inability of the Resulting Issuer to deal with this growth could have a material adverse impact on its business, 

operations and prospects. While management believes that it will have made the necessary investments in 

infrastructure to process anticipated volume increases in the short term, the Resulting Issuer may experience 

growth in the number of its employees and the scope of its operating and financial systems, resulting in increased 

responsibilities for the Resulting Issuerôs personnel, the hiring of additional personnel and, in general, higher 

levels of operating expenses. In order to manage its current operations and any future growth effectively, the 

Resulting Issuer will also need to continue to implement and improve its operational, financial and management 

information systems and to hire, train, motivate, manage and retain its employees. There can be no assurance that 

the Resulting Issuer will be able to manage such growth effectively, that its management, personnel or systems 

will be adequate to support the Resulting Issuerôs operations or that the Resulting Issuer will be able to achieve 

the increased levels of revenue commensurate with the increased levels of operating expenses associated with this 

growth. 

 

Key Personnel 

The Resulting Issuerôs business involves a certain degree of risk, which even a combination of experience, 

knowledge and careful evaluation may not be able to overcome. As such, the Resulting Issuerôs success is 

dependent on the services of its senior management. The loss of one or more of the Resulting Issuerôs key 

employees could have a material adverse effect on the Resulting Issuerôs operations and business prospects. In 

addition, the Resulting Issuerôs future success depends on its ability to attract and retain skilled technical, 

management, sales and marketing personnel. There can be no assurance that the Resulting Issuer will be 

successful in attracting and retaining such personnel and the failure to do so could have a material adverse effect 

on the Resulting Issuerôs business, its operating results as well its overall financial condition. 

 

Limited Operating History 

The Resulting Issuer has no history of operations, is in the early stage of development and, pursuant to the 
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CPC Policy, has conducted no active business and has received no revenues other than interest revenues. As such, 

the Resulting Issuer is subject to many risks common to such enterprises, including undercapitalization, cash 

shortages, limitations with respect to personnel, financial and other resources and the lack of revenues. There is 

no assurance that the Resulting Issuer will be successful in achieving a return on shareholdersô investment and the 

likelihood of success must be considered in light of its early stage of operations. The Resulting Issuer has no 

intention of paying any dividends in the near future. 

 

Conflicts of Interest 

 

There are potential conflicts of interest to which the proposed directors, officers, insiders and promoters of the 

Resulting Issuer will be subject in connection with the operations of the Resulting Issuer. Some of the directors, 

officers, insiders and promoters have been and will continue to be engaged in the identification and evaluation, 

with a view to potential acquisition, of interests in businesses on their own behalf and on behalf of other 

companies, and situations may arise where some or all of the directors, officers, insiders and promoters will be in 

direct competition with the Resulting Issuer. Conflicts, if any, will be subject to the procedures and remedies 

prescribed by the BCBCA, the Exchange and applicable securities laws, regulations and policies. 

 

Risks Related to Our Capital Structure and Market  

 

Risks Associated with Market Fluctuations 

The market price for gold is extremely volatile and is influenced by a number of factors, including, among others, 

political stability, general economic conditions, mine production and the intent of foreign governments who own 

significant above-ground reserves, central bank lending, sales and purchases of gold, producer hedging activities, 

expectations of inflation, the level of demand for gold as an investment, speculative trading, the relative exchange 

rate of the US dollar with other major currencies, interest rates, global and regional demand, political and 

economic conditions and uncertainties, industrial and jewellery demand, production costs in major gold producing 

regions and worldwide production levels. The aggregate of such factors (all of which are beyond the control of the 

Resulting Issuer) is impossible to predict with accuracy, and as such, the Resulting Issuer can provide no 

assurances that it can effectively manage such factors. In addition, the price of gold has on occasion been subject 

to very rapid short-term changes because of speculative activities. Fluctuations in gold prices may materially 

adversely affect the Resulting Issuerôs financial performance or results of operations. The world market price of 

gold has fluctuated widely during the last several years. Historically, based on the historical London Gold Spot 

price, prices for gold bullion ranged from a low of US$1,058.00 to a high of US$1,421.00 per ounce in 2010, a 

low of US$810.00 to a high of US$1,212.50 per ounce in 2009 and a low of US$712.50 to a high of US$1,011.25 

per ounce in 2008. If the market price of gold falls significantly from its current levels, the development of the 

Chandman-Yol Project may be rendered uneconomic and such development may be suspended or delayed. 

 

Price Volatility of Publicly Traded Securities 

 

In recent years, the securities markets in the United States and Canada have experienced a high level of price and 

volume volatility, and the market prices of securities of many junior companies have experienced wide 

fluctuations in price which have not necessarily been related to the operating performance, underlying asset values 

or prospects of such companies. There can be no assurance that continual fluctuations in price will not occur or 

increase in scope. 

It may be anticipated that any quoted market for the shares of the Resulting Issuer will be subject to market trends 

generally, notwithstanding any potential success of the Resulting Issuer in creating revenues, cash flows or 

earnings. 
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No Anticipated Dividends 

 

The Resulting Issuer does not expect to pay dividends on its issued and outstanding shares upon completion of the 

Proposed Qualifying Transaction or in the foreseeable future. If the Resulting Issuer generates any future 

earnings, such cash resources will be retained to finance further growth and current operations. The board of 

directors of the Resulting Issuer will determine if and when dividends should be declared and paid in the future 

based on the financial position of the Resulting Issuer and other factors relevant at the particular time. Until the 

Resulting Issuer pays dividends, which it may never do, a shareholder will not be able to receive a return on his or 

her investment in the Resulting Issuer Shares unless the shares are sold. In such event, a shareholder may only be 

able to sell his, her or its Resulting Issuer Shares at a price less than the price such shareholder originally paid for 

them, which could result in a significant loss of such shareholderôs investment. 

 

Significant Future Capital Requirements, Future Financing Risk and Dilution 

The Resulting Issuer will have no revenue from operations and no mineral reserves. The Resulting Issuer 

currently believes it will have sufficient funds to complete its proposed exploration programs. If the Resulting 

Issuer's exploration programs are successful, however, additional funds will be required in order to complete the 

development of its properties. The only sources of future funds presently available to the Resulting Issuer are the 

sale of additional equity capital, selling or leasing the Resulting Issuer's interest in a property or the entering into 

joint venture arrangements or other strategic alliances in which the funding sources could become entitled to an 

interest in the properties or the projects. The Resulting Issuer's capital resources are largely determined by the 

strength of the junior resource market and by the status of the Resulting Issuer's projects in relation to these 

markets, and its ability to compete for investor support of its projects. No assurances can be made that the 

Resulting Issuer will be able to complete any of these financing arrangements or that the Resulting Issuer will be 

able to obtain the capital that it requires. In addition, the Resulting Issuer cannot provide any assurances that any 

future financings will be obtained on terms that are commercially favourable to the Resulting Issuer. 

 

Any such sale of Resulting Issuer Shares or other securities will lead to further dilution of the equity ownership of 

existing shareholders. Additionally, options and warrants may adversely affect future equity offerings, and the 

exercise of those options and warrants may have an adverse effect on the value of the Resulting Issuer Shares. If 

any such options, warrants or conversion rights are exercised at a price below the then current market price, then 

the market price of the Resulting Issuer Shares could decrease, and shareholders may experience dilution of their 

investment. 

 

The issuance of Resulting Issuer Shares in the future may result in a reduction of the book value and market price 

of the then outstanding Resulting Issuer Shares depending on the market prices at the time of any such offering. If 

any such additional Resulting Issuer Shares are issued, such issuances will result in a reduction in the 

proportionate ownership and voting power of all current shareholders. Further, such issuance may result in a 

change of control of the Resulting Issuer. A prolonged decline in the price of the Resulting Issuer Shares could 

result in a reduction in the liquidity of the Resulting Issuer Shares and a reduction in the Resulting Issuerôs ability 

to raise capital. As a significant portion of the Resulting Issuerôs operations will be financed through the sale of 

equity securities, a decline in the price of the Resulting Issuer Shares could be especially detrimental to liquidity. 

The market price for the Resulting Issuer Shares may also be affected by the Resulting Issuerôs ability to meet or 

exceed expectations of analysts or investors. Any failure to meet these expectations, even if minor, may have a 

material adverse effect on the market price of the Resulting Issuer Shares. 

 

Market Perception 

Market perception of gold exploration companies such as the Resulting Issuer may shift such that these 

companies are viewed less favourably.  
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This factor could impact the value of investorsô holdings and the ability of the Resulting Issuer to raise further 

funds, which could have a material adverse effect on the Resulting Issuerôs business, financial condition and 

prospects. 
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PART IV ï GENERAL MATTERS 

 

SPONSORSHIP 

 

The Exchange has advised AMN that it qualifies for an exemption from the sponsorship requirements of the 

Exchange in connection with the Proposed Qualifying Transaction. 

 

INTERESTS OF EXPERTS 

 

Relationships with Professional Persons 

 

To the knowledge of management of AMN and Altan Rio, no professional person (as such a term is defined in the 

policies of the Exchange) and no Associate or Affiliate of such person, has any beneficial interest, direct or 

indirect, in any securities or property of AMN, Altan Rio or the Resulting Issuer or their respective Associates or 

Affiliates, and no professional person is expected to be elected, appointed or employed as a director, senior officer 

or employee of the Resulting Issuer or its Associates or Affiliates. 

 

Relationships of Experts 

 

John L. Stockley, on behalf of Lyndhurst Enterprises Pty Ltd, in Perth, Western Australia, authored the 

Chandman-Yol Technical Report.. Mr. Stockley does not have any direct or indirect interest in AMN or Altan 

Rio, nor will any such interest come into being upon Closing. Mr. Stockley is a ñqualified personò and 

ñindependent personò within the meaning of NI 43-101. 

 

OTHER MATERIAL FACTS 

 

AMN and Altan Rio are not aware of any material facts relating to AMN, Altan Rio or the Resulting Issuer or to 

the Proposed Qualifying Transaction that are not disclosed herein and the disclosure of which is necessary in 

order for this Filing Statement to contain full, true and plain disclosure of all material facts relating to AMN, 

Altan Rio and the Resulting Issuer, assuming completion of the Proposed Qualifying Transaction. 

 

BOARD APPROVAL 

 

This Filing Statement has been approved by the directors of each of AMN and Altan Rio. Where information 

contained in this Filing Statement rests particularly within the knowledge of a Person other than AMN and Altan 

Rio, each has relied upon information furnished by such Person. 
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CERTIFICATE OF AMN CAPITAL CORP. 

 

Dated: November 28, 2011 

 

The foregoing as it relates to AMN Capital Corp. constitutes full, true and plain disclosure of all material facts 

relating to the securities of AMN Capital Corp. assuming Completion of the Qualifying Transaction. 

 

AMN CAPITAL CORP. 

 

 

ò Robert Scottò 

Robert Scott 

Chief Executive Officer, Chief Financial Officer, Corporate Secretary, President and Director 

 

 

ON BEHALF OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS 

 

 

ñMurray Seitzò      ñPaul OôBrienò 

MURRAY SEITZ      PAUL OôBRIEN 

Director       Director 
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CERTIFICATE OF ALTAN RIO MINERALS LIMITED 

 

Dated: November 28, 2011 

 

The foregoing, as it relates to Altan Rio Minerals Limited, constitutes full, true and plain disclosure of all material 

facts relating to the securities of Altan Rio Minerals Limited 

 

ñEvan  Jonesò      ñKelly Cluerò 

Evan Jones, Chief Executive Officer   Kelly Cluer, Acting Chief Financial Officer 

 

 

ON BEHALF OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS  

OF ALTAN RIO MINERALS LIMITED 

 

ñEvan Jonesò       ñKelly Cluerò 

Evan Jones       Kelly Cluer 
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ACKNOWLEDGMENT ï PERSONAL INFORMATION 

 

Dated: November 28, 2011 

 

"Personal Information" means any information about an identifiable individual, and includes information 

contained in any items in the attached filing statement that are analogous to Items 4.2, 11, 12.1, 15, 17.2, 18.2, 23, 

24, 26, 31.3, 32, 33, 34, 35, 36, 37, 38, 40 and 41 of Exchange Form 3B2, as applicable. 

 

The undersigned hereby acknowledges and agrees that it has obtained the express written consent of each 

individual to: 

 

(a) the disclosure of Personal Information by the undersigned to the Exchange (as defined in Appendix 6B) 

pursuant to Exchange Form 3B2; and 

(b) the collection, use and disclosure of Personal Information by the Exchange for the purposes described in 

Appendix 6B or as otherwise identified by the Exchange, from time to time. 

 

AMN CAPITAL CORP. 

 

ñRobert Scottò 

ROBERT SCOTT 

Chief Executive Officer, Chief Financial Officer, Corporate Secretary, President and Director 
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CONSENT OF DAVIDSON & COMPANY LLP 

AMNôS AUDITORSô CONSENT 

 

 

 

CONSENT OF DAVIDSON & COMPANY LLP 

AUDITORSô CONSENT 
 

 

 

 
We have read the Filing Statement of AMN Capital Corp. (the ñCorporationò) dated November 28, 2011 relating to a 

Qualifying Transaction involving the acquisition by the Corporation of all of the issued and outstanding common shares of 

Altan Rio Minerals Limited with the resulting issuer continuing as ñAltan Rio Minerals Limitedò We have complied with 

Canadian generally accepted standards for an auditorôs involvement with filing documents. 

 

We consent to the use in the above mentioned Filing Statement of our auditorsô report to the directors of the Corporation on 

the Statement of Financial Position of the Corporation as at December 31, 2010 and the Statement of Operations and 

Comprehensive loss, Changes in Equity and Cash Flows for the period from incorporation on December 20, 2011 to 

December 31, 2011. Our report was May 9, 2011 (except as to Note 10 which was as of May 30, 2011). 

 

 

 

ñDAVIDSON & COMPANY LLPò 
 

 

Vancouver, Canada Chartered Accountants 

  

November 28, 2011  
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CONSENT OF DAVIDSON & COMPANY LLP 

ALTAN RIOôS AUDITORSô CONSENT 

 

 

 

 

We have read the Filing Statement of AMN Capital Corp. dated November 28, 2011 relating to a Qualifying Transaction 

involving the acquisition by AMN Capital Corp. of all of the issued and outstanding common shares of Altan Rio Minerals 

Limited (the ñCompanyò) with the resulting issuer continuing as ñAltan Rio Minerals Limitedò. We have complied with 

Canadian generally accepted standards for an auditor's involvement with offering documents. 

 

We consent to the use in the above-mentioned Filing Statement of our report to the Directors of the Company on the 

statement of financial position of the Company as at May 31, 2011 and the statement of changes in equity for the period then 

ended. Our report is dated November 28, 2011. 

 

 
 

ñDAVIDSON & COMPANY LLPò 
 

 

Vancouver, Canada Chartered Accountants 

  

November 28, 2011  
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APPENDIX A ï Audited and Unaudited Financial Statements of AMN Capital Corp. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

AMN CAPITAL CORP. 

 

 

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

 

 

JUNE 30, 2011 AND DECEMBER 31, 2010 

(UNAUDITED) 
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AMN CAPITAL CORP. 

STATEMENTS OF FINANCIAL POSITION AS AT 

 

  

June 30, 

2011 

 

December 31, 

2010 

   

   

ASSETS   

   

Current    

 Cash $ 329,508 $ -    

 Taxes receivable  7,322  -    

 Prepaid expense  500  -    

   

 $ 337,330 $ -    

   

   

   

LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY (DEFICIENCY)   

   

Current   

 Accounts payable and accrued liabilities (Note 4) $ 7,944 $ 389 

   

  7,944  389 

   

Shareholders' equity (deficiency)   

 Capital stock (Note 5)  336,004  -    

 Reserves  13,803  -    

 Deficit  (20,421)  (389) 

   

  329,386  (389) 

   

 $ 337,330 $ -    

 

Nature and continuance of operations (Note 1) 

Subsequent events (Note 8) 

 

On behalf of the Board:    

    

    

    

    

ñRob Scottò Director ñMurray Seitzò Director 

    

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements. 
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AMN CAPITAL CORP. 

STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS AND COMPREHENSIVE LOSS 

 

  

Six Months 

Ended  

June 30, 

2011 

 

Three Months 

Ended  

June 30, 

2011 

   

   

   

EXPENSES   

 Filing fees $ 1,218 $ (7,694) 

 General and administrative fees  3,752  2,313 

 Professional fees  11,762  874 

 Rent  3,300  1,650 

   

   

Loss and comprehensive loss for the period  (20,032)  2,857 

 

 

  

Deficit, beginning of period  (389)  (23,278) 

 

 

  

Deficit, end of period  (20,421)  (20,421) 

   

   

Basic and diluted loss per common share $              (0.14)    $               0.01    

   

   

Weighted average number of  

     common shares outstanding (Note 3) 

 145,000    266,667   

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.  
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AMN CAPITAL CORP. 

STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY (DEFICIENCY) 

 

  

Capital Stock 

   

  

 

 

Shares 

 

 

 

Amount 

 

 

 

Reserves 

 

 

  

Deficit 

Total 

Shareholdersô 

Equity 

(Deficiency) 

      

      

Balance, December 20, 2010 (incorporation)  1    $ -    $ -    $ -    $ -   

 

    Loss for the period  -     -     -     (389)  (389) 

      

Balance, December 31, 2010  1  -     -     (389)  (389) 

      

 Common shares issued at $0.10  1,050,000  105,000  -     -     105,000 

 Common shares issued at $0.20  1,750,000  350,000  -     -     350,000 

 Share issuance cost  -     (118,996)  13,803  -     (105,193) 

 Loss for the period  -     -     -     (20,032)  (20,032) 

 

Balance, June 30, 2011 

 

 2,800,001 

 

$ 336,004 

 

$ 13,803 

 

$ (20,421) 

 

$ 329,386 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.  
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AMN CAPITAL CORP. 

STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS 

 

  

 

 

Six Months 

Ended 

June 30, 

2011 

  

  

  

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES  

 Loss for the period $ (20,032) 

  

 Changes in non-cash working capital items:  

  Increase in taxes receivable  (7,322)    

  Increase in prepaid expenses  (500)    

  Increase in accounts payable and accrued liabilities  7,555 

  

 Net cash used in operating activities  (20,299)  

  

  

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES  

 Proceeds from the issuance of share capital  349,807 

 Deferred financing costs  -    

  

 Net cash provided by financing activities  349,807   

  

  

Increase in cash for the period  329,508    

  

  

Cash, beginning of period  -    

  

  

Cash, end of period $ 329,508   

  

  

Cash paid during the period for interest $ -    

  

  

Cash paid during the period for income taxes $ -    

 

There were no significant non-cash transactions during the six month period ended June 30, 2011. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.  



109 

 

AMN CAPITAL CORP. 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

JUNE 30, 2011 

   

 

1. NATURE AND CONTINUANCE OF OPERATIONS 
 

 AMN Capital Corp. (the "Company") has completed an Initial Public Offering (ñIPOò) and is classified as a Capital 

Pool Company as defined in the TSX Venture Exchange (ñTSX-Vò) Policy 2.4.  The Company will not carry on any 

business other than the identification and evaluation of assets or businesses with a view to completing a Qualifying 

Transaction.  The Company was incorporated as a private company by Certificate of Incorporation issued pursuant 

to the provisions of the British Columbia Business Corporations Act on December 20, 2010. 

 

The Companyôs head office address is 1110 ï 1111 West Georgia Street, Vancouver, British Columbia, Canada V6E 

4M3. The Companyôs registered and records office address is 700 ï 595 Howe Street, Vancouver, British Columbia, 

Canada V6C 2T5.  

  

The financial statements of the Company are presented in Canadian dollars, which is the functional currency of the 

Company. 

 

 These financial statements are authorized for issue by the Board of Directors on August 12, 2011. 

 

 These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards 

(ñIFRSò) with the assumption that the Company will be able to realize its assets and discharge its liabilities in the 

normal course of business rather than through a process of forced liquidation.  The financial statements do not 

include adjustments to amounts and classifications of assets and liabilities that might be necessary should the 

Company be unable to continue operations. 

 

 The Companyôs continuing operations are dependent upon its ability to identify, evaluate and negotiate an 

agreement to acquire an interest in a material asset or business with 24 months of listing on the TSX-V (Note 8).  

Any acquisition or investment proposed by the Company will be subject to regulatory approval. 

 

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION 

 

These consolidated interim financial statements, including comparatives, have been prepared in accordance with 

International Accounts Standards (ñIASò) 34, ñInterim Financial Reportingò using accounting policies consistent 

with International Financial Reporting Standards (ñIFRSò) as issued by the International Accounting Standards 

Board (ñIASBò) and Interpretations issued by the International Financial Reporting Interpretations Committee 

(ñIFRICò). 

 

 These financial statements have been prepared using accounting policies consistent with IFRS. The financial 

statements have been prepared on a historical cost basis, except for financial instruments classified as financial 

instruments at fair value through profit and loss, which are stated at their fair value. In addition, the financial 

statements have been prepared using the accrual basis of accounting. The preparation of these financial statements 

requires management to make certain estimates, judgments and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of 

assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements. Significant areas requiring the use of estimates, 

judgments and assumptions, include, but are not limited to, the inputs used in calculating the valuation of agentôs 

warrants and the valuation allowance applied to deferred tax assets. Actual results could differ from these estimates.  

 

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 

 

 Deferred financing costs 

 

 Costs directly identifiable with the raising of capital will be charged against the related capital stock.  Costs related 

to shares not yet issued are recorded as deferred financing costs.  These costs will be deferred until the issuance of 

the shares to which the costs relate, at which time the costs will be charged against the related capital stock or 

charged to operations if the shares are not issued. 
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AMN CAPITAL CORP. 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

JUNE 30, 2011  

   

 

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (contôdé) 

 

 Stock-based compensation 

 

 The Company uses the fair value method whereby the Company recognizes compensation costs for the granting of 

all stock options and direct awards of stock based on its fair value over the period of vesting.  Any consideration 

paid by the option holders to purchase shares is credited to capital stock. 

 

 Income taxes 

 

Income tax is recognized in profit or loss except to the extent that it relates to items recognized directly in equity, in 

which case it is recognized in equity. Current tax expense is the expected tax payable on the taxable income for the 

year, using tax rates enacted or substantively enacted at period end, adjusted for amendments to tax payable with 

regards to previous years. 

 

Deferred tax is recorded using the statement of financial position liability method, providing for temporary 

differences, between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and the amounts 

used for taxation purposes. The following temporary differences are not provided for: goodwill not deductible for 

tax purposes; the initial recognition of assets or liabilities that affect neither accounting or taxable loss; and 

differences relating to investments in subsidiaries to the extent that they will probably not reverse in the foreseeable 

future. The amount of deferred tax provided is based on the expected manner of realization or settlement of the 

carrying amount of assets and liabilities, using tax rates enacted or substantively enacted at the statement of financial 

position date. 

 

A deferred tax asset is recognized only to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profits will be available 

against which the asset can be utilized. To the extent that the Company does not consider it probable that a future tax 

asset will be recovered, it provides a valuation allowance against that excess. 

 

Additional income taxes that arise from the distribution of dividends are recognized at the same time as the liability 

to pay the related dividend. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable right to 

set off current tax assets against current tax liabilities and when they relate to income taxes levied by the same 

taxation authority and the Company intends to settle its current tax assets and liabilities on a net basis. 

 

 Loss per share 

 

 The Company presents basic loss per share for its common shares, calculated by dividing the loss attributable to 

common shareholders of the Company by the weighted average number of common shares outstanding during the 

period. Diluted loss per share does not adjust the loss attributable to common shareholders or the weighted average 

number of common shares outstanding when the effect is anti-dilutive.  

 

 1,150,001 shares outstanding as at June 30, 2011 have been excluded from the weighted average number of shares 

because they are contingently returnable. 

 

 Financial instruments 

 

 Financial assets 

 

The Company classifies its financial assets into one of the following categories, depending on the purpose for which 

the asset was acquired. The Company's accounting policy for each category is as follows: 



111 

 

AMN CAPITAL CORP. 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

JUNE 30, 2011 

   

 

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (contôdé) 

 

 Financial instruments (contôdé) 

 

 Financial assets (contôdé) 

 

Fair value through profit or loss - This category comprises derivatives, or assets acquired or incurred principally for 

the purpose of selling or repurchasing it in the near term. They are carried in the statement of financial position at 

fair value with changes in fair value recognized in the statement of operations. 

 

Loans and receivables - These assets are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that 

are not quoted in an active market. They are carried at cost less any provision for impairment. Individually 

significant receivables are considered for impairment when they are past due or when other objective evidence is 

received that a specific counterparty will default.  

 

Held-to-maturity investments - These assets are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments 

and fixed maturities that the Company's management has the positive intention and ability to hold to maturity. These 

assets are measured at amortized cost using the effective interest method. If there is objective evidence that the 

investment is impaired, determined by reference to external credit ratings and other relevant indicators, the financial 

asset is measured at the present value of estimated future cash flows. Any changes to the carrying amount of the 

investment, including impairment losses, are recognized in the statement of operations. 

 

Available-for-sale - Non-derivative financial assets not included in the above categories are classified as available-

for- sale. They are carried at fair value with changes in fair value recognized directly in equity. Where a decline in 

the fair value of an available-for-sale financial asset constitutes objective evidence of impairment, the amount of the 

loss is removed from equity and recognized in the statement of operations. 

 

All financial assets except for those at fair value through profit or loss are subject to review for impairment at least 

at each reporting date. Financial assets are impaired when there is any objective evidence that a financial asset or a 

group of financial assets is impaired. Different criteria to determine impairment are applied for each category of 

financial assets, which are described above. 

 

Financial liabilities 

 

The Company classifies its financial liabilities into one of two categories, depending on the purpose for which the 

liability was acquired. The Company's accounting policy for each category is as follows:  

 

Fair value through profit or loss - This category comprises derivatives, or liabilities acquired or incurred principally 

for the purpose of selling or repurchasing it in the near term. They are carried in the statement of financial position 

at fair value with changes in fair value recognized in the statement of operations.  

 

Other financial liabilities: This category includes promissory notes, amounts due to related parties and accounts 

payables and accrued liabilities, all of which are recognized at amortized cost. 

 

 The Company has classified its cash as fair value through profit and loss. The Companyôs taxes receivable are 

classified as loans and receivables. The Companyôs accounts payable and accrued liabilities are classified as other 

financial liabilities.  

 

IFRS 7 establishes a fair value hierarchy that prioritizes the input to valuation techniques used to measure fair value 

as follows: 

 

¶ Level 1 ï quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities; 
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AMN CAPITAL CORP. 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

JUNE 30, 2011  

   

 

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (contôdé) 

 

 Financial instruments (contôdé) 

 

¶ Level 2 ï inputs other than quoted prices included in Level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability,  

                either directly (i.e., as prices) or indirectly (i.e., derived from prices); and 

 

¶ Level 3 ï inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market date (unobservable 

                inputs). 

 

 The Companyôs cash is measured using level 1 inputs. 

 

 New accounting pronouncements 

 

Certain new accounting standards and interpretations have been published that are not mandatory for the June 30, 

2011 reporting period.  The following standards are assessed not to have any impact on the Companyôs financial 

statements: 

 

¶ IAS 24, Related Party Disclosure:  effective for accounting periods commencing on or after January 1, 

2011; and 

¶ IFRS 9, Financial Instruments:  effective for accounting periods commencing on or after January 1, 2013. 

 

4. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS & BALANCES 

 

During the period ended June 30, 2011, the Company paid general and administrative fees of $2,700 and rent of 

$3,300 to Corex Management Inc., a company controlled by Rob Scott, CEO and Murray Seitz, Director. 

 

Included in accounts payable and accrued liabilities is $nil (December 31, 2010 - $383) due to related parties 

consisting of the reimbursement of expenses that are unsecured, non-interest bearing with no stated terms of 

repayment. 

 

5. CAPITAL STOCK  
 

 Authorized: 

 

 Unlimited common shares with no par value 

 

 Issuances: 

 

During the period ended December 31, 2010 the Company issued 1 common share at $0.01.  During the quarter 

ended March 31, 2011 the Company issued 1,050,000 common shares at $0.10 per share and 250,000 common 

shares at $0.20 for total gross proceeds of $155,000.  The 1,150,001 common shares are held in escrow until 

completion of the Qualifying Transaction (Note 8). 

  

 Upon closing of the Companyôs IPO on June 23, 2011, the Company issued 1,500,000 common shares at $0.20 per 

share to Macquarie Private Wealth Inc. (the ñAgentò) and the Agent received a cash commission of $30,000 and a 

corporate finance fee of $15,000. On June 29, 2011 the Company started trading on the TSX-V under the symbol 

AMO.P. 
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AMN CAPITAL CORP. 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

JUNE 30, 2011  

   

 

5. CAPITAL STOCK (contôdé) 

 

 Agentsô warrants 

 

On June 23, 2011, the Agent received 150,000 agentôs warrants exercisable at $0.20 per share for a period of 24 

months pursuant to the agency agreement between the Company and the Agent. The fair value of the warrants was 

estimated using the Black-Scholes Pricing Model with the following assumptions: 

 
Estimated risk-free rate        1.45 % 

Estimated volatility      85.00 % 

Estimated annual dividend yield        0.00 % 

Expected life of warrants        2.00 years 

 
Stock options 

 

The Company has a stock option plan under which it is authorized to grant options to executive officers and 

directors, employees and consultants enabling them to acquire up to 10% of the issued and outstanding common 

stock of the Company. Under the plan, the exercise price of each option equals the market price of the Company's 

stock, less an applicable discount, as calculated on the date of grant. The options can be granted for a maximum term 

of 10 years and vest at the discretion of the board of directors.   

 

As at June 30, 2011 and December 31, 2010, there are no stock options outstanding. 

 

6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 

 

 

 Fair value  

 

 Cash is carried at fair value using a level 1 fair value measurement.  The recorded value of the taxes receivable and 

accounts payable and accrued liabilities approximate their fair values due to their demand nature and their short 

term to maturity. 

 

 Financial risk factors 

 

 The Companyôs risk exposures and the impact on the Companyôs financial statements are summarized below. 

 

 Credit risk 

 

 Financial instruments that potentially subject the Company to a significant concentration of credit risk consist 

primarily of cash.  The Company limits its exposure to credit loss by placing its cash with major financial 

institutions. Taxes receivable consists of input tax credits from the Government of Canada. As such, the Company 

believes credit risk with respect to taxes receivable is not significant. 

 

 Interest rate risk 

 

 The Company is exposed to interest rate risk to the extent that the cash maintained at the financial institutions is 

subject to floating rate of interest. The interest rate risks on cash and on the Companyôs obligations are not 

considered significant. 
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AMN CAPITAL CORP. 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

JUNE 30, 2011 

   

 

6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (contôdé) 

 

 Liquidity risk 

 

 All of the Companyôs financial liabilities are classified as current and are anticipated to mature within the next fiscal 

period. The Company intends to settle these with funds from its positive working capital position. 

 

Foreign currency risk 

 

As at June 30, 2011 and December 31, 2010, the Company did not have any accounts in foreign currencies and 

considers foreign currency risk insignificant. 

 

 Price risk 

 

 The Company has limited exposure to price risk with respect to commodity and equity prices. Equity price risk is 

defined as the potential adverse impact on the Companyôs earnings due to movements in individual equity prices or 

general movements in the level of the stock market. Commodity price risk is defined as the potential adverse impact 

on earnings and economic value due to commodity price movements and volatilities. 

 

7. CAPITAL MANAGEMENT 

 

 Capital is comprised of the Companyôs shareholdersô equity. As at June 30, 2011 and December 31, 2010, the 

Companyôs shareholdersô equity (deficiency) was $329,386 and ($389), respectively and there was no long term 

debt outstanding. The Company manages its capital structure to maximize its financial flexibility making 

adjustments to it in response to changes in economic conditions and the risk characteristics of the underlying assets 

and business opportunities. The Company does not presently utilize any quantitative measures to monitor its capital. 

 

8. SUBSEQUENT EVENTS 

 

On July 6, 2011, the Company entered into a binding letter of intent with Altan Rio Minerals Limited (ñAltan Rioò), 

where the Company will acquire 100% of the common shares of Altan Rio (the "Altan Rio Shares") in a reverse 

takeover transaction which will be effected by way of a three cornered amalgamation (the "Amalgamation") 

pursuant to which a newly formed wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company will amalgamate with Altan Rio, 

resulting in the amalgamated company becoming a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company. The Amalgamation 

will consist of the Companyôs Qualifying Transaction. 

 

 On July 8, 2011, the Companyôs shares were halted from trading. 
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS' REPORT 

 

 

 

To the Directors of 

AMN Capital Corp. 

 
 

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of AMN Capital Corp. (the ñCompanyò) which comprise the 

statements of financial position as at December 31, 2010 and the statements of operations and comprehensive loss, changes in 

equity and cash flows for the period from incorporation on December 20, 2010 to December 31, 2010, and notes, comprising 

a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory information. 

 

Managementôs Responsibility for the Financial Statements 

 

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in accordance with 

International Financial Reporting Standards, and for such internal control as management determines is necessary to enable 

the preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

 

Auditorôs Responsibility  

 

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit.  We conducted our audit in 

accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards.  Those standards require that we comply with ethical 

requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free 

from material misstatement. 

 

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial 

statements.  The procedures selected depend on the auditorôs judgment, including the assessment of the risks of material 

misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error.  In making those risk assessments, the auditor 

considers internal control relevant to the entityôs preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in order to 

design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the 

effectiveness of the entityôs internal control.  An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies 

used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of 

the financial statements. 

 

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained in our audits is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit 

opinion. 
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Opinion 
 

In our opinion, the financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, of the financial position of AMN Capital Corp. 

as at December 31, 2010 and the results of its operations and its cash flows for the period from the date of incorporation on 

December 20, 2010 to December 31, 2010 in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards. 

 

 

ñDAVIDSON & COMPANY LLPò 
 

Vancouver, Canada                    Chartered Accountants 

  

May 9, 2011 

(except as to Note 10 

  which is as of May 30, 2011) 
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AMN CAPITAL CORP. 

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AS AT 

 

  

March 31, 

2011 

(Unaudited) 

 

December 31, 

2010 

   

   

ASSETS   

   

Current    

 Cash $ 118,050 $ -    

 Taxes receivable  3,607  -    

  121,657  -    

   

Deferred financing costs (Note 4)  22,000  -    

   

 $ 143,657 $ -    

   

   

   

LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY (DEFICIENCY)   

   

Current   

 Accounts payable and accrued liabilities (Note 5) $ 11,935 $ 389 

   

  11,935  389 

   

Shareholders' equity (deficiency)   

 Capital stock (Note 6)  155,000  -    

 Deficit  (23,278)  (389) 

   

  131,722  (389) 

   

 $ 143,657 $ -    

 

Nature and continuance of operations (Note 1) 

Subsequent events (Note 10) 

 

On behalf of the Board:    

    

    

    

    

ñRobert Scottò Director ñMurray Seitzò Director 

    

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements. 
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AMN CAPITAL CORP. 

STATEMENT OF OPERATIONS AND COMPREHENSIVE LOSS 

 

 

Three Months 

Ended  

March 31, 

2011 

(Unaudited) 

 

Period From 

Incorporation 

on December 

20, 2010 to 

December 31, 

2010 

   

   

   

EXPENSES   

 Filing fees $ 8,912 $ -    

 General and administrative fees  1,438  389 

 Professional fees  10,889  -    

 Rent  1,650  -    

   

   

Loss for the period  (22,889)  (389) 

 

 

  

Deficit, beginning of period  (389)  -    

 

 

  

Deficit, end of period  (23,278)  (389) 

   

   

Basic and diluted loss per common share $              (1.04)    $ -    

   

   

Weighted average number of common shares outstanding (Note 3)  21,910    -    

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.  
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AMN CAPITAL CORP. 

STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY (DEFICIENCY) 

 

  

Capital Stock 

  

  

 

 

Shares 

 

 

 

Amount 

 

 

 

Deficit 

Total 

Shareholdersô 

Equity 

(Deficiency) 

     

     

Balance, December 20, 2010 (incorporation)  1    $ -    $ -    $ -   

 

     Loss for the period  -     -     (389)  (389) 

     

Balance, December 31, 2010  1  -     (389)  (389) 

     

 Common shares issued at $0.10  1,050,000  105,000  -     105,000 

 Common shares issued at $0.20  250,000  50,000  -     50,000 

 Loss for the period  -     -     (22,889)  (22,889) 

     

Balance, March 31, 2011 (unaudited)  1,300,001 $ 155,000 $ (23,278) $ 131,722 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.  
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AMN CAPITAL CORP. 

STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS 

 

  

 

Three Months 

Ended 

March 31, 

2011 

(Unaudited) 

 

Period From 

Incorporation 

on December 

20, 2010 to 

December 31, 

2010 

   

   

   

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES   

 Loss for the period $ (22,889) $ (389) 

   

 Changes in non-cash working capital items:   

  Increase in taxes receivable  (3,607)  -    

  Increase in accounts payable and accrued liabilities  11,546  389 

   

 Net cash used in operating activities  (14,950)  -    

   

   

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES   

 Proceeds from the issuance of share capital  155,000  -    

 Deferred financing costs  (22,000)  -    

   

 Net cash provided by financing activities  133,000  -    

   

   

Increase in cash for the period  118,050  -    

   

   

Cash, beginning of period  -     -    

   

   

Cash, end of period $ 118,050 $ -    

   

   

Cash paid during the period for interest $ -    $ -    

   

   

Cash paid during the period for income taxes $ -    $ -    

 

There were no significant non-cash transactions during the period ended March 31, 2011 (unaudited) and December 31, 

2010. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.  
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AMN CAPITAL CORP. 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

MARCH 31, 2011 (UNAUDITED) AND DECEMBER 31, 2010  

   

 

 

 

1. NATURE AND CONTINUANCE OF OPERATIONS 
 

 AMN Capital Corp. (the "Company") is in the process of completing an Initial Public Offering (ñIPOò) to be 

classified as a Capital Pool Company as defined in the TSX Venture Exchange (ñTSX-Vò) Policy 2.4.  The 

Company will not carry on any business other than the identification and evaluation of assets or businesses with a 

view to completing a Qualifying Transaction.  The Company was incorporated as a private company by Certificate 

of Incorporation issued pursuant to the provisions of the British Columbia Business Corporations Act on December 

20, 2010. 

 

The Companyôs head office and registered and records office address is 1110 ï 1111 West Georgia Street, 

Vancouver, British Columbia, Canada V6E 4M3.  

  

The statement of financial position of the Company is presented in Canadian dollars, which is the functional 

currency of the Company. 

 

 These financial statements are authorized for issue by the Board of Directors on May 30, 2011. 

 

 These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards 

(ñIFRSò) with the assumption that the Company will be able to realize its assets and discharge its liabilities in the 

normal course of business rather than through a process of forced liquidation.  The financial statements do not 

include adjustments to amounts and classifications of assets and liabilities that might be necessary should the 

Company be unable to continue operations. 

 

 The Companyôs continuing operations are dependent upon its ability to identify, evaluate and negotiate an 

agreement to acquire an interest in a material asset or business with 24 months of listing on the TSX-V (Note 10).  

Any acquisition or investment proposed by the Company will be subject to regulatory approval. 

 

 

 

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION 

 

These financial statements have been prepared using accounting policies consistent with IFRS. The financial 

statements have been prepared on a historical cost basis, except for financial instruments classified as financial 

instruments at fair value through profit and loss, which are stated at their fair value. In addition, the financial 

statements have been prepared using the accrual basis of accounting.  

 

The preparation of these financial statements requires management to make certain estimates, judgments and 

assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements. Actual 

results could differ from these estimates.  

 

 

 

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 

 

 Deferred financing costs 

 

 Costs directly identifiable with the raising of capital will be charged against the related capital stock.  Costs related 

to shares not yet issued are recorded as deferred financing costs.  These costs will be deferred until the issuance of 

the shares to which the costs relate, at which time the costs will be charged against the related capital stock or 

charged to operations if the shares are not issued. 
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AMN CAPITAL CORP. 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

MARCH 31, 2011 (UNAUDITED) AND DECEMBER 31, 2010  

   

 

 

 

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (contôdé) 

 

 Stock-based compensation 

 

 The Company uses the fair value method whereby the Company recognizes compensation costs for the granting of 

all stock options and direct awards of stock based on its fair value over the period of vesting.  Any consideration 

paid by the option holders to purchase shares is credited to capital stock. 

 

 Income taxes 

 

Income tax is recognized in profit or loss except to the extent that it relates to items recognized directly in equity, in 

which case it is recognized in equity. Current tax expense is the expected tax payable on the taxable income for the 

year, using tax rates enacted or substantively enacted at period end, adjusted for amendments to tax payable with 

regards to previous years. 

 

Deferred tax is recorded using the statement of financial position liability method, providing for temporary 

differences, between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and the amounts 

used for taxation purposes. The following temporary differences are not provided for: goodwill not deductible for 

tax purposes; the initial recognition of assets or liabilities that affect neither accounting or taxable loss; and 

differences relating to investments in subsidiaries to the extent that they will probably not reverse in the foreseeable 

future. The amount of deferred tax provided is based on the expected manner of realization or settlement of the 

carrying amount of assets and liabilities, using tax rates enacted or substantively enacted at the statement of financial 

position date. 

 

A deferred tax asset is recognized only to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profits will be available 

against which the asset can be utilized. To the extent that the Company does not consider it probable that a future tax 

asset will be recovered, it provides a valuation allowance against that excess. 

 

Additional income taxes that arise from the distribution of dividends are recognized at the same time as the liability 

to pay the related dividend. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable right to 

set off current tax assets against current tax liabilities and when they relate to income taxes levied by the same 

taxation authority and the Company intends to settle its current tax assets and liabilities on a net basis. 

 

 Loss per share 

 

 The Company presents basic loss per share for its common shares, calculated by dividing the loss attributable to 

common shareholders of the Company by the weighted average number of common shares outstanding during the 

period. Diluted loss per share does not adjust the loss attributable to common shareholders or the weighted average 

number of common shares outstanding when the effect is anti-dilutive.  

 

 1,150,001 shares outstanding as at March 31, 2011 (unaudited) have been excluded from the weighted average 

number of shares because they are contingently returnable. 

 

 Financial instruments 

 

 Financial assets 

 

The Company classifies its financial assets into one of the following categories, depending on the purpose for which 

the asset was acquired. The Company's accounting policy for each category is as follows: 
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AMN CAPITAL CORP. 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

MARCH 31, 2011 (UNAUDITED) AND DECEMBER 31, 2010  

   

 

 

 

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (contôdé) 

 

 Financial instruments (contôdé) 

 

 Financial assets (contôdé) 

 

Fair value through profit or loss - This category comprises derivatives, or assets acquired or incurred principally for 

the purpose of selling or repurchasing it in the near term. They are carried in the balance sheet at fair value with 

changes in fair value recognized in the statement of operations.  

 

Loans and receivables - These assets are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that 

are not quoted in an active market. They are carried at cost less any provision for impairment. Individually 

significant receivables are considered for impairment when they are past due or when other objective evidence is 

received that a specific counterparty will default.  

 

Held-to-maturity investments - These assets are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments 

and fixed maturities that the Company's management has the positive intention and ability to hold to maturity. These 

assets are measured at amortized cost using the effective interest method. If there is objective evidence that the 

investment is impaired, determined by reference to external credit ratings and other relevant indicators, the financial 

asset is measured at the present value of estimated future cash flows. Any changes to the carrying amount of the 

investment, including impairment losses, are recognized in the statement of operations. 

 

Available-for-sale - Non-derivative financial assets not included in the above categories are classified as available-

for- sale. They are carried at fair value with changes in fair value recognized directly in equity. Where a decline in 

the fair value of an available-for-sale financial asset constitutes objective evidence of impairment, the amount of the 

loss is removed from equity and recognized in the statement of operations. 

 

All financial assets except for those at fair value through profit or loss are subject to review for impairment at least 

at each reporting date. Financial assets are impaired when there is any objective evidence that a financial asset or a 

group of financial assets is impaired. Different criteria to determine impairment are applied for each category of 

financial assets, which are described above. 

 

Financial liabilities 

 

The Company classifies its financial liabilities into one of two categories, depending on the purpose for which the 

liability was acquired. The Company's accounting policy for each category is as follows:  

 

Fair value through profit or loss - This category comprises derivatives, or liabilities acquired or incurred principally 

for the purpose of selling or repurchasing it in the near term. They are carried in the statement of financial position 

at fair value with changes in fair value recognized in the statement of operations.  

 

Other financial liabilities: This category includes promissory notes, amounts due to related parties and accounts 

payables and accrued liabilities, all of which are recognized at amortized cost. 

 

 The Company has classified its cash as fair value through profit and loss. The Companyôs accounts payable and 

accrued liabilities are classified as other financial liabilities.  

 

IFRS 7 establishes a fair value hierarchy that prioritizes the input to valuation techniques used to measure fair value 

as follows: 

 

¶ Level 1 ï quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities; 
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AMN CAPITAL CORP. 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

MARCH 31, 2011 (UNAUDITED) AND DECEMBER 31, 2010  

   

 

 

 

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (contôdé) 

 

 Financial instruments (contôdé) 

 

¶ Level 2 ï inputs other than quoted prices included in Level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability,  

                either directly (i.e., as prices) or indirectly (i.e., derived from prices); and 

 

¶ Level 3 ï inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market date (unobservable 

                inputs). 

 

 The Companyôs cash is measured using level 1 inputs. 

 

 New accounting pronouncements 

 

Certain new accounting standards and interpretations have been published that are not mandatory for the March 31, 

2011 reporting period.  The following standards are assessed not to have any impact on the Companyôs financial 

statements: 

 

 

¶ IAS 24, Related Party Disclosure:  effective for accounting periods commencing on or after January 1, 

2011; and 

 

¶ IFRS 9, Financial Instruments:  effective for accounting periods commencing on or after January 1, 

2013. 

 

 

4. DEFERRED FINANCING COSTS 

 

 Deferred financing costs of $22,000 consist of legal and agency fees related to the prospectus financing (Note 10). 

 

 

5. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS & BALANCES 

 

During the period ended March 31, 2011, the Company paid general and administrative fees of $1,350 and rent of 

$1,650 to Corex Management Inc. a company controlled by Rob Scott, CEO and Murray Seitz, Director. 

 

Included in accounts payable and accrued liabilities is $383 due to related parties consisting of the reimbursement of 

expenses that are unsecured, non-interest bearing with no stated terms of repayment. 

 

 

6. CAPITAL STOCK  
 

 Authorized: 

 

 Unlimited common shares with no par value 

 

 Issuances: 

 

During the period ended December 31, 2010 the Company issued 1 common share at $0.01.  During the quarter 

ended March 31, 2011 the Company issued 1,050,000 common shares at $0.10 per share and 250,000 common 

shares at $0.20 for total gross proceeds of $155,000.  The 1,050,001 common shares are held in escrow until 

completion of the IPO (Note 10). 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

MARCH 31, 2011 (UNAUDITED) AND DECEMBER 31, 2010  

   

 

 

 

6. CAPITAL STOCK (contôdé) 

 

 Stock options 

 

The Company has a stock option plan under which it is authorized to grant options to executive officers and 

directors, employees and consultants enabling them to acquire up to 10% of the issued and outstanding common 

stock of the Company. Under the plan, the exercise price of each option equals the market price of the Company's 

stock, less an applicable discount, as calculated on the date of grant. The options can be granted for a maximum term 

of 10 years and vest at the discretion of the board of directors.   

 

As at March 31, 2011 (unaudited) and December 31, 2010, there are no stock options outstanding. 

 

 

7. INCOME TAXES 

 

 A reconciliation of income taxes at statutory rates with reported taxes is as follows: 

 

   

Period From 

Incorporation 

on December 

20, 2010 to 

December 31, 

2010 

   

Loss before income taxes  $ (389) 

   

Expected income tax recovery  $ (111) 

Unrecognized benefit of non-capital losses   111 

   

Net income tax recovery  $ -    

 
 The significant components of the Company's future income tax assets are as follows: 

 

   

December 31,  

2010 

   

Future income tax asset:   

 Non-capital loss carry forwards  $ 27 

   

Less:  valuation allowance   (27) 

   

Net future income tax assets  $ -    
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

MARCH 31, 2011 (UNAUDITED) AND DECEMBER 31, 2010  

   

 

 

 

7. INCOME TAXES (contôdé) 

 

 

The Company has non-capital losses carried forward for income tax purposes of approximately $100 which can be 

applied against future years' taxable income.  These losses will expire through to 2030.  Future tax benefits which 

may arise as a result of these non-capital losses have been offset by a valuation allowance and have not been 

recognized in these financial statements. 

 

 

8. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 

 

 

 Fair value  

 

 Cash is carried at fair value using a level 1 fair value measurement.  The recorded value of the accounts payable and 

accrued liabilities approximate their fair values due to their demand nature and their short term to maturity. 

 

 Financial risk factors 

 

 The Companyôs risk exposures and the impact on the Companyôs financial statements are summarized below. 

 

 Credit risk 

 

 Financial instruments that potentially subject the Company to a significant concentration of credit risk consist 

primarily of cash.  The Company limits its exposure to credit loss by placing its cash with major financial 

institutions.  

 

 Interest rate risk 

 

 The Company is exposed to interest rate risk to the extent that the cash maintained at the financial institutions is 

subject to floating rate of interest. The interest rate risks on cash and on the Companyôs obligations are not 

considered significant. 

 

 Liquidity risk 

 

 All of the Companyôs financial liabilities are classified as current and are anticipated to mature within the next fiscal 

period. The Company intends to settle these with funds from its positive working capital position. 

 

 Foreign currency risk 

 

The Company is exposed to foreign currency risk on fluctuations related to cash, and accounts payable and accrued 

liabilities that are denominated in a foreign currency.  As at March 31, 2011 (unaudited) and December 31, 2010, the 

Company did not have any accounts in foreign currencies and considers foreign currency risk insignificant. 

 

 Price risk 

 

 The Company has limited exposure to price risk with respect to commodity and equity prices. Equity price risk is 

defined as the potential adverse impact on the Companyôs earnings due to movements in individual equity prices or 

general movements in the level of the stock market. Commodity price risk is defined as the potential adverse impact 

on earnings and economic value due to commodity price movements and volatilities. 
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AMN CAPITAL CORP. 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

MARCH 31, 2011 (UNAUDITED) AND DECEMBER 31, 2010  

   

 

 

 

9. CAPITAL MANAGEMENT 

 

 Capital is comprised of the Companyôs shareholdersô equity. As at March 31, 2011 and December 31, 2010, the 

Companyôs shareholdersô equity (deficiency) was $131,722 (unaudited) and ($389), respectively and there was no 

long term debt outstanding. The Company manages its capital structure to maximize its financial flexibility making 

adjustments to it in response to changes in economic conditions and the risk characteristics of the underlying assets 

and business opportunities. The Company does not presently utilize any quantitative measures to monitor its capital. 

 

 

10. SUBSEQUENT EVENTS 

 

 The Company filed a prospectus, offering 1,500,000 common shares at a price of $0.20 per share (the ñOfferingò) 

by way of an IPO pursuant to Policy 2.4 ñCapital Pool Companiesò of the TSX-V.  A cash commission of 10% of 

the gross proceeds of the Offering will be paid to the Agent. The Agent will also be paid a corporate finance fee of 

$15,000 (plus HST) and will be reimbursed by the Company for its expenses and legal fees plus disbursements.  The 

Agents will also be granted agentsô options to purchase up to 150,000 common shares at a price of $0.20 per 

common share, exercisable for a period of 24 months from the date of listing of the common shares on the TSX-V.  

The gross proceeds from the sale of securities will be restricted whereby the Company cannot spend more than the 

lesser of 30% or $210,000 until the completion of a Qualifying Transaction for purposes other than to identify and 

evaluate assets or businesses and obtain shareholder approval for a proposed Qualifying Transaction if necessary. 
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APPENDIX B ï Management Discussion & Analysis of AMN Capital Corp. 

 

AMN CAPITAL CORP. 

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS 

FOR THE SIX MONTHS ENDED JUNE 30, 2011 

 

INTRODUCTION 

 

The managementôs discussion and analysis of financial condition and results of operations (ñMD&Aò) focuses upon the 

activities, results of operations, liquidity and capital resources of AMN Capital Corp. (the ñCompanyò) for the six months 

ended June 30, 2011. In order to better understand the MD&A it should be read in conjunction with the unaudited financial 

statements and related notes for the six months ended June 30, 2011 and the audited financial statements and related notes for 

the period from December 20 to December 31, 2010. The Companyôs financial statements are prepared in accordance with 

International Financial Reporting Standards (ñIFRSò) and filed with appropriate regulatory authorities in Canada. This 

MD&A is current to August 12, 2011 and in Canadian dollars unless otherwise stated.   

 

Additional information relating to the Company is available under the Companyôs profile on SEDAR at www.sedar.com. 

 

CORPORATE OVERVIEW 

 

The Company was incorporated under the Business Corporations Act (British Columbia) on December 20, 2010 and is 

classified as a Capital Pool Company as defined in the TSX Venture Exchange (ñTSX-Vò) Policy 2.4. The principal business 

of the Company is the identification and evaluation of assets or a business and once identified and evaluated, to negotiate an 

acquisition or participation in a business subject to receipt of shareholder approval and acceptance by regulatory authorities. 

 

The Company does not have active business operations or assets other than cash. On July 6, 2011, the Company entered into 

a binding letter of intent with Altan Rio Minerals Limited (ñAltan Rioò), where the Company will acquire 100% of the 

common shares of Altan Rio (the "Altan Rio Shares") in a reverse takeover transaction which will be effected by way of a 

three cornered amalgamation (the "Amalgamation") pursuant to which a newly formed wholly-owned subsidiary of the 

Company will amalgamate with Altan Rio, resulting in the amalgamated company becoming a wholly-owned subsidiary of 

the Company. The Amalgamation will consist of the Companyôs Qualifying Transaction. 

 

The Companyôs common shares were listed for trading on the TSX Venture Exchange on June 29, 2011 and trades under the 

symbol ñAMO.Pò. 

 

RESULTS OF OPERATION AND FINANCIAL CONDITION 

 

The Company incurred a net loss of $20,032 for the six months ended June 30, 2011 resulting in a loss per share of $0.14. 

The loss was attributed to transfer agent and filing fees of $1,218, professional fees of $11,762, office related expenses of 

$3,752, and rent of $3,300. 

 

Change in financial position 

 

As at June 30, 2011, the Company had total assets of $337,330, which consisted primarily of cash. 

 

Summary of Quarterly Results 

 

The following table provides selected quarterly financial information for the Companyôs current and previous interim 

periods. 

 

http://www.sedar.com/
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Quarter Ended Interest Income Net Loss

Net Loss per Share

(basic & fully diluted)

2011

June 30, 2011 -                              2,857                      0.01                                   

March 31, 2011 -                              (22,889)                   (1.04)                                  

2010

December 31, 2010 -                              (389)                        (0.01)                                  

 
During the period, the Company was seeking a public listing and incurred professional and other expenses in this regard.  

 

LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES 

 

As at June 30, 2011, the Companyôs working capital was $329,386 compared with a working capital deficiency of $389 as at 

December 31, 2010. 

 

On June 23, 2011, the Company successfully completed its initial public offering (ñIPOò) of 1,500,000 common shares at a 

price of $0.20 per common share for gross proceeds of $300,000. As part of the IPO and pursuant to an Agency Agreement 

between the Company and Macquarie Private Wealth Inc. (the ñAgentò), the Agent received a cash commission of $30,000 

and was paid a corporate finance fee of $15,000 and issued agentôs warrants to acquire 150,000 common shares at $0.20 per 

share for a period of 24 months from the date the common shares of the Company commenced trading on the TSX-V. 

 

CONTRACTUAL OBLIGATIONS 

 

The Company has no long-term debt outstanding or contractual obligations. 

 

OFF BALANCE SHEET ARANGEMENTS 

 

There are no off-balance sheet arrangements to which the Company is committed. 

 

TRANSACTIONS WITH RELATED PARTIES 

 

Related party transactions are in the normal course of operations and are recorded at their exchange amount, which is the 

amount of consideration established and agreed to by the parties. 

 

During the period ended June 30, 2011, the Company paid general and administrative fees of $2,700 and rent of $3,300 to 

Corex Management Inc., a company controlled by Rob Scott, CEO and Murray Seitz, Director. 

 

Included in accounts payable and accrued liabilities is $nil (December 31, 2010 - $383) due to related parties consisting of 

the reimbursement of expenses that are unsecured, non-interest bearing with no stated terms of repayment. 

 

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND ESTIMATES 

 

The Companyôs accounting policies are described in Note 3 to the financial statements for the year ended December 31, 

2010.  Management considers the following to be the most critical in understanding the judgments that are involved in 

preparing the Companyôs financial statements and the uncertainties that could impact its results of operations, financial 

condition and future cash flow. 

 

Financial instruments 

 

All financial instruments are classified into one of five categories: fair value through profit or loss, loans and receivables, 

held-to-maturity investments, available-for-sale financial assets or other financial liabilities.  All financial instruments and 

derivatives are measured in the statement of financial position at fair value except for loans and receivables, held-to maturity 

investments and other financial liabilities which are measured at amortized cost.  Subsequent measurement and changes in 

fair value will depend on their initial classification.  Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are measured at fair 

value and changes in fair value are recognized in the statement of operations. Available-for-sale financial instruments are 

measured at fair value with changes in fair value recognized directly in equity. Where a decline in the fair value of an 
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available-for-sale financial asset constitutes objective evidence of impairment, the amount of the loss is removed from equity 

and recognized in the statement of operations. 

 

The Company has classified its cash as fair value through profit and loss. The Companyôs taxes receivable are classified as 

loans and receivables. The Companyôs accounts payable and accrued liabilities are classified as other financial liabilities, 

which are measured at amortized cost. 

 

IFRS 7 establishes a fair value hierarchy that prioritizes the input to valuation techniques used to measure fair value as 

follows: 

 

¶ Level 1 ï quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities; 

¶ Level 2 ï inputs other than quoted prices included in Level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, either 

directly (i.e., as prices) or indirectly (i.e., derived from prices); and 

¶ Level 3 ï inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market date (unobservable inputs). 

 

The Companyôs cash is measured using level 1 inputs. 

 

New accounting pronouncements 

 

Certain new accounting standards and interpretations have been published that are not mandatory for the June 30, 2011 

reporting period.  The following standards are assessed not to have any impact on the Companyôs financial statements: 

 

¶ IAS 24, Related Party Disclosure:  effective for accounting periods commencing on or after January 1, 2011; 

and 

¶ IFRS 9, Financial Instruments:  effective for accounting periods commencing on or after January 1, 2013. 

 

CRITICAL RISK FACTORS 

 

The Company has no active business or assets other than cash. It does not have a history of earnings, nor has it paid any 

dividends and will not generate earnings or pay dividends until at least after the completion of a ñQualifying Transactionò as 

that term is defined under Exchange Policy 2.4. 

 

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 

 

Fair value  

 

Cash is carried at fair value using a level 1 fair value measurement.  The recorded value of the taxes receivable and accounts 

payable and accrued liabilities approximate their fair values due to their demand nature and their short term to maturity. 

 

Financial risk factors 

 

The Companyôs risk exposures and the impact on the Companyôs financial statements are summarized below. 

 

Credit risk 

 

Financial instruments that potentially subject the Company to a significant concentration of credit risk consist primarily of 

cash.  The Company limits its exposure to credit loss by placing its cash with major financial institutions. Taxes receivable 

consists of input tax credits from the Government of Canada. As such, the Company believes credit risk with respect to taxes 

receivable is not significant. 

 

Interest rate risk 

 

The Company is exposed to interest rate risk to the extent that the cash maintained at the financial institutions is subject to 

floating rate of interest. The interest rate risks on cash and on the Companyôs obligations are not considered significant. 
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Liquidity risk 

 

All of the Companyôs financial liabilities are classified as current and are anticipated to mature within the next fiscal period. 

The Company intends to settle these with funds from its positive working capital position. 

 

Foreign currency risk 

 

As at June 30, 2011 and December 31, 2010, the Company did not have any accounts in foreign currencies and considers 

foreign currency risk insignificant. 

 

Price risk 

 

The Company has limited exposure to price risk with respect to commodity and equity prices. Equity price risk is defined as 

the potential adverse impact on the Companyôs earnings due to movements in individual equity prices or general movements 

in the level of the stock market. Commodity price risk is defined as the potential adverse impact on earnings and economic 

value due to commodity price movements and volatilities. 

 

OUTSTANDING SHARE INFORMATION 

 

Share Capital 

 

The authorized share capital of the Company consists of an unlimited number of common shares without par value. As at the 

date of this MD&A, an aggregate of 2,800,001 common shares were issued and outstanding. Included in the issued share 

capital are 1,150,001 common shares of the Company which are subject to an escrow agreement and may not be transferred, 

assigned or otherwise dealt with without the consent of the regulatory body having jurisdiction thereon. 

 

Stock Options 

 

As at the date of this MD&A, there are no stock options outstanding. 

 

Agentôs Warrants 

 

As at the date of this MD&A, the following warrants are outstanding: 

 

Grant Date Expiry Date Number of Warrants Exercise Price 

 

June 23, 2011 

 

June 29, 2013 

 

150,000 

 

$0.20 
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APPENDIX C ï Audited Financial Statements of Altan Rio Minerals Limited 
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS' REPORT 

 

 

 

To the Directors of 

Altan Rio Minerals Limited 

 
 

We have audited the accompanying consolidated statement of financial position of Altan Rio Minerals Limited as at May 31, 

2011 and the consolidated statement of changes in equity for the period then ended,  and a summary of significant accounting 

policies and other explanatory information (together the ñfinancial statementsò). 

 

Managementôs Responsibility for the Consolidated Financial Statements 

 

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated financial statements in accordance 

with International Financial Reporting Standards, and for such internal control as management determines is necessary to 

enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or 

error. 

 

Auditorsô Responsibility  

 

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements based on our audit.  We conducted our 

audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards.  Those standards require that we comply with 

ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are 

free from material misstatement. 

 

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated 

financial statements.  The procedures selected depend on the auditorsô judgment, including the assessment of the risks of 

material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error.  In making those risk 

assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entityôs preparation and fair presentation of the 

consolidated financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the 

purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entityôs internal control.  An audit also includes evaluating the 

appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by management, as well as 

evaluating the overall presentation of the consolidated financial statements. 

 

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained in our audit is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit 

opinion. 
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Opinion 

 

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of Altan Rio 

Minerals Limited as at May 31, 2011 in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards. 

 

 

ñDAVIDSON & COMPANY LLPò 
 

Vancouver, Canada                    Chartered Accountants 

  

November 28, 2011  
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ALTAN RIO MINERALS LIMITED 

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AS AT  

(Expressed in US dollars) 

 

 
 

Nature of Operations (Note 1) 

Going-Concern (Note 2) 

Subsequent Events (Note 13) 

 

Approved and authorized by the Board on _____________, 2011  

    

ñEvan Jonesò Director ñKelly Cluerò Director 

Evan Jones  Kelly Cluer  

 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statement. 

 

May 31,

2011

ASSETS

Current

Cash 3,730,317$            

Short-term investments 67,166                  

Receivables 17,065                  

Prepaid expenses 426,929                

4,241,477              

Equipment (Note 6) 65,841                  

Exploration and evaluation assets (Note 7) 3,950,652              

TOTAL ASSETS 8,257,970$            

LIABILITIES & EQUITY

Current Liabilities:

Accounts payable & accrued liabilities 61,515$                

Due to related parties (Note 8) 3,132,053              

3,193,568              

Equity

Share capital (Note 9) 7,100,607              

Contributed reserves 17,576                  

Deficit (2,053,781)            

5,064,402              

TOTAL LIABILITIES & EQUITY 8,257,970$            
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ALTAN RIO MINERALS LIMITED 

STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY 

(Expressed in US dollars) 

 

 

 
 

 

 

 

 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statement. 

 

Share

Subscription

Received in

Shares Amount Advance Reserves Deficit Total

Balance as at: December 31, 2010 60,195,134         8,710,456$            2,895,847$                4,061$                  (2,712,882)$          8,897,482$            

Issued for:

Share capital 20,024,279         6,092,041             (2,895,847)                 -                      -                      3,196,194             

Agent's warrants -                    -                      -                           13,515                  -                      13,515                  

Share issuance costs -                    (205,855)               -                           -                      -                      (205,855)               

Deficit -                    -                      -                           -                      (255,818)               (255,818)               

Spin-out to Altan Nevada Minerals Limited (Note 5) (7,496,035)            -                           -                      914,919                (6,581,116)            

Balance as at: May 31, 2011 80,219,413         7,100,607$            -$                         17,576$                (2,053,781)$          5,064,402$            

Capital Stock
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ALTAN RIO MINERALS LIMITED 

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION 

MAY 31, 2011  

(Expressed in US dollars) 

    

 

 

1. Nature of Operations: 

 

Altan Rio Minerals Limited (the ñCompanyò) was incorporated under the laws of British Columbia, Canada on 

November 30, 2007 and is primarily engaged in the acquisition and exploration of mineral properties located in 

Mongolia and the United States. 

 

The head office and records office of the Company is located at 1110 ï 1111 West Georgia Street Vancouver, BC V6E 

4M3.  The Companyôs registered address is 1600 ï 925 West Georgia Street, Vancouver, BC, V6C 3L2. 

 

The Company also has a wholly-owned subsidiary, Altan Rio Holdings Limited, which was incorporated under the laws 

of the British Virgin Isles on February 18, 2008.  Altan Rio Holdings Limited has a wholly-owned subsidiary, Altan Rio 

Limited, which was incorporated under the law of the British Virgin Isles on December 5, 2006. Altan Rio Limited has a 

wholly-owned subsidiary, Altan Rio Mongolia LLC, which was incorporated under the laws of Mongolia on March 5, 

2007. 

The Company was originally incorporated as a subsidiary of Altan Rio Limited. Effective June 30, 2008 the Company 

reorganized its corporate structure such that Altan Rio Holdings Limited became the Companyôs wholly owned 

subsidiary, which owned Altan Rio Limited, which owns Altan Rio Mongolia LLC.  

 

2. Going-Concern: 

 

The consolidated statement of financial position has been prepared on a going-concern basis, which presumes the 

realization of assets and the discharge of liabilities in the normal course of business for the foreseeable future. 

 

While the consolidated statement of financial position has been prepared on a going concern basis which assumes the 

realization of assets and liquidation of liabilities in the normal course of business, there are conditions that cast 

significant doubt on the validity of this assumption.  

 

The Companyôs ability to continue operations is uncertain and is dependent upon the ability of the Company to obtain 

necessary financing to meet the Companyôs liabilities and commitments as they become payable, the successful 

acquisition of an interest in assets or a business and the ability to generate future profitable production or operations or 

sufficient proceeds from the disposition thereof.  The outcome of these matters cannot be predicted at this time. The 

Company believes it has raised sufficient funds to meet its obligations over the coming year. The consolidated statement 

of financial position does not include any adjustments to the amounts and classifications of assets and liabilities that 

might be necessary should the Company be unable to continue operations. 
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ALTAN RIO MINERALS LIMITED 

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION 

MAY 31, 2011  

(Expressed in US dollars) 

    

 

 

3. Basis of Preparation: 

 

The consolidated statement of financial position has been prepared using accounting policies consistent with 

International Financial Reporting Standards (ñIFRSò). The statement of financial position has been prepared on a 

historical cost basis, except for financial instruments classified as financial instruments at fair value through profit and 

loss, which are stated at their fair value. In addition, the statement of financial position has been prepared using the 

accrual basis of accounting.  

 

The preparation of the statement of financial position requires management to make certain estimates, judgments and 

assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities at the date of the statement of financial position. 

Actual results could differ from these estimates. 

 

Significant assumptions about the future and other sources of estimation uncertainty that management has made at the 

end of the reporting period, that could result in a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in 

the event that actual results differ from assumptions made, relate to, but are not limited to, the following: 

 

i. The carrying value and the recoverability of exploration and evaluation assets, which are included in the 

consolidated statement of financial position.  

 

ii. The allowance applied to deferred income taxes. 

 
iii. The assumptions used in determining the fair value of agentôs warrants. 

 

4. Significant Accounting Policies: 

 
The significant accounting policies adopted by the Company are as follows:  

 

(a) Principles of Consolidation 

 

These consolidated statement of financial position incorporate the statement of financial position of the Company 

and its controlled subsidiary.  Control exists when the Company has the power, directly or indirectly, to govern the 

financial and operating policies of an entity so as to obtain benefits from its activities.  The consolidated financial 

statement includes the accounts of the Company and its direct wholly-owned subsidiary: 

 

 

Name of Subsidiary 

 

Country of  

Incorporation 

Proportion of 

Ownership Interest 

 

Principal Activity 

    

Altan Rio Holding Limited British Virgin Islands 100% Holding company 

Altan Rio Limited British Virgin Islands 100% Holding company 

Altan Rio Mongolia LLC Mongolia 100% Mineral exploration 

    

 

All intercompany transactions and balances have been eliminated. 
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ALTAN RIO MINERALS LIMITED 

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION 

MAY 31, 2011  

(Expressed in US dollars) 

    

 

 

(b) Foreign Currency Translation 

  

The functional currency is the currency of the primary economic environment in which the entity operations and has 

been determined for each entity within the Company. The functional currency for all entities within the Company is 

the US dollar. The functional currency determinations were conducted through an analysis of the consideration 

factors identified in IAS 21, The Effects of Changes in Foreign Exchange Rates.  

 

Transactions in currencies other than the US dollar are recorded at exchange rates prevailing on the dates of the 

transactions. At the end of each reporting periods, the monetary assets and liabilities of the Company that are 

denominated in foreign currencies are translated at the rate of exchange at the balance sheet date while non-

monetary assets and liabilities are translated at historical rates.  Revenues and expenses are translated at the 

exchange rates approximating those in effect on the date of the transactions.  Exchange gains and losses arising on 

translation are included in the statement of operations. 

 

(c) Equipment 

 

Equipment is carried at cost less accumulated amortization. Amortization is calculated using the declining balance 

method at the following annual rates: 

 

Computer hardware    55% 

Computer software  100% 

Exploration equipment    20% 

Fixture & furniture    20% 

Vehicle      30%  

 

In the year of acquisition, amortization is recorded at one-half the normal rate.  

 

Equipment that is withdrawn from use, or have no reasonable prospect of being recovered through use or sale, are 

regularly identified and written off.  

 

The assets' residual values, amortization methods and useful lives are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at each 

reporting date.  

 

Assets measured at historical cost less accumulated amortization and impairment losses. Amortization is charged on 

the declining balance basis over the useful lives of these assets. Residual values and useful economic lives are 

reviewed at least annually, and adjusted if appropriate, at each reporting date.  

 

Subsequent expenditure relating to an item of equipment is capitalized when it is probable that future economic 

benefits from the use of the assets will be increased. All other subsequent expenditure is recognized as repairs and 

maintenance.  
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ALTAN RIO MINERALS LIMITED 

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION 

MAY 31, 2011  

(Expressed in US dollars) 

    

 

 

(d) Exploration and Evaluation assets 

 

Pre-exploration costs are expenses as incurred. 

 

Costs directly related to the exploration and evaluation assets are capitalized once the legal rights to explore the 

mineral properties are acquired or obtained.  When the technical and commercial viability of a mineral resource 

have been demonstrated and a development decision has been made, the capitalized costs of the related property are 

transferred to mining assets and depreciated using the units of production method on commencement of commercial 

production.  

 

If it is determined that capitalized acquisition, exploration and evaluation costs are not recoverable, or the property is 

abandoned or management has determined an impairment in value, the property is written down to its recoverable 

amount.  Exploration and evaluation assets are reviewed for impairment when facts and circumstances suggest that 

the carrying amount may exceed its recoverable amount. 

 

(e) Provision for environmental rehabilitation 

 

The Company recognizes liabilities for legal or constructive obligations associated with the retirement of 

exploration and evaluation assets and equipment. The net present value of future rehabilitation costs is capitalized to 

the related asset along with a corresponding increase in the rehabilitation provision in the period incurred. Discount 

rates using a pre-tax rate that reflect the time value of money are used to calculate the net present value.  

 

The Companyôs estimates of reclamation costs could change as a result of changes in regulatory requirements, 

discount rates and assumptions regarding the amount and timing of the future expenditures. These changes are 

recorded directly to the related assets with a corresponding entry to the rehabilitation provision.  

 

The increase in the provision due to the passage of time is recognized as interest expense. 

 

The Company does not have any significant asset retirement obligations. 

 

(f) Impairment  

 

At the end of each reporting period, the Companyôs assets are reviewed to determine whether there is any indication 

that those assets may be impaired. If such indication exists, the recoverable amount of the asset is estimated in order 

to determine the extent of the impairment, if any. The recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs to sell 

and value in use. Fair value is determined as the amount that would be obtained from the sale of the asset in an 

armôs length transaction between knowledgeable and willing parties. In assessing value in use, the estimated future 

cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments 

of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset. If the recoverable amount of an asset is estimated to be 

less than its carrying amount, the carrying amount of the asset is reduced to its recoverable amount and the 

impairment loss is recognized in the profit or loss for the period. For an asset that does not generate largely 

independent cash inflows, the recoverable amount is determined for the cash generating unit to which the asst 

belongs.  

 

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount of the asset (or cash-generating unit) is 

increased to the revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but to an amount that does not exceed the carrying 

amount that would have been determined had no impairment loss been recognized for the asset (or cash-generating 

unit) in prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss is recognized immediately in profit or loss.  
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ALTAN RIO MINERALS LIMITED 

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION 

MAY 31, 2011  

(Expressed in US dollars) 

    

 

 

(g) Income Taxes 

 

Deferred tax is recorded using the statement of financial position liability method, providing for temporary 

differences, between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and the amounts 

used for taxation purposes. The following temporary differences are not provided for: goodwill not deductible for 

tax purposes; the initial recognition of assets or liabilities that affect neither accounting or taxable loss; and 

differences relating to investments in subsidiaries to the extent that they will probably not reverse in the foreseeable 

future. The amount of deferred tax provided is based on the expected manner of realization or settlement of the 

carrying amount of assets and liabilities, using tax rates enacted or substantively enacted at the balance sheet date. 

 

A deferred tax asset is recognized only to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profits will be available 

against which the asset can be utilized. To the extent that the Company does not consider it probable that a future tax 

asset will be recovered, it provides a valuation allowance against that excess. 

 

Additional income taxes that arise from the distribution of dividends are recognized at the same time as the liability 

to pay the related dividend. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable right to 

set off current tax assets against current tax liabilities and when they relate to income taxes levied by the same 

taxation authority and the Company intends to settle its current tax assets and liabilities on a net basis. 

 

(h) Financial Instruments 

 

Financial assets 

 

The Company classifies its financial assets into one of the following categories, depending on the purpose for which 

the asset was acquired. The Company's accounting policy for each category is as follows: 

 

Fair value through profit or loss - This category comprises derivatives, or assets acquired or incurred principally for 

the purpose of selling or repurchasing it in the near term. They are carried in the statement of financial position at 

fair value with changes in fair value recognized in the statement of operations.  

 

Loans and receivables - These assets are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that 

are not quoted in an active market. They are carried at cost less any provision for impairment. Individually 

significant receivables are considered for impairment when they are past due or when other objective evidence is 

received that a specific counterparty will default.  

 

Held-to-maturity investments - These assets are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments 

and fixed maturities that the Company's management has the positive intention and ability to hold to maturity. These 

assets are measured at amortized cost using the effective interest method. If there is objective evidence that the 

investment is impaired, determined by reference to external credit ratings and other relevant indicators, the financial 

asset is measured at the present value of estimated future cash flows. Any changes to the carrying amount of the 

investment, including impairment losses, are recognized in the statement of operations. 

 

Available-for-sale - Non-derivative financial assets not included in the above categories are classified as available-

for- sale. They are carried at fair value with changes in fair value recognized directly in equity. Where a decline in 

the fair value of an available-for-sale financial asset constitutes objective evidence of impairment, the amount of the 

loss is removed from equity and recognized in the statement of operations. 
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ALTAN RIO MINERALS LIMITED 

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION 

MAY 31, 2011  

(Expressed in US dollars) 

    

 

 

All financial assets except for those at fair value through profit or loss are subject to review for impairment at least 

at each reporting date. Financial assets are impaired when there is any objective evidence that a financial asset or a 

group of financial assets is impaired. Different criteria to determine impairment are applied for each category of 

financial assets, which are described above. 

 

Financial liabilities 

 

The Company classifies its financial liabilities into one of two categories, depending on the purpose for which the 

asset was acquired. The Company's accounting policy for each category is as follows:  

 

Fair value through profit or loss - This category comprises derivatives, or liabilities acquired or incurred principally 

for the purpose of selling or repurchasing it in the near term. They are carried in the statement of financial position 

at fair value with changes in fair value recognized in the statement of operations. 

 

Other financial liabilities: This category includes amounts due to related parties and accounts payables and accrued 

liabilities, all of which are recognized at amortized cost. 

 

 The Company has classified its cash and short-term investments as fair value through profit and loss. The 

Companyôs receivables are classified as loans and receivables.  The Companyôs accounts payable and accrued 

liabilities and due to related parties are classified as other financial liabilities.  

 

 (l)  Stock-Based Compensation 

 

The fair value of stock options granted is determined using the Black-Scholes option pricing model and is recorded 

as stock-based compensation over the vesting period of the stock options.  Consideration paid for the shares upon 

the exercise of stock options is credited to capital stock. 

 

New standards yet adopted 

 

In November 2009, the IASB published IFRS 9, ñFinancial Instruments, ñwhich covers the classification and 

measurement of financial assets as part of its project to replace IAS 39, ñFinancial Instruments: Recognition and 

Measurement.ò  In October 2010, the requirements for classifying and measuring financial liabilities were added to 

IFRS 9.  Under this guidance, entities have the option to recognize financial liabilities at fair value through earnings.  

If this option is elected, entitles would be required to reverse the portion of the fair value change due to own credit 

risk out of earnings and recognize the change in other comprehensive income.  IFRS 9 is effective for the Company 

on January 1, 2013.  Early adoption is permitted and the standard is required to be applied retrospectively.  There 

will be no significant impact the Company upon implementation of the issued standard. 

 

 

5. SPIN OUT TRANSACTION 

 

On May 23, 2011, the Company announced a plan of arrangement which closed on May 31, 2011. Under the plan of 

arrangement, the Companyôs United States (ñU.Sò) related assets and operations were transferred to a new company, 

incorporated under the name of Altan Nevada Minerals Limited (ñANMLò). Under the terms of the plan of arrangement, 

the existing shareholders of the Company will receive a total of 40,109,687 common shares of ANML.  The Company 

will also transfer cash in the amount of $3,095,453, certain working capital and its subsidiary Altan Rio (US) Inc.   
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ALTAN RIO MINERALS LIMITED 

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION 

MAY 31, 2011  

(Expressed in US dollars) 

    

 

 

The aggregate value of the assets and liabilities transferred from the Company to ANML are as follows: 

 

 

Asset (liability) 

  

   

Cash 
(1)

  $ 3,095,453 

Prepaid expenses   5,827 

Equipment   16,539 

Exploration and evaluation assets   3,516,090 

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities   (45,783) 

Due to related parties   (7,010)  

   

  $ 6,581,116 

 
(1) Of the total cash transferred, $3,070,500 remains payable to ANML as at May 31, 2011.  

 

 

6. Equipment: 

 

 
 

  

Costs Computer Computer Exploration Fixtures & Vehicle Total

Hardware Software Equipment Furnitures

Balance as at: December 31, 2010 44,171$         1,484$           45,880$         15,673$         27,581$         134,789$       

Additions: 2,726             -                2,378             379               33,380           38,863           

Spin-out to ANML (Note 5) (7,042)           -                (33,373)          -                -                (40,415)          

Balance as at: May 31, 2011 39,855$         1,484$           14,885$         16,052$         60,961$         133,237$       

Accumulated Amortization Computer Computer Exploration Fixtures & Vehicle Total

Hardware Software Equipment Furnitures

Balance as at: December 31, 2010 (38,174)$        (1,332)$          (19,425)$        (7,116)$          (18,057)$        (84,104)$        

Amortization: (1,129)           (64)                (2,273)           (647)              (3,055)           (7,168)           

Spin-out to ANML (Note 5) 6,609             -                17,267           -                -                23,876           

Balance as at: May 31, 2011 (32,694)$        (1,396)$          (4,431)$          (7,763)$          (21,112)$        (67,396)$        

Carrying Amounts

As at: May 31, 2011 7,161$           88$               10,454$         8,289$           39,849$         65,841$         
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ALTAN RIO MINERALS LIMITED 

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION 

MAY 31, 2011  

(Expressed in US dollars) 

    

 

 

7. Exploration and Evaluation Assets: 

 

Title to mineral property interests involves certain inherent risks due to the difficulties of determining the validity of 

certain claims as well as the potential for problems arising from the frequently ambiguous conveyancing history 

characteristic of many mineral claims.  The Company has investigated title to all of its exploration and evaluation assets 

and, to the best of its knowledge, title to all of its interests are in good standing.  The exploration and evaluation assets in 

which the Company has committed to earn an interest are located in the Mongolia. 

 

The terms and commitments of the Company with respect to its exploration and evaluation assets are subject to change if 

and when the Company and its partners mutually agree to new terms and conditions. 

 

Mongolia Properties 

(a) Chandman, Nurag Uul, Bayan Bulag, Bor Khairkhan, Bayan Tsaagan projects, Mongolia 

On November 26, 2007, the Company entered into an option agreement with a private company to acquire 80% of 

its shares. As a result, the Company can earn an 80% interest in the Projects owned by the private companyôs wholly 

owned subsidiary. The option agreement has the following terms: 

i Payment of $50,000 in cash on signing (Paid). 

 

ii Incur $3,000,000 of cumulative exploration expenditure on the properties over a four year period as follows: 

- Minimum of $200,000 on or before the first anniversary of the agreement (Incurred); 

- Minimum of $1,000,000 (cumulative) on or before the second anniversary of the agreement (Incurred); 

- Minimum of $3,000,000 (cumulative) on or before the fourth anniversary of the agreement. 

 

iii Payment of $600,000 in cash over a four year period as follows: 

- $100,000* on or before the second anniversary of the agreement (Paid); and  

- An additional $500,000* on or before the fourth anniversary of the agreement. 

 

* In lieu of cash, the Optionor may elect to receive the Companyôs shares. If the Company is publicly traded at the 

time the payment is due and the Optionor chooses to be paid in shares then the price of the shares shall be the price 

at the date of listing. If the Company continues to be a private company and the Optionor elects to be paid in shares 

it may request to be granted options to acquire shares at the listing price.  

 

On completion of the Option, the Optionee has a one-time option to retain its 20% interest in the projects or convert 

its 20% interest into a 2.5% NSR. 

 

On July 31, 2008, the Company elected to drop Bayan Bulag property and all associated expenditures were written 

off to operation. On October 31, 2008, the Company elected to drop Bor Khairkhan property and all associated 

expenditures were written off to operation. On December 31, 2009, the Company elected to return Bayan Tsaagan 

and to the Optinor all associated expenditures were written off to operation. 
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(b) Onon, Mongolia 

On November 13, 2008, the Company entered into an agreement with a private company in order to acquire a 90% 

beneficial interest in the Onon gold project. The agreement was subsequently amended on May 19, 2009 and on 

October 20, 2010 and now includes the following terms: 

i Payment of $160,000 over a four year period as follows: 

- $10,000 on signing (Paid); 

- An additional $20,000 on or before May 25, 2009 (Paid); and 

- An additional $130,000 on or before May 25, 2011. 

 

ii Incur $900,000 in aggregate exploration expenditures over a four year period as follows: 

- Minimum of $200,000 on or before October 1, 2011; and 

- Minimum of $900,000 (cumulative) on or before October 1, 2012. 

 

(c) Yol, Mongolia 

 

Licenses were issued to Altan Rio Mongolia LLC on April 17, 2009 and April 24, 2009. 

 
(d) Khavchuu, Mongolia 

 

On April 4, 2011 an agreement was signed between Golbar Ventures Corp, Khavchuu Land Mongolia LLC, 

Munkhbayan Baraat LLC and Altan Rio Limited. 
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Exploration and evaluation assets 

 

 

For the period ended May 31, 2011 Marble

Montelle Radar Star Lake Venus North Star Black Top Station Chandman Nurag Uul Onon Yol Khavchuu Total

(Nevada) (Nevada) (Nevada) (Nevada) (Nevada) (Nevada) (Nevada) (Mongolia) (Mongolia) (Mongolia) (Mongolia) (Mongolia)

Acquisition costs 2,556$          9,127$          29,006$         4,728$          4,330$          79,279$         16,329$         15,345$         302$             70,861$         47,889$         50,026$         329,778$     

Exploration costs:

Assaying -               -               -               -               -               24,721          1,759            6,043            7,440            -               15,526          481               55,970         

Camp costs -               -               -               -               -               6,902            810               949               -               209               1,082            -               9,952           

Database Acquisition -               -               -               -               -               1,932            -               -               -               -               -               -               1,932           

Drilling -               -               -               -               -               -               -               (82,802)         -               -               -               -               (82,802)        

Depreciation -               -               -               -               -               -               -               422               323               586               2,214            -               3,545           

Field costs -               -               320               -               -               3,968            287               2,087            32                687               849               260               8,490           

Geological consulting 676               794               1,460            1,956            533               42,014          12,715          114,719         9,612            10,972          20,098          -               215,549       

Rental -               -               350               -               -               -               -               8,698            1,455            3,197            13,265          -               26,965         

Surveys & geophysics -               -               -               -               -               65,011          298               73                90                -               73                -               65,545         

Travel 184               514               730               91                262               10,706          2,548            43,561          1,268            6,375            20,454          984               87,677         

Total current exploration costs 860              1,308           2,860           2,047           795              155,254       18,417         93,750         20,220         22,026         73,561         1,725           392,823       

Professional fees:

Legal fees -               -               -               -               3,472            -               -               898               168               1,077            1,436            -               7,051           

Others 100               245               100               100               100               255               -               -               -               629               838               -               2,367           

Total current professional fees 100              245              100              100              3,572           255              -               898              168              1,706           2,274           -               9,418           

Total costs incurred during the period 3,516            10,680          31,966          6,875            8,697            234,788         34,746          109,993         20,690          94,593          123,724         51,751          732,019       

Balance, Opening as at Dec 31, 2010 118,208         506,715         2,085,696      336,166         138,037         -               -               2,438,952      393,776         245,585         471,588         -               6,734,723    

Spin-out to ANML (Note 5) (121,724)       (517,395)       (2,117,662)     (343,041)       (146,734)       (234,788)       (34,746)         -               -               -               -               -               (3,516,090)   

Balance, End of the period -$             -$             -$             -$             -$             -$             -$             2,548,945$  414,466$     340,178$     595,312$     51,751$       3,950,652$  

Cumulative costs:

Acquisition 49,522$         211,927$       1,082,984$    122,996$       83,502$         79,279$         16,329$         231,551$       119,276$       127,799$       141,735$       50,026$         2,316,926$  

Exploration 67,926          301,047         1,030,402      215,769         55,229          155,254         18,417          2,307,253      283,243         198,127         445,909         1,725            5,080,301    

Professional 4,276            4,421            4,276            4,276            8,003            255               -               10,141          11,947          14,252          7,668            -               69,515         

Spin-out to ANML (Note 5) (121,724)       (517,395)       (2,117,662)     (343,041)       (146,734)       (234,788)       (34,746)         -               -               -               -               -               (3,516,090)   

-$             -$             -$             -$             -$             -$             -$             2,548,945$  414,466$     340,178$     595,312$     51,751$       3,950,652$  
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8. Related party transactions: 

 

During the period ended May 31, 2011, the Company paid $107,219 in exploration and evaluation costs to 

officers and directors of the Company.  These transactions were incurred in the normal course of operations and 

were measured at the exchange amount, which is the amount of consideration established and agreed to by the 

parties. 

 

As at May 31, 2011, the following were payable to officers and directors and companies controlled by the 

directors of related parties on the statement of financial position. 

 

    

  2011  

    

Due to shareholders and related parties $ 36,418  

Due to Maciver Pty Ltd  25,135  

Due to Altan Nevada Minerals Limited  3,070,500  

 $ 3,132,053  

    

 

The amounts due to related parties are non-interest bearing, unsecured and have no fixed terms for payment. 

 

 

9. Share Capital: 

 

(a) Share capital authorized: 

 

Unlimited common shares without par value. 

 

During the period ended May 31, 2011, the Company completed a non-brokered private placement 

consisting of 20,024,279 units at a price of C$0.30 per unit for gross proceeds of $6,092,041 

(C$6,007,284).  Each unit consisted of one common share and one-half share purchase warrant. Each whole 

warrant entitles the holder to purchase one common share exercisable at a price of C$0.50 per share by 

January 8, 2012. 
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(b) Shares Purchase and Agents warrant: 

 

As at May 31, 2011 the following share purchase warrants were outstanding and exercisable:  

 

   

Number of 

Warrants 

 

Weighted Average  

Exercise Price 

 

     

 Outstanding warrants, as at December 31, 2010 10,997,106 $ 0.50 Cdn  

     

 Issued 10,312,279 $ 0.50 Cdn  

     

 Outstanding warrants, as at May 31, 2011 20,309,485 $ 0.50 Cdn  

     

 

As at May 31, 2011 the following share purchase warrants were outstanding and exercisable:  

 

 

Expiry Date 

 

Weighted Average  

Exercise Price 

 

Number of 

Warrants 

 

Weighted Average 

Remaining Life 

(Years) 

 

      

 January 8, 2012 $ 0.50 Cdn 20,309,485 0.61  

      

 

The fair value of the warrants, issued as part of findersô fee in the private placement, was established using 

the Black-Scholes Pricing Model with the following assumptions: 

 

 

 

 

May 31, 2011 

 

   

Estimated risk-free rate 1.64%  

Estimated volatility 81%  

Estimated annual dividend yield 0.00%  

Expected life of warrants 0.61 years 
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10. Capital Management: 

 

The Company manages its capital structure and makes adjustments to it, based on the funds available to the 

Company, in order to support the acquisition, exploration and development of exploration and evaluation assets.  In 

the management of capital, the Company includes components of equity.  The Board of Directors does not establish 

quantitative return on capital criteria for management, but rather relies on the expertise of the Companyôs 

management to sustain future development of the business. The properties in which the Company currently has an 

interest are in the exploration stage; as such the Company is dependent on external financing to fund activities. In 

order to carry out planned exploration and pay for administrative costs, the Company will spend its existing working 

capital and raise additional funds as needed. The Company will continue to assess new properties and seek to acquire 

an interest in additional properties if it feels there is sufficient geologic or economic potential and if it has adequate 

financial resources to do so. 

 

There were no changes in the Companyôs approach to capital management for the periods presented. The Company is 

not subject to externally imposed capital requirements. 

 

11. Financial Instruments: 

 

The fair value of the Companyôs receivables, accounts payable and accrued liabilities, and due to related parties 

approximate carrying value, which is the amount recorded on the consolidated statement of financial position. The 

Companyôs other financial instruments, cash, and short term investments under the fair value hierarchy are based on 

level one quoted prices in active markets for identical assets and liabilities. 

 

The Companyôs financial instruments are exposed to certain financial risks, including currency risk, credit risk, 

liquidity risk, interest rate risk and price risk. 

 

Credit risk 

Credit risk is the risk of loss associated with counterpartyôs inability to fulfill its payment obligations. The Company 

believes it has no significant credit risk. 

 

Liquidity risk 

The Companyôs approach to managing liquidity risk is to ensure that it will have sufficient liquidity to meet liabilities 

when due.  As at May 31, 2011, the Company had a cash balance of $3,730,317 and current liabilities of $3,193,568.  

The Company believes it has sufficient cash to meet its obligations as they become due. 

 

Market risk 

Market risk is the risk of loss that may arise from changes in market factors such as interest rates, foreign exchange 

rates, and commodity and equity prices. 

 

a) Interest rate risk 

The Company has cash balances and no interest-bearing debt. The interest earned on cash approximates fair 

value rates, and the Company is not at a significant risk to fluctuating interest rates. The Companyôs current 

policy is to invest excess cash in investment-grade short-term deposit certificates issued by its banking 

institutions. The Company periodically monitors the investments it makes and is satisfied with the credit ratings 

of its banks.  

 

b) Foreign currency risk 

The Company is exposed to foreign currency risk on fluctuations related to cash and accounts payable and 

accrued liabilities that are denominated in Canadian dollars. 

 

c) Price risk 

The Company believes it currently has no price risk.  
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Sensitivity Analysis 

The Company operates in Canada and is exposed to risk from changes in the Canadian dollar. A simultaneous 

10% fluctuation in the Canadian dollar against the Mongolian Tugrik would affect the Companyôs deficit for the 

period ended May 31, 2011 by approximately $380,145. 

 

12. Segment Information: 

 

The Company operates in one reportable operating segment, being the acquisition and exploration of mineral 

properties in the Mongolia.  Geographical information is as follows: 

 

  

 

Capital Assets: 

 

 

 

2011 

 

     

 Canada $ 4,475  

 Mongolia  4,012,018  

     

  $ 4,016,493  

     

 

 

13. Subsequent Events: 

 

On June 3, 2011, the amount due to Altan Nevada Minerals Limited of $3,070,500 was transferred to Altan 

Nevada Minerals Limited. 

 

On June 9, 2011, the Company issued $3,492,000 aggregate principal amount of unsecured convertible notes 

due February 9, 2012.  Each Note is convertible into units of the Company at the option of the Company.  Each 

Conversion Unit is comprised of one common share and one-half of one common share purchase warrant (each 

whole warrant, a ñConversion Warrantò).  Each Conversion Warrant will entitle the holder to acquire one 

common share of the Company at an exercise price of C$0.29 per common share for a period of 18 months 

from the date of issuance. 

 

On July 6, 2011, the Company exercised its option to convert the unsecured convertible notes, at a price of 

C$0.17.  This resulted in the Company issuing to the Note holders an aggregate of 19,407,637 Common Shares 

and 9,703,808 Conversion Warrants.  In addition, the Company issued 533,710 Conversion Warrants as part of 

the findersô fee.  The Conversion Warrants issued will expire on January 8, 2012. 

  

On August 31, 2011, the Company entered into a Definitive Agreement with AMN Capital Corp. (ñAMNò).  

Pursuant to the terms of the Definitive Agreement, AMN will acquire all of the issued and outstanding share 

capital of the Company by way of amalgamation, resulting in the Company becoming a wholly owned 

subsidiary of AMN, constituting a reverse takeover of AMN. 
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AMN Capital 

Corp. as at  

June 30,  

 2011 

 

Altan Rio 

Minerals Ltd.  

as at May 31, 

2011 

 

 

 

 

Note 

 

 

 

Pro-forma 

Adjustments 

 

 

 

Pro-forma 

Consolidated 

      

ASSETS      

      

Current assets      

 Cash $ 329,508 $ 3,730,317 2(b) $ 1,000,000 $  

   2(b)  (35,000)  

   2(b)   (20,000)  

   2(b)  (67,500)  

   2(d)  (100,000)  

   2(e)  (3,070,500)   

   2(g) (500,000)  

   2(f)  3,354,940  4,621,765 

 Short term investments  -     67,166    67,166 

 Receivables  7,322  17,065    24,387 

 Prepaid expenses  500  426,929     427,429 

      

  337,330  4,241,477               561,940             5,140,747 

 

Equipment 

  

 -     -    

 

 65,841 

   

 -    

  

 65,841 

Mineral properties  -     3,950,652 2(g)  $500,000     4,450,652 

      

 $ 337,330 $ 8,257,970  $ 1,061,940 $ 9,657,240 

      

LIABILITIES AND EQUITY      

      

Current liabilities      

 Accounts payable and accrued liabilities $ 7,944 $ 61,515 2(f) $ 40,000   $ 109,459 

 Due to related parties  -     3,132,053 2(e)  (3,070,500)  61,553 

      

      

  7,944  3,193,568   (3,030,500)  171,012 

      

Convertible Note  -     -    2(f)  3,492,000  

   2(f)  (3,492,000)  -    

      

Equity      

 Share capital   336,004  7,100,607 2(b)  1,000,000  

   2(b)  (153,858)  

   2(c)  329,386  

   2(c)  (336,004)  

   2(d)  (100,000)   

   2(f)  3,492,000   

   2(f)  (23,758)  11,644,377 

 Reserves  13,803  17,576  2(b)  31,358  

   2(c)  (13,803)   

   2(f)  23,758  72,692 

 Deficit  (20,421)           (2,053,781) 2(c)  20,421  

       2(f)  (177,060)  (2,230,841) 

      

 Total equity  329,386  5,064,402                 4,092,440                 9,486,228 

      

 $ 337,330 $ 8,257,970  $ 1,061,940 $ 9,657,240 

The accompanying notes are integral part of these consolidated pro-forma balance sheet. 
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1. BASIS OF PRESENTATION 

 

 The accompanying unaudited pro-forma consolidated balance sheet of AMN Capital Corp. ("AMN" or ñthe 

Companyò) has been prepared by management in accordance with International Financial Reporting 

Standards (ñIFRSò) from information derived from the financial statements of AMN and the financial 

statements of Altan Rio Minerals Ltd. (ñARMò), using the same accounting policies as described in AMNôs 

annual financial statements, together with other information available to the Company.  The unaudited pro-

forma consolidated balance sheet has been prepared for inclusion in a Filing Statement dated November 28, 

2011 in conjunction with the acquisition of 100% of the issued and outstanding capital stock of ARM (ñthe 

acquisitionò). As consideration for 100% of the outstanding common shares of ARM, AMN will issue 

41,803,506 common shares. The acquisition will constitute the Companyôs qualifying transaction. The 

acquisition is subject to acceptance by the Company's shareholders and certain securities regulatory 

approvals.  In the opinion of the Company's management, the pro-forma consolidated financial statements 

include all adjustments necessary for fair presentation of the transactions as described in Note 2. 

 

 The unaudited pro-forma consolidated financial statements of the Company have been compiled from and 

include: 

 

a) AMNôs unaudited financial statements as at June 30, 2011 and for the three months then ended. 

 

b) ARMôs audited statement of financial position as at May 31, 2011.  

 

c) the additional information set out in Note 2. 

 

The unaudited pro-forma consolidated financial statements has been prepared for illustrative purposes only 

and may not be indicative of the combined entitiesô financial position and results of operations that would 

have occurred if the acquisition had been in effect at the date indicated as set out in Note 2. 

 

2. PRO-FORMA TRANSACTIONS 

 

 The pro-forma consolidated financial statements were prepared based on the following assumptions: 

 

a) The unaudited pro-forma consolidated balance sheet gives effect to the acquisition of ARM by AMN 

as if it had occurred on June 30, 2011.   

 

b) Prior to the closing of the acquisition, AMN will complete a private placement of up to 2,000,000 units 

at a price of $ 0.50 per share for gross proceeds of up to $1,000,000. Each unit will consist of one 

common shares and one half of one share purchase warrant, each whole warrant exercisable at a price 

of $0.65 per share for a period of 2 years. AMN will pay a commission payable in either cash or 

common shares, (assumed to be paid in cash), up to $67,500, a corporate finance fee of $35,000, 

20,000 common shares, and brokersô expenses of up to $20,000, The brokers will also be granted up to 

135,000 broker warrants, valued at $31,358. The fair value of the brokersô warrants was estimated 

using the Black Scholes option pricing model with the following assumptions: 

 

  

  

Risk-free interest 1.53% 

Expected option life 2 years 

Expected stock price volatility 100% 

Expected dividend yield -    
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2. PRO-FORMA TRANSACTIONS (contôdé) 

 

 c) As consideration for 100% of the outstanding common shares of ARM, AMN will issue 41,803,506 

common shares to the shareholders of ARM. Certain of the common shares will be subject to an 

escrow agreement to be determined by the regulatory authorities.  

 

  As a result of the share exchange described above, the former shareholders of ARM will acquire 

control of AMN.  Accordingly, the acquisition constitutes a reverse takeover (ñRTOò) of AMN and is 

accounted for with the net assets of AMN recorded at fair value at the date of acquisition.   

 

  The cost of an acquisition should be based on the fair value of the consideration given, except where 

the fair value of the consideration given is not clearly evident.  In such a case, the fair value of the net 

assets acquired is used. 

 

As the shares issued on acquisition represent 94% of the Company's issued and outstanding capital 

stock and the Company's shares are thinly traded, it is impossible to estimate the actual market value of 

the 41,803,506 common shares.  Therefore, the value of the shares issued on acquisition is based on 

the fair value of the net assets acquired.  The fair value of the Companyôs net assets was $329,386.  

 

  The total purchase price of $172,260 has been allocated as follows: 

 

Cash $ 329,508  

Prepaid expenses  500  

Receivables  7,322  

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities  (7,944)  

   

 $ 329,386  

   

 

d) The Company is expected to incur approximately $100,000 in transaction costs relating to the 

acquisition of ARM by the Company.  

 

e) The Company paid $3,070,500 to Altan Nevada Minerals Ltd. upon completion of the transaction. 

 

f) The Company issued convertible notes for proceeds of $3,492,000. In connection with the issuance of 

the notes, the Company paid financing fees of $177,060 (of which $40,000 remains payable).  The 

convertible notes were converted into 19,407,637 common shares of the Company.  In connection with 

the issuance of the common shares, the Company issued finders warrants with an exercise price of 

$CDN 0.29, expiring January 6, 2013. The fair value of the findersô warrants was estimated at $23,758 

using the Black Scholes option pricing model with the following assumptions: 

 

  

 

  

Risk-free interest 1.54% 

Expected option life 1.51 years 

Expected stock price volatility 85% 

Expected dividend yield -    
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2. PRO-FORMA TRANSACTIONS (contôdé) 

 

g) The Company is expected to pay US$500,000 to a private company (the Optionor) who owns the 

interest to the Chandman property.  This is the final payment that will allow the Company to acquire 

80% interest in the private company. 

 

 

3. COMMON STOCK AND CONTRIBITED SURPLUS 

 

Capital stock as at June 30, 2011 in the unaudited pro-forma consolidated financial statements is comprised 

of the following: 

 

  

Number 

of Shares 

 

Capital 

Stock 

 

 

Reserves 

    

Authorized    

 Unlimited common shares without par value    

    

Issued    

 Capital stock of ARM as at May 31, 2011  80,219,413 $ 7,100,607 $ 17,576   

 Conversion of convertible notes (Note 2(f))  19,407,637  3,492,000    -    

 Capital stock of ARM  (99,627,050)  -     -    

 Capital stock of the Company as at June 30, 2011 (note 

3(a)) 

  

1,680,017 

  

336,004 

  

13,803 

 Private placement   2,000,000  1,000,000  

 Shares issued by the Company in the acquisition of ARM 

  (Note 2( c)) 

 

 41,803,506 

 

 329,386 

 

 -    

 Capital stock of the Company   -     (336,004)  (13,803)   

 Commission and corporate finance fee  20,000  -     -    

 Fair value of broker warrants (Note 2(b))  -     (31,358)  31,358 

 Fair value of findersô warrants (Note 2(f))  -     (23,758)  23,758 

 Share issuance costs (Note 2(b))  -     (222,500)  -    

    

  45,503,523 $ 11,644,377 $ 72,692 

 

a) The Company will consolidate its issued and authorized share capital on a 1.66665 old shares for 1 

new share basis. All references to share amounts reflect the share consolidation. 


